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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher 

investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should 

be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due 

and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities 

traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no 

assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make 

no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever 

arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually 

accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of 

the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The directors 

of the Company (the “Director(s)”), having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief 

the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and 

there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are currently mainly engaged in 

information home appliances (“IHA”), internet data centre (“IDC”), investing and leasing. The Company was incorporated in 

Bermuda as an exempted company on 6 October 1999 and was listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 31 January 2000.

The Group is a conglomerate which combines commercial enterprise with investments. In terms of commercial business, the 

Group places the broadband internet digital audio and video products as leading products and focuses on exploring markets 

for the two businesses of IHA and digital electronic consumable products, while accommodating comprehensive capabilities, 

including software and hardware development, marketing and customer service capabilities, etc.. On a global stage, the Group 

is an outstanding solutions provider and customized product manufacturer in the field of broadband digital audio and video 

technological products. With respect to IDC business, the establishment of a large IDC in the United States is an important step 

towards expanding the global IDC business of the Group and show the determination of the Group to vigorously develop its 

IDC business. Meanwhile, the Group also concentrates its efforts on providing renowned domestic and foreign enterprises with 

reliable data centre facilities services and evolve itself into an internationally recognised leading cloud computing enterprise 

in the era of big data. In terms of investment business, the Group follows the principle of value investment, and persists with 

the characteristics of sound investment and team work to achieve stable increase in asset value on the basis of retaining value 

through methods such as financial innovation.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of directors (the “Board”) of Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together 

with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021”).

Business operations and financial performance of the Group for the year continued to be affected by the prolonged outbreak of 

novel coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19”). The COVID-19 pandemic has been globally raging for more than two years resulting 

in a world economic recession from Alpha to Omicron coronavirus variant. Due to the variant of the virus and the resurgence of 

the pandemic, the uncertainties in the future are still not fully identified and driving direct impact to the Group’s IHA, IDC and 

investing businesses.

Other than the impact influence from the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’s IHA business performance has been influenced by 

the unstable global supply of microchips leading to a decline in its distributed orders. In response to the tightened supply, the 

Group has implemented stringent inventory and cost management to conserve working capital to navigate through adversity. 

We have strived to product development for maintaining the market position and sustainability of the Group to combat the 

market transformation from the change of the entertainment forms speeding up by the technology innovation. Through 

leveraging the technological know-how and accumulated research and development capabilities over the years, the business has 

achieved a phased result in developing the new product through the utilization of the ideas of Web3.0 and metaverse. Through 

the launch of new products to provide customized solutions to smart home living and office solutions, the initiatives will enable 

the business to become more resilient and achieve sustainable business growth.

The Group’s IDC business has experienced challenges and difficulties to move forward due to the spread of the COVID-19 

pandemic leading to progress delay and extra cost incurred from construction work of the IDC located in San Jose, the United 

States (the “US IDC”). Meanwhile, the disposal of Shanghai IDC has been completed as scheduled but the deadline to meet the 

fulfilment of the reconstruction registration also has been delayed to the year 2022 due to the COVID-19 situation in the PRC. 

Apart from these two IDCs, the lease of IDC facilities and equipment in Shatin remains steady performance. Looking forward 

to the year 2022, the US IDC has been authorised to use and occupancy after receiving the Certificate of Occupancy from the 

City of San Jose authority in February 2022. Following the completion of construction work in respect of phase I, we have 

commenced the preparation work on phase II construction of the US IDC, which is expected to be commenced in the second 

quarter of the year 2022 and completed in the third quarter of the same year. In the future year, we will strive to explore new 

customers for conserving stable working capital for the business.

The Group’s investing activities have made a strategic move from shifting its emphasis from the stock market to the market 

of digital assets. In light of the global economic uncertainties to the stock market conditions, the Group has disposed of 

a significant portion of the listed securities as to its investment portfolio. Following the disposals, the Group stepped into 

the digital assets market through the investment of hash-rate capacity and mining of digital currencies by utilizing the sales 

proceeds and investment gain from the investment of securities market. The business currently maintains a stable return 

from its hash-rate capacity investment and the mining of digital currencies are expected to be commenced in the year 2022. 

Considering potential regulatory and political risks, the Group will closely and frequently implement risk assessment on mining 

of digital currencies.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

Technology continues to redefine the digital economy. The IT infrastructure requirements companies across nearly every industry 

as businesses embark on initiatives to re-position their strategies through digital transformation. However, one theme has 

remained constant: the demand for data centre, representing the core infrastructure underly the digital economy and continue 

to grow significantly. With the introduction of new technology advancements including 5G, the internet of things (IoT) and 

artificial intelligence (AI), the outlook of incremental data centre demand is robust. The pace of digital transformation will only 

accelerate the development of the IDC business in the future.

The idea of the metaverse is rapidly growing both in economic and cultural awareness accelerated by the emerging technologies 

in the Non-Fungible Tokens (NFTs) and social tokens. The prospect of metaverse will go beyond virtual reality (VR) or augmented 

reality (AR). Such technology can be the ultimate equalizer for people to integrate their physical and digital existence in an 

authentic hybrid experience. The strategic move of IHA business to virtualization and the digital assets investment will benefit 

from the prospect of the entire ecosystem and the virtual world platforms.

I believed that the world’s health crisis to the macroeconomy will come behind us after the vaccination programme is albeit 

globally. Guided by our vision towards sustainable development and corresponding business improvement plan with our aspiring 

to transform for long-term healthy development, the Group is poised to return to profitability.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers 

and business partners for their continued support for the development of the Group. I would also like to express my deepest 

gratitude to all Yuxing colleagues for their unremitting efforts in the past as well as their unwavering commitment to work in 

overcoming the difficulties the Group faces. Our Group will begin with the end in mind to continue in creating long-term value 

for our stakeholders.

Li Qiang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Revenue 171,682 307,378

Profitability

(Loss)/Profit from operations (165,398) 30,359

(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of the Company (172,495) 21,914

Net worth

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,096,274 2,173,679

HK$ HK$

Per share

(Loss)/Earnings per share – Basic (0.07) 0.01

Net assets attributable to owners of the Company per share 0.84 1.05

REVENUE
HK$ million

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY PER SHARE
HK$

602.9

171.7

400.8
325.3 307.4

2020201920182017 2021

1.05

1.34

1.10
1.02

0.84

2020201920182017 2021
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GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TOTAL ASSETS
HK$ million

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO  
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
HK$ million

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 171,682 307,378 325,312 400,843 602,872

(Loss)/Profit before tax (169,010) 27,230 54,627 (404,095) 93,740

Income tax (expenses)/credit (4,051) (5,808) (13,941) 6,199 452

(Loss)/Profit for the year (173,061) 21,422 40,686 (397,896) 94,192

Non-controlling interests 566 492 798 – –

(Loss)/Profit attributable 

 to owners of the Company (172,495) 21,914 41,484 (397,896) 94,192

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 2,505,444 2,494,242 2,520,072 2,464,004 3,781,765

Total liabilities (415,227) (321,878) (414,267) (476,072) (1,366,186)

Non-controlling interests 6,057 1,315 823 – –

Total equity attributable to 

 owners of the Company 2,096,274 2,173,679 2,106,628 1,987,932 2,415,579

3,781.8

2,464.0 2,520.1 2,494.2 2,505.4

2020201920182017 2021

2,415.6
1,987.9 2,106.6 2,173.7 2,096.3

2020201920182017 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of IHA, IDC, investing and leasing.

IHA Business

The IHA business is principally engaged in sales and distribution of IHA and complementary products. Products launched by 

the Group in the markets include high digital set-top boxes (“STB”), hybrid dual-mode STB, over-the-top (“OTT”)/Internet 

Protocol Television (“IPTV”) STB, STB equipment with Android systems, etc. The Group has extensive experience in designing 

and manufacturing networked audio and video products, from hardware to software, from operating systems to business 

integration, covering a wide range of vertical applications.

Due to the impact from the tightened supply of microchips as the raw materials of the distributed products of the business, 

the revenue of the business decreased from approximately HK$271.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020”) 

to approximately HK$140.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021”), representing a decrease of 48.3% 

compared with last fiscal year. The segment loss increased by 246.8% in line with the significant drop in the revenue.

During the year under review, the Group has taken various measures to reduce the impact from tightened microchip supply 

through sourcing new supplies of and stringent inventory management on the raw materials to avoid further potential risk from 

the increase of raw materials as a result of the unstable global supply. In response to the fast-growing demand for smart-living 

ideas, the Group has also strategically commenced its research and development to expand this product catalogue through 

leveraging years of experience in designing and manufacturing electronic consumer goods. The technological innovation is 

aimed to provide different customized scenario-based comprehensive smart-living and office solutions to customers with the 

virtual experience through utilization of metaverse identity concept, synergies of 3D virtual reality technology and artificial 

intelligence voice assistants. The launch of a new product is expected to grasp a different class of customers and expand its 

market share in the industry.

IDC Business

The IDC business is comprised of the development, construction, operation, mergers acquisition and leasing out of properties 

and facilities used in IDC.

The revenue from the IDC business decreased by 12.6% from approximately HK$36.0 million for FY2020 to approximately 

HK$31.4 million for FY2021. The decline of the revenue was caused by the cease of rental income recorded from the Shanghai 

IDC following the completion of the disposal. The segment recorded a profit of approximately HK$11.4 million (FY2020: 

approximately HK$14.0 million), representing a decrease of 18.8% compared with the last fiscal year. Due to the delay in 

obtaining the relevant certificates for the construction project of the land and property held by Shanghai Indeed Technology 

Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Indeed”) and the obtaining the renewed real property certificate from the relevant land authority in the 

PRC (the “Reconstruction Registration”), the weighted distribution of the possible outcomes (i.e. the likelihood of receiving the 

contingent consideration) was reduced, leading to a loss from the fair value of the contingent consideration receivable and a 

further impact to the segment result of FY2021. The Group had closely monitored the progress of processing the Reconstruction 

Registration with the PRC authorities.

To keep up the growth of the IDC business, the Group has urged to complete the construction of US IDC. Phase I of the 

construction work has been completed by the third quarter of the year and the certificate of occupancy, representing the 

authorisation of use and occupancy of the IDC from the US authority, has been issued in February 2022. Phase II construction 

of the US IDC is expected to be commenced in the second quarter of the year 2022. Following the completion of Phase II 

construction, the Group is expected to be able to source a stable revenue from the entrance of the US market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Investing Business

The Group’s investing segment was principally engaged in the trading of securities and investing in financial instruments 

including private investment funds and unlisted equity securities. During the year under review, the Group has expanded its 

investing activities to digital assets and biotech investment sector.

In light of the adverse capital market conditions, the Group recorded net fair value loss on financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (excluding contingent consideration receivable) of approximately HK$56.7 million (FY2020: net gain 

of approximately HK$32.0 million) for FY2021. During the year under review, the Group reduced the percentage of financial 

instrument to the investment portfolio through conducting a series of transactions to dispose of its investments in listed 

securities including Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. (H-shares) (“Ping An H-shares”), ZhongAn Online P&C 

Insurance Co., Ltd. (H-shares) (“ZhongAn H-shares”), Guangzhou Automobile Group Co., Ltd. (A-shares and H-shares) and 

Honbridge Holdings and other financial instruments considering the uncertainties of the stock market as a result of economic 

recession. The percentage of the investment portfolio of listed securities and other financial instruments to the total assets 

decreased by 17.9% after disposals. Through the long-term holding of listed securities, the Group has realised approximately 

HK$23.6 million of investment gain as compared with their initial investment cost. The disposals of listed securities of Ping 

An H-shares and ZhongAn H-shares are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 12 July 2021 and 24 August 2021, 

respectively. The disposals of other listed securities do not constitute disclosable transactions individually.

As the influence of the global health crisis on humanity grows, biotech companies have brighter prospects in the investment 

sectors. During the year under review, the Group broadened its investment portfolio to healthcare and biopharmaceutical 

sectors through the subscription of shares of Profound View Group, in which together with its subsidiaries are engaged in 

the research and development of pharmaceutical innovative drugs and biologics. Details of the subscription are set out in the 

Company’s announcement dated 1 December 2021.

Following the rising digital economy and the strategic review on the macroeconomy, the Directors see more potential growth on 

digital assets from the aspects of its wider application and more investment institutional participation. The Group has stepped 

into digital asset investment during the year through the investment of hash-rate capacity and the acquisition of mining 

machines. The Directors of the Company believed in the long-term potential of digital assets as both an investment and also as 

a liquid alternative to cash. As consistent with how the Group manage its investment and fiat-based cash and cash equivalents, 

the Group may increase or decrease the holdings of digital asset at any time based on the needs of the business and the view 

of the market and environmental conditions. Considering the different positioning of regulations for blockchain technology and 

digital assets, the Group will also closely monitor the potential regulatory influence and the market sentiment.

Leasing Business

The leasing segment of the Group comprises leasing out of properties. The segment result has turned to a profit of 

approximately HK$0.3 million (FY2020: a loss of approximately HK$0.5 million) for FY2021, representing an increase of 155.0% 

compared with the last fiscal year. The growth was attributed to the increase in the occupancy rate of the properties as a result 

of the overall increase in rental revenue. The leasing business is expecting to maintain a stable revenue source for the Group.

During the year under review, the Group entered into a provisional agreement to acquire a property located in Chengdu PRC 

for investment purposes to earn stable rental income or sell for a profit if considered appropriate. The acquisition will enable 

the Group to diversify and enhance the asset portfolio for long-term investment purposes and expand the leasing business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Gross Profit

During the year under review, the Group recorded approximately HK$171.7 million (FY2020: approximately HK$307.4 million) of 

revenue, representing a significant decrease of 44.1% as compared with the last fiscal year. The decrease was mainly attributed 

to the decline of revenue from the IHA business, which was suffering from the shortage of microchip supply. Meanwhile, the 

gross profit decreased by 34.1% in line with the drop of the group’s revenue from approximately HK$51.3 million for FY2020 

to approximately HK$33.8 million for FY2021.

Operating Result

Other Revenue and Net (Loss)/Income

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$76.6 million (FY2020: income of approximately HK$66.5 million) from other 

revenue and net loss for FY2021, representing a decrease of 215.3% as compared with the last fiscal year. The decrease was 

mainly due to the net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$99.9 million (FY2020: 

net gain of approximately HK$32.0 million) resulting from the unsatisfactory performance of the Group’s investment portfolio 

amid the adverse capital market conditions and the decrease of the possible outcome of the contingent consideration receivable 

from the disposal of a subsidiary during the year.

Changes in Fair Value of Investment Properties

The Group recognised net revaluation losses of approximately HK$2.7 million (FY2020: approximately HK$4.4 million) on its 

investment properties for FY2021. Following the completion of the disposal of Shanghai IDC, the Group’s investment properties 

exclude the impact of fair value change from the Shanghai IDC.

Operating Expenses

With the decline in the Group’s revenue from the IHA business, the Group’s distribution and selling expenses mainly attributed 

to the IHA business decreased by 16.3% to approximately HK$7.6 million (FY2020: approximately HK$9.1 million) for FY2021. 

As a result of the operating cost pressures from IDC business and central corporate expenses, the general and administrative 

expenses increased by 47.5% to approximately HK$106.3 million (FY2020: approximately HK$72.1 million) for FY2021.

Other Operating Expenses

The other operating expenses mainly comprised of the miscellaneous costs and related tax from investing and leasing activities 

The Group recorded approximately HK$2.3 million (FY2020: approximately HK$2.9 million) of other operating expenses for 

FY2021, representing a decrease of 21.3% as compared with the last fiscal year. The decline was mainly caused by the decrease 

in surcharges and related tax raised from the investing activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loss Allowance on Financial Assets

The loss allowance on financial assets associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost is assessed based on the 

estimation of the lifetime or 12-month expected credit losses (“ECL”). As a result of the default event of supplemental loan 

agreement with Beijing Aihuan Times Technology Limited* (北京愛換時代科技股份有限公司) and the overall impact from 

COVID-19 pandemic, the increase in credit risk caused a significant increase in loss allowance on ECL in respect of loans 

receivable amounting to approximately HK$59.1 million (FY2020: HK$Nil). The Group had adopted a prudent attitude to 

better the default risk management on the loans receivable considering the increasing default risk arising from the material 

uncertainties of the global economic environment affected by the prolonged outbreak of COVID-19.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group increased by 15.4% from approximately HK$3.1 million for FY2020 to approximately HK$3.6 

million for FY2021 attributed to the increase in reliance on debt financing.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$172.5 

million for FY2021 (FY2020: profit of approximately HK$21.9 million). Excluding the provision for loss allowance made in 

accordance with the HKFRS 9 that applied to financial assets (including trade and other receivables and loans receivable), 

the Group’s loss attributed to owners of the Company was approximately HK$113.4 million (FY2020: profit of approximately 

HK$21.9 million) for FY2021.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$858.2 million. The Group had cash and bank 

balances of approximately HK$335.5 million and pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$8.8 million respectively. The 

financial resources were funded mainly by both debt and equity financing.

The current ratio, as calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities, was 3.2 times (2020: 2.8 times) as at 31 

December 2021. The gearing ratio, as measured by total liabilities divided by total equity, was 19.9% (2020: 14.8%) as at 

31 December 2021. The gearing ratio increased as a result of the performance bond received from the supplier amounted 

to RMB110,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$134,540,000) as at 31 December 2021. The Group adopts a prudent 

approach in cash management. Apart from certain debts including lease liabilities, bank loans and other loan, the Group did 

not have any material outstanding debts as at 31 December 2021. Payment to settle trade and other payables represented a 

significant part of the cash outflow of the Group. Taking into account the light debt leverage, the Group is able to generate 

cash and meet upcoming cash requirements. Hence, the Group has adequate liquidity and financial resources to meet its 

working capital requirements in the next twelve months from the balance sheet date and remained at a stable and healthy 

level.

Capital Commitment

Saved as disclosed in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other capital commitment as at 31 

December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies. It strives to reduce its exposure to credit risk by 

performing ongoing credit evaluations of the financial conditions of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely 

monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments 

can meet its funding requirements.

Credit Policies

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage and monitor the recoverability of the loans, details of which are outlined 

below:

(a) Credit risk assessment: The Group would perform credit risk assessment before extending or granting the loans by 

(i) reviewing the financial reports and statements showing the net asset value of the potential or existing borrowers 

and other relevant financial information; and (ii) performing an assessment on the financial condition of the potential 

or existing guarantors, such as the type and value of assets owned by the potential or existing guarantors; and (iii) 

reviewing the financial positions of the existing borrowers on an annual basis.

(b) Security/Collateral assessment: The Group would assess and decide the necessity and the value of security/collateral 

for granting or extending of each loan, whether to an individual or enterprise, on a case-by-case basis considering the 

factors including but not limited to the repayment history, results of public search towards the potential or existing 

borrower, the value and location of the assets owned by the potential or existing borrowers.

(c) Loan collection/Recovery: The Group would issue overdue payment reminder to the borrower, instruct its legal advisers 

to issue demand letter for overdue loans, negotiate with the borrower for the repayment or settlement of the loan and/

or commence legal action against the borrower. In respect of the loans not yet overdue, the Group will closely monitor 

for any adverse news which my trigger a default in payment.

The Board has exercised its oversight over the loans granted by the Group. Any material changes on the borrowers’ financial 

positions from the annual assessment is required to be reported to the Board.

Among the four loan extensions during the year, assessment on the credit risk and collateral have been performed including but 

not limited to the re-assessment of the value of the collateral and financial position of the borrowers and guarantors.

Subsequent to the year ending 31 December 2021, one of the loans was overdue as at the date of this report. The Group had 

sent overdue payment reminders and had instructed the legal adviser to issue demand letters demanding the outstanding debts.

Based on the actions taken by the Group, the Directors considered that the Group have strictly followed the Group’s credit 

policies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Charges on Group Assets

Details of charges on the Group assets are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had shareholder’s capital of approximately HK$62,193,000 (2020: approximately 

HK$51,827,000). The shareholder’s capital of the Company is constituted of 2,487,704,800 shares (2020: 2,073,088,800 

shares).

Subscription of new shares under general mandate

On 30 December 2020, the Company and the two subscribers which are the existing shareholders of the Company entered into 

subscription agreements pursuant to which two subscribers subscribed 414,616,000 new shares at a price of HK$0.20 per share 

(“Subscription”). The gross proceeds raised from the subscription in aggregate amount was approximately HK$82,924,000. 

The Subscription was completed on 12 January 2021. Details of the Subscription are set out in the Company’s announcements 

dated 30 December 2020 and 13 January 2021.

Issue of Listed Securities of the Company and the Use of Proceeds

A summary of the issue of listed securities by the Company during the year and the relevant use of proceeds is set out below:

Date of announcement 30 December 2020

Date of completion 12 January 2021

Name of subscriber(s) Cedar Surplus Investments Limited and Mr. Zhu Weisha

Number of shares issued 414,616,000

Class of shares issued Ordinary shares

Issue of price per share HK$0.20

Net price per share HK$0.199

Aggregate nominal value of share issued HK$10,365,400

Closing price per share on which the terms

 of the issue were fixed

HK$0.199 (as at 30 December 2020)

Gross proceeds approximately HK$82.9 million

Net proceeds approximately HK$82.7 million

Reason for the issue The Board considered that the issue of shares would provide a good 

opportunity to raise additional funds to be used for (i) the development of 

the major operating businesses of IDC; (ii) the development of the major 

operating businesses of IHA; and (iii) general working capital purposes.
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The below table sets out the intended use of net proceeds, utilisation and the remaining balance of the net proceeds as at 31 

December 2021:

Intended use of 

net proceeds Utilisation

Remaining balance 

as at 31 December 

2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

IDC business 66,179 64,740 1,439

IHA business 8,272 8,272 –

General working capital 8,272 8,272 –

Total 82,723 81,284 1,439

The remaining balance of approximately HK$1.4 million which had not yet been utilised during the year is expected to be 

utilised by the second quarter of the year ending 31 December 2022. All the unutilised balances have been placed in licensed 

banks in Hong Kong.

The net proceeds were used and are proposed to be used according to the intentions previously disclosed by the Company.

Significant Investments/Material Acquisitions and Disposals

Disposal of Shanghai Indeed

On 28 April 2021, Indeed Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Vendor”), and the 

Vendor’s guarantor, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Empress Investments Pte. Ltd. (the “Purchaser”), in 

respect of the disposal of the entire equity interest of Shanghai Indeed, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company 

to the Purchaser at a consideration of US$68,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$530,400,000) subject to adjustments 

(the “Disposal”). The Disposal has been completed in September 2021. Details of the Disposal are set out in the Company’s 

announcement dated 28 April 2021, the circular dated 26 May 2021 and the poll result announcement dated 10 June 2021.

Procurement of hash-rate capacity

On 14 May 2021, Grand Choice Development Limited (“Grand Choice”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 

entered into a procurement agreement with Wuhan Quanyaocheng Technology Co., Ltd.* (武漢全耀成科技有限公司) (“Wuhan 

Quanyaocheng”) in respect of the procurement of hash-rate capacity for a term of three years at a total consideration of 

RMB290,000,000. During the year under review, Wuhan Quanyaocheng had delivered the corresponding hash-rate capacity of 

RMB92,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$108,876,000) to Grand Choice. The remaining procurement was terminated 

subsequently. Details of the procurement of hash-rate capacity are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 7 May 2021, 

14 May 2021, 31 May 2021, 2 June 2021 and 9 August 2021 respectively.

Entry of the construction agreement

On 4 April 2019, RiCloud Corp., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a construction agreement 

with Concept Construction Services, Inc. in relation to the construction of Phase I of the IDC in the US at an aggregate 

consideration of US$62,494,800. Details of the construction agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 1 

June 2021, the circular dated 25 June 2021 and the poll results announcement dated 13 July 2021.
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Disposal of listed securities

During the year under review, the Group has disposed of Ping An H-shares and ZhongAn H-shares for an aggregate 

consideration of approximately HK$293.9 million (exclusive of transaction costs), representing a net loss of approximately 

HK$48.1 million, which is calculated based on the difference between the carrying amount of the disposed shares as at 

31 December 2020 and the sales proceeds (after deduction of transaction costs). Details of the disposals are set out in the 

Company’s announcements dated 12 July 2021 and 24 August 2021.

Purchase of mining machines

On 14 September 2021, Rich Universe International Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, conducted a 

series of transactions in the open market to acquire an aggregate of approximately 10,757,635.78 units of USD Coin at an 

average price of HK$7.825 per unit for an aggregate consideration of HK$84,178,500 (exclusive of transaction costs). On the 

same date, Rich Universe International Limited agreed to purchase cryptocurrencies mining machines from Inno Century Limited 

at a consideration of HK$84,178,500, which is settled by transferring the equivalent value of USD Coin. Details of the purchase 

of mining machines are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 14 September 2021.

Saved as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other significant investment and no material acquisition or disposal of 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year under review.

Events After the Reporting Period

Default of supplemental loan agreement

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had outstanding principal of RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$110,079,000) (2020: RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$106,939,000)) and accrued interest receivable of 

approximately HK$11,497,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,495,000) from Beijing Aihuan Times Technology Limited* (北京愛換

時代科技股份有限公司) (the “Borrower”), which were recognised as loans receivable under current assets. During the year, the 

Group entered into a supplemental loan agreement with the Borrower (the “Third Supplemental Loan Agreement”), pursuant to 

which the loan to the Borrower was extended to be repayable in September 2022 and further secured by a corporate guarantee 

provided by another independent third party (the “Third Guarantor”) and the collateral of the share charges of a company 

incorporated in the PRC which is 2.4987% owned by the Third Guarantor. Neither of the conditions precedent under the Third 

Supplemental Loan Agreement were completed by the Borrower. As such, the Third Supplemental Loan Agreement remains 

ineffective and the Borrower shall immediately repay the outstanding remaining loan and interest accrued thereon in a total of 

RMB99,100,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$119,821,000). 

On 10 February 2022, a demand letter was issued to the Borrower to demand for full repayment of the aforesaid outstanding 

balance. On 16 February 2022, the Borrower proposed a new repayment schedule of the outstanding loans and accrued interest 

thereon. As at the date of this report, no consent to the repayment schedule was reached by both parties. Details of the default 

event are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 11 February 2022.

Future Plans for Material Investment and Capital Assets

There is no other plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2021.

Segment Information

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the 

consolidated financial statements.
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Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

Most of the trading transactions of the Group were denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and the United States dollars (“USD”). 

The assets of the Group mainly denominated in RMB and the remaining portions were denominated in USD and Hong Kong 

dollars (“HKD”). The exchange rates for USD to HKD have been relatively stable for the year. Therefore, the Group is only 

exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from RMB exposures, primarily concerning the HKD and USD. During the year under 

review, the Group recorded net exchange losses of approximately HK$8.0 million (FY2020: approximately HK$1.9 million). As 

at 31 December 2021, the Group has not used any forward contracts, currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign 

currency exposure. However, the Group will constantly monitor and manage its exposure to foreign exchange risk.

Human Resources and Relations with the Employees

As at 31 December 2021, the Group have over 150 (2020: over 160) full-time employees, of which 14 (2020: 23) were based in 

Hong Kong and the rest were in the PRC and the United States. Staff costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$63.8 

million (FY2020: approximately HK$51.1 million) for FY2021. The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries are employed and 

promoted based on their suitability for the positions offered. The salary benefit levels of the Group’s employees are in line 

with the market rates. Employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the general framework of the Group’s 

remuneration system which is reviewed annually. In addition to basic salaries, staff benefits also include medical schemes, 

various insurance schemes and share option schemes.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

During the year under review, the Group endeavoured to improve the risk management system on different aspects of company 

strategies, businesses operation and finance. The key risks and uncertainties to which the Group is subject are summarized as 

follows:

(i) The revenue of the Group is difficult to predict and may be volatile in any given reporting period owing to the tightened 

supply of microchips as the raw materials of the distributed products of the IHA business;

(ii) The Group may be potentially exposed to the growth in cost pressures from raw materials of the distributed products of 

the IHA business;

(iii) The IHA business may be threatened by fierce competition on the rapid iteration of technological products;

(iv) The subcontractors of the IDC construction may fail to complete as scheduled and on the unsatisfactory quality of 

the work may incur extra cost to the Group to complete the work owing to the prolonged situation of the COVID-19 

pandemic;

(v) The service and rental income from US IDC may fail to meet the expectation due to the spread of COVID-19 pandemic 

and the economic crisis from pandemic recession;

(vi) The investment return from the stock market may be subject to frequent changes of market policies and regulations;
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(vii) The value of digital assets held by the Group may be subject to volatile market prices, impairment and unique risks of 

loss such as cyberattacks, human errors or computer malfunctions;

(viii) The Group may face regulatory challenges to or limitations on the Group’s digital asset investment; and

(ix) The Group may be impacted by macroeconomic conditions resulting from the global COVID-19 pandemic.

In future business operations, the Group will be highly aware of the aforesaid risks and uncertainties and will proactively adopt 

effective measures to tackle such risks and uncertainties.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation and always takes environmental protection issues 

into consideration during daily operations. The Group does not produce material waste nor emits material quantities of air 

pollutants. The Group also strives to minimize the adverse environmental impacts by encouraging the employees to recycle 

office supplies and other materials and save electricity.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Company has been listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange since 2000. The operations of the Group are mainly carried 

out by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States. As such, the Group’s operations shall comply 

with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States accordingly. During the year, the Group has 

complied with all applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States in all material respects. The 

Group shall continue to keep itself updated with the requirements of the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Hong Kong 

and the United States and adhere to them to ensure compliance.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Qiang, aged 53, graduated with a master’s degree in business administration from Nanyang Technological University, 

Singapore. Mr. Li is the chairman and the legal representative of Trunkbow Asia Pacific (Shandong) Co., Ltd.. Mr. Li had been 

the president of Beijing Daily Technologies Co., Ltd.* (北京德利迅達科技有限公司) since March 2011 and a director of Trunkbow 

International Holdings Ltd., the shares of which were delisted from The NASDAQ (National Association of Securities Dealers 

Automated Quotation) Stock Market in 2014. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Li was appointed 

to the board of directors as an executive Director and the co-chairman on 10 June 2016 and re-designated as the Chairman on 

8 March 2017.

Mr. Cong Yu, aged 52, graduated from The People’s Liberation Army (Navy) Command College* (中國人民解放軍陸軍指揮學院) 

majoring in National Defense Mobilization and National Defense Education and obtained a professional undergraduate degree. 

He has extensive experience in business development and investment projects. He is an executive director of Heijinghe Fund 

Management Co., Ltd.*(黑頸鶴基金管理有限公司), a director of Shenzhen Shenjian Pharmaceutical Technology Limited* (深圳深

見醫藥科技有限公司) and an executive director of Amrtan Ocean Traditional Chinese Medicine Co. Ltd.* (甘露海中醫有限公司). 

He is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Cong was appointed to the Board as an executive Director on 21 

January 2021 and appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 22 March 2021.

Mr. Chen Biao, aged 54, graduated from the Department of Mechanical Engineering of Information Engineering University* 

(信息工程大學). He has extensive experience in business development and management in China and Europe. Mr. Chen joined 

the Group in December 2019 as the position of a deputy general manager of Yuxin Asset Management Company Limited, an 

indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. He was acting as the business consultant for China Machinery Industry 

International Cooperation Co., Ltd. on acquisition and mergers projects in Europe since 2014. Mr. Chen was an executive 

director of Global Token Limited. He is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen was appointed to the Board 

as an executive Director on 21 January 2021 and appointed as the vice president of the Group in 2021.

Mr. Gao Fei, aged 42, graduated with a master’s degree in business administration from The Hong Kong University of Science 

and Technology. He has been the general manager of (Shanghai Yuding Corporation Management LLP* (上海毓鼎企業管理合夥

企業(有限合夥)) (formerly known as Shanghai Sino Crown Investment LLP) since May 2014. Mr. Gao Fei had been a director of 

Lontrue Co., Ltd., the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300175). He is also a director of 

certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Gao was appointed to the Board as an executive Director on 20 June 2016.

Mr. Shi Guangrong, aged 61, graduated with a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Department of Industrial Automation 

of Beijing University of Technology. Mr. Shi has been with the Group since 1996, responsible primarily for marketing and 

investment management functions of the Group. Mr. Shi is currently the compliance officer of the Group and the executive 

president of the listing platform of the Group, possessing over 15 years of regulatory and compliance experience. He is also a 

director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He was a non-executive director of Global Token Limited. Mr. Shi was appointed 

to the Board as an executive Director on 7 October 1999.

Mr. Zhu Jiang, aged 64, graduated from Beijing University of Technology majoring in mechatronic engineering. Mr. Zhu has 

over 25 years of research experience in computer engineering, extensive experience in digital-to-analog circuits and high-level 

assembly languages programming and over 15 years of management experience. He is a director and the legal representative of 

certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhu was appointed to the Board as an executive Director on 24 July 2013.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Shen Yan, aged 58, holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting and has over 26 years of accounting experience and 23 years 

of auditing experience. Ms. Shen worked with Beijing Zhonggongxin Certified Public Accountants* (北京中公信會計師事務所), 

where she presided over audit works for local and international renowned enterprises in manufacturing, professional affairs 

and services and has accumulated solid experience in corporate finance management and auditing. Ms. Shen has successively 

held key positions in numerous corporations in the PRC and possesses good expertise in financial accounting, budgetary control 

and financial management. She also took part in the researches, editing and publication of books on financial management 

subjects. Ms. Shen had also been a staff of Beijing University of Technology. Currently, Ms. Shen is the financial controller of a 

PRC firm. Ms. Shen was appointed to the Board as an independent non-executive Director on 12 January 2005.

Ms. Dong Hairong, aged 47, is a deputy director of National Engineering Research Center of Rail Transportation Operation and 

Control System of Beijing Jiaotong University, a professor and PhD student tutor of State Key Laboratory of Rail Traffic Control 

and Safety of Beijing Jiaotong University. Ms. Dong graduated from Peking University with a doctorate degree in Science. Ms. 

Dong was appointed to the Board as an independent non-executive Director on 6 June 2018.

Ms. Huo Qiwei, aged 50, is currently the chief financial officer of Beijing Zhongjin Guorong Culture Media Co., Ltd. She 

possesses over 14 years of experience in corporate finance and accounting, and over 14 years of experience in audit consulting. 

Ms. Huo possesses the professional qualifications of certified public accountant, certified tax agent and senior accountant in 

the PRC. Ms. Huo graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a master’s degree in professional accountancy and 

graduated from Henan University of Science and Technology majoring in accountancy. Ms. Huo was appointed to the Board as 

an independent non-executive Director on 5 September 2019.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Dr. Liu Wei, aged 64, has PRC lawyer qualification and is a solicitor qualified to practice law in Hong Kong and in England. 

He graduated from the Northwest University of China, the Chinese University of Political Science and Law and the University 

of Cambridge with a bachelor’s degree in Chinese literature, a master’s degree in law, a Ph.D. in Law respectively. He also 

completed his Common Professional Examination (CPE) with Manchester University in England, as well as a Postgraduate 

Certificate in Laws (PCLL) with the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Liu has extensive experience in corporate finance and corporate 

governance of listed companies and is a partner of Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP. Dr. Liu is the company secretary of the Company 

(the “Company Secretary”) since 3 July 2007.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wang Yuxiao, aged 49, She joined the Group in 2007. As the vice president of the Group, she is responsible for 

information home appliances, home cloud product business and foreign investment. She is the general manager of a 

non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, responsible for its management and business operations. She is also a director of 

certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Wang graduated from Peking University with a master’s degree in the department of 

information management. She possesses the qualification of fund practitioners of the Asset Management Association of China. 

She has accumulated extensive experience in investment and fund management businesses.

* The English translation of certain Chinese entities which are marked with “*” is for identification purpose only under the section headed 

“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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The Board is pleased to present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

year ended 31 December 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group’s business and financial performance for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the 

sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are 

set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Analysis of the performance by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 by business and geographical segments is set 

out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 31 

to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income on page 74 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant 

laws, rules and regulations and subject to the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”). Subject to compliance with applicable 

laws, rules, regulations and the Bye-laws, in deciding whether to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into account 

the Group’s financial results, the earnings and distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements, the debt ratio 

and possible effects on the credit lines, and the development plans of the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 6 of this 

report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Directors have acknowledged that the Group is exposed to certain risks that could impact on the Group. The Group 

monitors the risks on an ongoing basis. The principal risks faced by the Group are set out in the sub-section headed “Key Risks 

and Uncertainties” of this annual report.
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SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme adopted by the Shareholders on 14 January 2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”) 

and the movement in the Company’s share options held by the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out 

in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to 

offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during 

the year.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity on page 77 of this report and notes 32 and 34(a) to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the investment properties and property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 

31 December 2021 are set out in notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of properties held by the Group as at 31 December 2021 are set out on page 172 of this report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Qiang (Chairman)

Mr. Cong Yu (Chief Executive Officer) (Note 1)

Mr. Chen Biao (Note 2)

Mr. Gao Fei (Note 3)

Mr. Shi Guangrong

Mr. Zhu Jiang

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Shen Yan

Ms. Dong Hairong

Ms. Huo Qiwei

Notes:

1. Mr. Cong Yu appointed as the executive Director of the Company on 21 January 2021 and the Chief Executive Officer on 22 March 

2021.

2. Mr. Chen Biao appointed as the executive Director of the Company on 21 January 2021.

3. Mr. Gao Fei ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 22 March 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 17 and 18 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND APPOINTMENT LETTERS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years which are 

automatically renewed for successive terms of one year each upon expiry of the then current term and shall be terminated by 

either party giving to the other not less than six months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two 

years.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) 

has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other 

than statutory compensation.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph of this annual report of the Directors headed “Connected Transaction”, no transaction, 

arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was 

a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any 

time during the year under review.

DIRECTOR’S EMOLUMENTS AND INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year are set out in notes 11 

and 12 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors are paid fees in line with market practice. The Group adopted the following main principles in determining the 

remuneration of the Directors and other employees:

• No individual should determine his or her own remuneration;

• Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with whom the Group competes for human resources;

• Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with a view to motivating and retaining high performing 

individuals and enhancing the value of the Company to its Shareholders; and

• Share options grants to the senior management or staff as incentives for their contribution to the growth and 

development of the Group in the intermediate to longer time frame.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, 

underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated corporations (within the meanings of Part XV 

of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant 

to section 352 of the SFO, or as required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 

of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company

Name of Directors

Nature of 

interests

Number of 

ordinary Shares Capacity

Approximate 

percentage of 

the total issued 

share capital of 

the Company

Mr. Li Qiang Personal 4,604,000 Beneficial owner 0.19%

Mr. Cong Yu Personal 741,379,800 Interest of a controlled 

corporation

29.80%

Mr. Gao Fei Personal 2,190,000 Beneficial owner 0.09%

Mr. Shi Guangrong Personal 22,660,000 Beneficial owner 0.91%

Mr. Zhu Jiang Personal 7,926,756 Beneficial owner 0.32%

Ms. Shen Yan Personal 324,000 Beneficial owner 0.01%
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(2) Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme approved by the Shareholders on 14 January 2015, the Directors and chief 

executive of the Company in the capacity as beneficial owners were granted unlisted and physically settled share 

options to subscribe for the Shares, details of which as at 31 December 2021 were as follows:

Number of Shares issuable under the share options

Name of grantees Date of grant

Exercise 

price per 

Share Exercisable period

Outstanding 

as at 

1 January 

2021

Granted 

during the 

year

Exercised 

during the 

year

Lapsed 

during the 

year

Cancelled 

during the 

year

Outstanding 

as at 

31 December 

2021

HK$

Directors

Mr. Li Qiang 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – – 2,000,000

Mr. Gao Fei 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – – 2,000,000

Mr. Shi Guangrong 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 13,000,000 – – – – 13,000,000

Mr. Zhu Jiang 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 13,000,000 – – – – 13,000,000

Ms. Shen Yan 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 1,000,000 – – – – 1,000,000

Ms. Dong Hairong 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – – 2,000,000

33,000,000 – – – – 33,000,000

Further details regarding the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statement.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests 

or short positions in any Shares, underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 

352 of the SFO, or as required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the 

GEM Listing Rules.

Apart from the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries 

a party to any arrangement which enables the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or 

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES

Based on the information provided to the Company in notices filed, as at 31 December 2021, the entities and/or persons or 

corporations who had any interests or short positions in the Shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which fall to 

be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the 

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or had otherwise notified to the Company 

were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of Shareholders

Nature of 

interests

Number of 

Ordinary 

Shares Capacity

Approximate 

percentage of 

the total issued 

share capital of 

the Company

Unicorn Resources Inc. 

 (“Unicorn”) (Note 1)

Corporate 741,379,800 Beneficial owner 29.80%

Cedar Surplus Investments Limited 

 (“Cedar Surplus”) (Note 1)

Corporate 741,379,800 Interest of a controlled 

corporation

29.80%

Mr. Cong Yu (Note 1) Personal 741,379,800 Interest of a controlled 

corporation

29.80%

Mr. Zhu Weisha (Note 2) Personal 741,379,800 Interest of a controlled 

corporation

29.80%

19,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.76%

Honbridge Holdings Limited 

 (Stock Code: 8137) 

 (“Honbridge”) (Notes 3)

Corporate 351,867,200 Beneficial owner 14.14%

Hong Bridge Capital Limited 

 (“Hong Bridge”) (Notes 3)

Corporate 351,867,200 Interest of a controlled 

corporation

14.14%

Mr. He Xuechu (Notes 4) Personal 351,867,200 Interest of a controlled 

corporation

14.14%

300,000 Interest of spouse 0.01%

Ms. Foo Yatyan (Notes 4) Personal 351,867,200 Interest of spouse 14.14%

300,000 Beneficial owner 0.01%
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Notes:

1. Unicorn is the beneficial owner of 741,379,800 Shares. Cedar Surplus holds 55% interest in Unicorn and it is deemed to be interested in 

the 741,379,800 Shares held by Unicorn. Mr. Cong Yu holds 100% interest in Cedar Surplus (which holds 55% interest in Unicorn) and 

he is therefore deemed to be interested in the 741,379,800 Shares held by Unicorn.

2. Mr. Zhu Weisha holds 45% interest in Unicorn and he is deemed to be interested in the 741,379,800 Shares held by Unicorn. The 

remaining interest in 19,000,000 Shares is beneficially owned by Mr. Zhu Weishu, representing 19,000,000 underlying shares in respect 

of the share options granted by the Company on 30th August 2019.

3. Honbridge is the beneficial owner of 351,867,200 Shares. Hong Bridge holds 41.25% interest in Honbridge and it is deemed to be 

interested in the 351,867,200 Shares held by Honbridge.

4. Mr. He Xuechu holds 51% interest in Hong Bridge (which holds 41.25% interest in Honbridge) and he is therefore deemed to be 

interested in the 351,867,200 Shares held by Honbridge. Ms. Foo Yatyan is the beneficial owner of 300,000 Shares. As Ms. Foo Yatyan is 

the spouse of Mr. He Xuechu, Ms. Foo Yatyan is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. He Xuechu is interested and Mr. 

He Xuechu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Ms. Foo Yatyan is interested.

5. Based on a total of 2,487,704,800 issued Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors are not aware of any persons or corporations who had any 

interests or short positions in the Shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed to 

the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of 

the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which any of them shall or may incur 

or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duties in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the year and is still in force. In addition, the Company has 

arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company 

was entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group has developed close and long-term cooperation relationships with major suppliers and customers. During the year, 

stable and good relationships between the Group and its major suppliers and customers have been maintained. The Group 

values the feedback from customers through daily communication, and address customers’ concern in a timely manner. As 

to the suppliers, the Group assurance their performance for delivering quality sustainable products and services through 

supplier approval process and by spot checks on the delivered products. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no 

circumstance of any event between the Group and its customers which will have a significant impact on the Group’s business 

and on which the Group’s success depends. The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended 31 December 2021 

attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

– the largest supplier 60.1%

– five largest suppliers combined 81.0%

Sales

– the largest customer 29.8%

– five largest customers combined 84.7%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% 

of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the major suppliers and major customers noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year under review, the Company entered into the following connected transaction, as defined in the Listing Rules, 

with connected persons of the Company.

Transactions contemplated under the subscription agreement

On 1 December 2021, a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) was entered into between Full Profit 

Enterprises Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“Full Profit”) and Profound View Group (“Profound 

View”) in relation to the subscription of ordinary shares of the Profound View by Full Profit (the “Subscription”) at a 

consideration of HK$48,000,000. Full Profit held an aggregate of 8.41% of the enlarged share capital of the Profound View 

following the completion of the Subscription. Details of the above transaction is set out in the Company’s announcement dated 

1 December 2021.

As at the date of the Subscription Agreement, the Profound View is held as to 42.6% by Tibetan Crane Company Limited 

(“Tibetan”), which is in turn held as to 64.68% by Mr. Cong, an executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company and a substantial Shareholder. Accordingly, Profound View is an associate of Mr. Cong and thus a connected person 

of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Subscription is subject to the reporting and announcement 

requirements but is exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules. Mr. Cong is 

deemed to have a material interest in the transactions contemplated under the Subscription Agreement. Accordingly, he has 

abstained from voting on the board resolutions in connection with the subscription.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year, which constitute exempted connected 

transactions or continuing connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, are set out in note 38 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the controlling Shareholders and their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has 

an interest in a business which competed or might compete with the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interest 

with the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”). It currently comprises three independent non-executive 

Directors, namely Ms. Shen Yan (Chairlady), Ms. Dong Hairong and Ms. Huo Qiwei. None of the members of the Audit 

Committee is a former partner of the auditor of the Company. The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the 

Board in reviewing the financial information, overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management, internal 

control systems and relationship with the external auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise 

concerns under the protection of confidentiality about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other 

matters of the Company. During the year under review, the Audit Committee held five meetings for the purposes of reviewing 

the quarterly, interim and annual financial results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance 

procedures, internal control and risk management systems, and the other matters in accordance with the Audit Committee’s 

written terms of reference. The Group’s audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been reviewed by 

the Audit Committee.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float required under the GEM Listing Rules, 

based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the Company’s principal corporate governance principles and practices are set out in the section headed “Corporate 

Governance Report” of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of events after the reporting period are set out in the sub-section headed “Events After the Reporting Period” of this 

annual report and note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

UPDATE ON INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE 17.50A(1) OF THE GEM 
LISTING RULES

Changes in the information of Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report which are required to be 

disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A (1) of the GEM Listing Rules are set out below:

(a). Mr. Gao Fei resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 22 March 2021.

(b). Mr. Cong Yu was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 22 March 2021.

(c). Mr. Chen Biao resigned as an executive director of Global Token Limited with effect from 31 July 2021.

(d). Mr. Shi Guangrong resigned as non-executive director of Global Token Limited with effect from 31 July 2021.

(e)  The annual remuneration of the following Director has been revised

Name of Director 

Revised 

annual remuneration

HK$’000

Mr. Cong Yu 2,670

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been audited by Mazars CPA 

Limited, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Mazars CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 

AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited

Cong Yu

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance. The Directors believe that sound and 
reasonable corporate governance practices are essential for the continuing growth of the Group and for safeguarding and 
maximising Shareholders’ interests.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has applied the principles and complied with the applicable code 
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, except in 
relation to CG Code provisions E.1.2, as more particularly described below.

CG Code provision E.1.2

Pursuant to CG Code provision E.1.2, the Chairman of the Board should attend the AGM and invite the chairman of the audit, 
remuneration and nomination committees to attend and be available to answer questions at the AGM. Mr. Chen Biao, an 
executive Director, has been performing the above duties in lieu of Mr. Li Qiang, the Chairman of the Board, who had other 
pre-arranged business commitments on the day of the AGM.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 (the “Required Standard of 
Dealings”) of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Upon specific 
enquiries of all Directors, each of them confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in the Required 
Standard of Dealings for the year ended 31 December 2021 in relation to their securities dealings, if any.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board composition

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf of the Shareholders. The Board is of the view that it is the 
Directors’ responsibility to create value for the Shareholders and safeguard the best interests of the Company and the 
Shareholders as a whole by discharging its duties in a dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on the principle of good faith.

The primary functions of the Board include:

• deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational and financial performance and formulating appropriate 
policies to manage risk exposure associated with realising the strategies and goals of the Group;

• monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, and renewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code;

• being held accountable for the internal control system of the Group and responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;

• being ultimately responsible for preparing financial accounts and discussing the performance, financial conditions 
and prospects of the Group in a balanced, clear and comprehensible manner. These responsibilities are applicable to 
quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Company, other price sensitive announcements published according to the 
GEM Listing Rules and disclosure of other financial information, reports submitted to regulatory bodies and information 
discloseable under statutory requirements;

• executive Directors, who oversee the overall business of the Group, are responsible for the daily management of the 
Group, the Board is responsible for affairs involving the overall policies, finance and Shareholders of the Company, 
namely financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes to accounting policies, annual operating budgets, 
material contracts, major financing arrangements, principal investment and risk management strategy. Implementation 
and execution of such decisions is delegated to the management; and

• regularly reviewing its own functions and the powers conferred upon executive Directors to ensure appropriate 
arrangements are in place.
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The Board has overall responsibility for the leadership, strategic direction, control and performance of the Group and for 

promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board delegates the day-to-day management, 

administration and operation of the Group to management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to 

ensure that they accommodate the needs of the Group.

The management is well informed of its powers and duties with clear guidelines and instructions, in particular regarding 

situations under which reporting to the Board is necessary and matters that require the approval of the Board before any 

decisions or commitments can be made on behalf of the Company.

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, with six executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Qiang (Chairman), Mr. Cong Yu (Chief 

Executive Officer), Mr. Chen Biao, Mr. Gao Fei, Mr. Shi Guangrong and Mr. Zhu Jiang and three independent non-executive 

Directors, namely, Ms. Shen Yan, Ms. Dong Hairong and Ms. Huo Qiwei. The biographies of the Directors are set out in the 

section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 17 to 18 of this report. The Directors, with 

relevant and sufficient experience and qualifications, have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group and 

have exercised due care and fiduciary duties in relation to the significant issues of overall business planning, management and 

strategic development of the Group.

To the knowledge of the Directors, the Board members have no material financial, business, family or other relevant 

relationships with each other.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board at all times complied with the requirement of the GEM Listing Rules of 

having at least three independent non-executive Directors sit on the Board (more than one-third of the Board members) and at 

least one of them having appropriate professional accounting or related financial management expertise. All the independent 

non-executive Directors are appointed for a two-year term, and subject to rotation and re-election pursuant to the Bye-laws. 

Details of their appointment are referred to the section “Directors’ Service Contracts and Appointment Letters” on page 

21 of this report. The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation 

of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange and considers all the independent 

non-executive Directors to be independent.

Board practice and conduct of meetings

The full Board meets at least four times a year, at approximately quarterly intervals, to review the financial performance, results 

of each period, material investments and other matters of the Group that require the resolution of the Board. Simultaneous 

communication methods may be used to improve attendance when individual Director cannot attend the meeting in person.
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The attendance records of each Director and each member of the Board committees in 2021 are as follows:

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

Executive Directors Board

Audit 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee

General 

Meeting

Mr. Li Qiang (Chairman) (Note 1) 6/6 N/A N/A 1/1 0/1

Mr. Cong Yu (Note 2) 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Chen Biao (Note 3) 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Gao Fei 5/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Shi Guangrong (Note 4) 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Zhu Jiang (Note 5) 6/6 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Shen Yan (Note 6) 6/6 5/5 1/1 1/1 1/1

Ms. Dong Hairong 6/6 5/5 1/1 1/1 1/1

Ms. Huo Qiwei 6/6 5/5 1/1 1/1 1/1

Notes:

1.  Mr. Li Qiang ceased to be the chairman of Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 29 July 2021.

2.  Mr. Cong Yu was appointed as a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and nomination committee of the Company with 

effect from 29 July 2021.

3.  Mr. Chen Biao was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 29 July 2021.

4.  Mr. Shi Guangrong was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 29 July 2021.

5.  Mr. Zhu Jiang ceased to be the member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 29 July 2021.

6.  Ms. Shen Yan was appointed as a chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 29 July 2021.

Information of material issues, due notice of meetings and minutes of every meeting have been sent to all Directors for their 

information, comment and review.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years which are 

automatically renewed for successive terms of one year each upon expiry of the then current term and shall be terminated by 

either party giving to the other not less than six months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two 

years.

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures for the appointment of new Directors. The 

procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in the Bye-laws. Pursuant to Article 

87 of the Bye-laws, at each AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three 

(3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be 

subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant 

to Article 86(2) of the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person 

as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorization by the Shareholders in general meetings, 

as an addition to the existing Board but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed any maximum number 

determined from time to time by the Shareholders in general meetings. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office 

only until the next following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

In compliance with the code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, the further appointment of independent non-executive Directors 

who have served more than 9 years should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders and the papers 

to Shareholders accompanying that resolution should include the reasons why the Board believes the relevant Director is still 

independent and should be re-elected.

Directors’ Training

Each newly appointed Director shall receive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she 

has appropriate understanding of the business and operation of the Group and that he/she is aware of his/her responsibilities 

and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, all existing Directors were provided with updates on the latest developments and 

changes in the GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time to develop and refresh 

the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. In addition, briefings and updates on the latest development regarding the Listing 

Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are provided to the Board during Board meetings to ensure compliance and 

enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. The Company together with its legal adviser, organized a 

training session to provide the Directors with an update on the Listing Rules during the year.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a 

balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board 

appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. 

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 

educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision 

will be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer should be 

separate and should not be performed by the same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the positions of 

chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held by different persons. Mr. Li Qiang acted as the Chairman and Mr. 

Cong Yu acted as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee (the 

“Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), each overseeing and being responsible 

for affairs in different aspects of the Company. All Board committees of the Company are established with defined written 

terms of reference.

The written terms of reference for each Board committee are in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and they are posted on 

the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee. It currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. 

Shen Yan (Chairlady), Ms. Dong Hairong and Ms. Huo Qiwei. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner 

of the auditor of the Company.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information, overseeing the 

Company’s financial reporting system, risk management, internal control systems and relationship with external auditor, and 

arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns under the protection of confidentiality about possible 

improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper 

use or disposal, relevant laws, regulations and rules are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records 

are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks that 

may impact on the Group’s performance are appropriately identified and managed. The systems and internal controls can only 

provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage, rather 

than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held five meetings for the purposes of reviewing the quarterly, 

interim and annual financial results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures, 

internal control and risk management systems, and the other matters in accordance with the Audit Committee’s written terms 

of reference. The Group’s audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit 

Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee. It currently comprises two executive Directors and three independent 

non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Shen Yan (Chairlady), Mr. Cong Yu, Mr. Chen Biao, Ms. Dong Hairong and Ms. Huo Qiwei. 

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the 

remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management, the remuneration policy and structure for all 

Directors and senior management and approval on the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts; and establishing a formal 

and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy and to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is 

involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review and make 

recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and other related matters in accordance with the 

Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the member(s) of the senior management by band for 

the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

Remuneration band Number of individual

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Board has established the Nomination Committee. It currently comprises two executive Directors and three independent 

non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Shen Yan (Chairman), Mr. Cong Yu, Mr. Shi Guangrong, Ms. Dong Hairong and Ms. Huo 

Qiwei. The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board’s structure, size and composition of 

the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, making recommendations to the Board on the 

appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

According to the Nomination Policy of the Company, appointments of Board members will be made on a merit basis and 

candidates will be considered against objective criteria. The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability of a candidate 

include:

• the candidate’s academic background and qualifications (including professional qualifications, skills and knowledge 

which are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy);

• the candidate’s relevant experience in the industry;

• the candidate’s character and integrity;

• the candidate’s willingness and capacity to devote adequate time in discharge of a Director’s duties;

• whether the candidate can contribute to the Board a diversity of perspectives;
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• Where the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director whether the candidate is in 

compliance with the criteria of independence under the GEM Listing Rules; and

• any other factors as may be determined by the Board from time to time.

In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member may nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as a Director to be 

considered by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will then evaluate the personal profile of the candidate 

based on the selection criteria set out above, undertake due diligence in respect of such candidate and make recommendation 

for the Board’s consideration and approval. For nomination of independent non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee 

will also assess the candidate’s independence in accordance with the CG Code and the GEM Listing Rules. For re-appointment 

of retiring Directors, the Nomination Committee will review the candidate’s overall contribution and performance (including the 

candidate’s attendance at Board committee meetings, Board meetings and general meetings, his/her level of participation and 

performance on the Board), and make recommendations to the Board and Shareholders for re-election at general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to review and make recommendation 

to the Board on the retirement by rotation of Directors in the 2021 AGM and other related matters in accordance with the 

Nomination Committee’s written terms of reference.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor, Mazars CPA Limited, to the Group in the 

year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Fees payable

Hk$’000

Statutory audit services 1,600

Interim agreed-upon procedures 83

Other non-audit services 530

2,213

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Dr. Liu Wei. He has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to update his skills

and knowledge in 2021.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

year ended 31 December 2021, which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a going concern basis. 

Statements of Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial statements and external auditor’s reporting 

responsibilities are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective systems of risk management and internal control, which include 

financial, operational and compliance controls, to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests, as well as for 

reviewing the effectiveness of such systems. Sound and effective systems of risk management and internal control are designed 

to identify and manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board, through efforts of the Audit Committee, oversees the Group’s risk 

management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of 

the Group’s risk management and internal control systems covering aspects of the Group’s financial, operational, compliance 

controls and risk management functions. The Board has considered that the Group’s risk management and internal control 

systems are effective and adequate. The Group reviews its risk management and internal control systems on an annual basis.

The risk management and internal control systems have been designed to operate proactively to ensure that principal risks are 

not only identified, measured and monitored but also mitigated. The risk management process is embedded into the day-to-day 

operations of the Group and is an on-going process carried out by everyone in the Group.

Key procedures are being established and implemented to ensure that there are appropriate and effective risk management and 

internal control systems are as follows:

(a) setting core values and beliefs which form the basis of the Group’s overall risk philosophy and appetite;

(b) having an organisational structure in place with defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority which hold 

individuals accountable for their risk management and internal control responsibilities;

(c) imposing an organisational structure which provides necessary information flow for risk analysis and management 

decision-making;

(d) imposing budgetary and management accounting controls to efficiently allocate resources and providing timely financial 

and operational performance indicators to manage business activities and risks;

(e) ensuring effective financial reporting controls to record complete, accurate and timely accounting and management 

information; and

(f) expanding the roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee to include the review of risk management and internal 

control systems.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information

The Group has complied with the relevant applicable requirements of the SFO and the GEM Listing Rules in respect of 

dissemination of inside information. The Group has disclosed inside information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable. 

Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures that the information is kept strictly confidential. 

The Group is committed to ensuring that information contained in announcements and other public disclosures are not false 

or misleading as to a material fact or as a result of the omission of a material fact by presenting information in a clear and 

balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The annual report, interim report and quarterly reports offer comprehensive information to the Shareholders on operational 

and financial performance whereas AGM provide a forum for the Shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. The 

general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and the Board.

According to the Bye-laws, any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 

one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all 

times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting (the 

“SGM”) to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The requisition must be 

lodged with the registered office of the Company. The written requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM, and (ii) must 

be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for attention 

of the Board or the Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more 

requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. Such requisitions will be 

verified by the Company’s branch share registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the 

Company Secretary will inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, 

if the requisition has been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the SGM 

will not be convened as requested.

As regards to proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer to the procedures as set out in the Bye-laws on the 

respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the principal place of business of the Company 

in Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels with investors to update the latest business development and 

financial performance including the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports, the publish and posting of notices, 

announcements and circulars on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in order to maintain a high level of 

transparency, and to ensure there is no selective disclosure of inside information.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has published its Bye-laws on the respective websites of the 

Stock Exchange and the Company. No amendments were made to the constitutional documents of the Company during the 

year.
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The Board is pleased to submit the Group’s environmental, social and governance report for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

The contents of the report are in compliance with the relevant requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance 

Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules.

1. ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (this “Report”) is presented by Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings 

Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”). This report is prepared in accordance with 

the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“the Guide”) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”). This report complies with all “comply or explain” provisions and reports all 

recommended disclosures of the Guide.

1.1 Reporting Principles

The Group has taken the following reporting principles into account in development of this Report:

• Materiality: The Group evaluates the impact of various environmental, social and governance issues on 

the operations of the Group through interviews with management and questionnaire surveys targeted at 

internal and external stakeholders. For more information, please refer to the “Materiality Assessment” 

section.

• Quantitative: The Group records and estimates quantitative data and makes comparison with past 

performance where feasible. To ensure the accuracy of key environmental performance indicators, the 

quantitative information in this report comes from the statistical records and estimates of the relevant 

departments of the Group, and specify the information of the standards, methodologies, assumptions 

and/or calculation references wherever appropriate.

• Balance: The information in this report mainly comes from internal statistical reports, documents and 

communication documents in 2021. To provide an unbiased picture of the Group’s performance, the 

Group disclosed both our achievements and room for improvement in fair disclosure regarding ESG.

• Consistency: Since 2016, we have reported in accordance with the Environmental, Social and 

Governance Reporting Guide issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. If there are any changes that 

may affect the comparison with previous reports, the Group has added remarks to the corresponding 

content of this report.



39 2021 Annual Report

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

1.2 Reporting Period And Reporting Scope

This Report captures the Group’s information from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Year”). This 

Report covers the principal places of operations and business scope of the Group which represent the Group’s 

major source of revenue and business operations that are more relevant to the environment, society and 

governance:

• Shenzhen CEO Office (“Shenzhen Headquarters”)1

• Beijing office (the “Beijing Office”)

• Zhongshan factory (the “Zhongshan Factory”)2

• Hong Kong office3

1: The Shenzhen Headquarters was established in the third quarter of 2021. Since the Shenzhen Headquarters has started 

its operation for a few months, this report only includes the descriptive key performance indicators of the Shenzhen 

Headquarters. The information regarding the operation of the Shenzhen Headquarters will be disclosed in accordance 

with the guidelines provided by HKEX in next reporting period;

2: In 2019, the Zhongshan Factory outsourced the entire production process to contractors, and the Zhongshan Factory is 

mainly responsible for monitoring the external contractors’ performance. Therefore, the Report covers the information 

about daily operations of the factory only.

3: Covers the information about manpower resources of the office only.

In order to be reader-friendly, a detailed content index of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting 

Guide issued by the Stock Exchange is included at the end of this report. Other ESG information, including 

financial data and corporate governance information, has been published in the Company’s 2021 Annual 

Report.

The Reporting Period: From 1 January to 31 December 2021, which is the same as the financial period covered 

in our annual report.
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2 BOARD STATEMENT ON ESG

Sustainability Strategy

The Group always sees its corporate doctrines “Integrity and transparency, strict self-discipline, mutual trust and highly 

accountable” as the core of its corporate culture. We operate with honesty and truthfulness because we uphold 

integrity, and that is what our corporate culture has always been rooted in. We are always innovative that empowers 

the Group to grasp every opportunity in the storms of the past, so that the business of the Group is continuously and 

firmly growing.

The board of the Group understands that being in line with our sustainability commitment constitutes the important 

element for the development and expansion of the Group’s business. The Group upholds the “green” operating 

concepts, while shaping our efforts to have a positive impact on society and the environment – delivering lasting value 

for all stakeholders. The Group has set up objectives on sustainable development based on our core value and culture. 

The Group’s sustainable development goals and implementation status are set out in the corresponding section of this 

report.

Good corporate governance is crucial to the long-term healthy development of the Group. The Group Chief Executive 

Officer and executive Directors are responsible for sustainability management, and their management duties are 

delegated to various departments and units which are responsible for managing important sustainability issues and 

monitoring their trends, so as to help the Group to seize all opportunities that can improve the Group’s sustainable 

development performance. Throughout its business, different areas and levels of management are responsible for 

monitoring and achieving the Group’s sustainability performance and goals, reviewing the opinions of stakeholders, 

collecting ESG data and information, in order to prepare the ESG Report to be reported to and approved by the 

Committee Board. This Report has been confirmed by the management and approved by the Board on 22 March 2022.

In addition, in order to effectively review the Group’s sustainable development performance, the Group has established 

a sound internal control and risk management system, implemented internal control and audit supervision to reduce 

operational risks. The Group has established an Internal Audit system in accordance with relevant regulations. Through 

systematic and standardized methods, the Group reviews and evaluates within various departments of their operating 

activities and target achievement, the establishment and implementation of internal control, the utilization of resources, 

etc.. It also provides relevant analysis, recommendations, assistance, and supervision for management personnel 

to perform their duties in due diligence. During the Year, the Directors has continuously reviewed the Group’s risk 

management and the effectiveness of internal control systems, and reviewed the compliance controls on financial, ESG 

and other aspects, and the effectiveness of risk management, to safeguard the Group’s assets against unauthorised use 

or disposition, and to protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, so as to ensure that the 

above topics are incorporated into the Company’s strategy, and lead the Group to formulate and achieve long-term 

strategies and goals.
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3 COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group has been using different kinds of communication channels to listen to our stakeholders’ views at the ESG 

aspects and communicate with them on various ESG issues on an ongoing basis. The Group always believes that 

listening to the opinions of various stakeholders helps us to objectively and comprehensively assess the Group’s ESG 

performance.

The Group endeavors to communicate with key stakeholders to ensure that issues of their concerns are taken seriously 

by the Group, thereby to establish appropriate and open communication mechanisms to maintain communication with 

each of them:

Major stakeholders Concerns Communication means

Investors • Transparency of 

information

• Return on investment

• Protection of rights and 

interests

Stakeholder communicat ion i s  ma inta ined in c lose , 

transparent and efficient manner, through periodic investor 

meetings, AGMs, email, investor mailbox and announcements, 

etc..

Customers • Transparency of 

information

• Product quality

• Opinion and complaint 

handling

After-sales service hotlines are set up for customers to express 

their opinions. In case of complaints, the staff of the Service 

Department will properly respond as soon as possible.

Employees • Benefit and compensation

• Equal opportunity

• Health and Safety

Employment and employee benefit systems have been 

formulated. Training is in place to improve employees’ 

awareness on occupational safety and health.

External contractors • Fulfillment of integrity

• Mutual benefit

• Joint development

Open and transparent procurement policies are established 

through email and meetings from time to time to achieve 

mutual benefit with contractors.

Community • Coordinated community 

development

Communication with local governments and residents 

through the Group’s website to understand the needs of the 

community where the business operates.

In 2021, the Group appointed an independent consultancy to conduct stakeholder communication activities and 

materiality analysis, including management interviews, external and internal stakeholders’ survey, in order to understand 

stakeholders’ awareness and vision on ESG.
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The three steps the Group takes to prepare for the materiality assessment:

Step One Identification of Material Issues With reference to the Environmental, Social and Governance 

Reporting Guide issued by HKEX and combining factors such 

as comprehensive company development strategies, industry 

development trends, supervision and capital market requirements 

etc., to identify the economic, environmental and social implications 

of the Group’s business, and potential material issues that may affect 

the assessment and decision-making of stakeholders.

Step Two Determination of Material Issues The Group collects feedbacks from internal and external stakeholders 

through online questionnaire to understand the priorities of each 

stakeholder’s concerns and reviews the potential material issues 

and prioritises them according to their impacts on the Group’s ESG 

development and on the stakeholders to map the matrix.

Step Three Confirmation and Review Management and ESG reporting members are responsible for 

reviewing and confirming the assessment results
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After the communications with stakeholders through questionnaires and on the basis of the materiality matrix, the 

Group identified the following aspects recognised as the key concerns to the Group’s sustainability, which substantially 

impact the sustainability of the Group. The Company will continuously improve the Group’s ESG performance to meet 

the expectation of stakeholders. In the future, the Group will continue and expand stakeholder engagement to enhance 

the materiality analysis, and will collect a diverse range of stakeholders’ views through various activities.

Topics of High Materiality Health and Safety 

Equal Opportunity 

Anti-corruption 

Employee Benefits and Welfare

Training and Development 

Use of Resources

Topics of Moderate Materiality Climate Change 

Product Responsibility 

Community Investment

Supply Chain 

Management 

Environment and Natural Resources

Topics of Less Materiality Emissions

4 ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

Our Objectives

• Monitor various environmental parameters and review production plans regularly to minimise related 

environmental impacts

• Review the Group’s approach to climate change and formulate a sustainable development plan to identify and 

respond to relevant entities and transformational risks and opportunities

The Group undertakes to fully support all the government measures to implement the 14th Five-Year Plan and the 

“carbon neutrality” policy, with a view to contributing to the global climate goals in cooperation with other enterprises 

in China. The Group hopes to optimise the balance between business expansion and environment protection – meets 

the needs of business expansion without compromising our environment. The Group has long been committed to 

environmental protection management projects, requiring external contractors to attain international environmental 

certifications such as the ISO14001 Environmental Management System, adopting the holistic environmental 

assessment, complying with legal and regulatory requirements, inspection of raw materials and chemical substances 

being used, assessment on use of energy resources and safety of environmental facilities, so as to reduce the impact on 

the environment, achieve sustainable development and build a better living environment for the next generation.
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4.1 Pollution Control

In 2021, the Group continued to make its environmental management strategy to focus on tackling different 

environmental challenges, such as climate change, water crisis and pollution, and consumption of natural 

resources. The Group actively responds to the global trend of emission reduction and is committed to avoid 

generating emissions such as exhaust gas, greenhouse gas, sewage and solid waste in its daily operations and to 

seek innovative technologies and new products to enhance environmental performance constantly, so as to To 

fulfill the Group’s responsibilities as a corporate citizen.

The Group strictly abides by laws and regulations related to pollutant emissions in the regions where we 

operate. We adhere strictly to the rules and regulations stated in the “Environmental Protection Law of the 

People’s Republic of China”, “Directory of National Hazardous Wastes” and “Water Law of the People’s Republic 

of China”. With reference to their guidelines, we have implemented a series of environmental protection policies 

and measures, as well as strived for continuous improvement in all areas of environmental protection system. 

We are pleased to report that there was no case of major environmental crisis caused by our business.

In the Zhongshan Factory, we require our external contractors to strictly follow all the rules and regulations 

on environmental protection, and ensure the reduction of emission and pollution on the basis of emission 

compliance while improving the management level of pollution control. We regularly monitor and review our 

contractors to ensure they are in compliance with the requirements on environmental protection.

Exhaust Gas Management

Air pollutants emitted by automobile car vehicles is the main source of pollution caused by the Group. In view of 

this, we regularly arrange for our vehicles to be tested by vehicle inspection centers, in order to ensure that the 

exhaust gas emitted by our vehicles meet safety standards. We seek to control and minimise pollutants emitted.

The diagram below illustrates the amount of air pollutants emitted in 2021. We are glad to report a decrease 

of 11% in air pollution emission from car vehicles, when compared to the amount in 2020, due to the decrease 

in the number of short-haul business trips. In order to reduce the amount of carbon dioxide emission caused by 

automobile care, we have also changed to using public transportation, such as the China High Speed Railway, 

when travelling for long-haul business trip within China.

2021 2020

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) (kg) 36.34 41.02

Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kg) 0.08 0.10

Particulate matters (PM) (kg) 3.48 3.92

Notes:  The calculation was based on the Reporting Guide for Environmental Key Performance Indicators issued by the Stock 

Exchange. Since the entire production process of the Zhongshan Factory has been outsourced and the business nature 

only involves office operations, the data of the Zhongshan Factory and the Beijing Office will no longer be reported in 

separate from this Reporting Period on.
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Reduction in Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group understands that regular review and monitoring of the performance of various greenhouse gas 

emissions sources are essential to assist in the review of the effectiveness of environmental protection measures. 

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions mainly come from the fuel used for driving vehicles and the electricity 

consumed by offices. In an effort to reduce carbon emission caused by unnecessary business travels, the Group 

has taken the following measures:

Business Travel Reduction • Encourages employees to communicate in a green manner, 

for example, to replace long-distance travel for face-to-face 

meetings by video and phone conferences so as to reduce 

travel frequency.

• Zhongshan Factory has more specific requirements for travel 

expenses, which must be approved before implementation to 

avoid unnecessary travel.

Support Procurement from 

 Local Suppliers

• Under situation in compliance with hardware and software 

conditions (such as cost, quality, directives on restrictions 

on the use of certain harmful substances in electrical and 

electronic equipments (RoHS), technology and services, and 

environmental protection, etc.), the Group actively encourages 

external contractors to prioritise the use of products from 

local suppliers as far as possible, with the aim to reduce the 

transportation distance of goods and hence the emissions of 

exhaust gases and greenhouse gases.

Since the energy management measures implemented by the Group have effectively reduced the consumption 

of natural gas and electricity, thereby reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The total greenhouse gas emissions of 

the Group in 2021 reduced by about 20% as compared to 2020.
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The table below sets out the greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity during the Reporting Year 2021:

2021 2020

(tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent)

Direct greenhouse gas emissionsi (Scope 1) 43.32 60.70

Indirect greenhouse gas emissionsii (Scope 2) 152.58 176.24

Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3) 20.94 35.41

Total greenhouse gas emissionsii 216.84 272.35

Greenhouse gas emission intensity 

 (tonnes carbon dioxide equivalent/employee) 1.95 2.48

Notes:

i The calculation was based on the Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, the 

2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, the Fourth Climate Change Assessment Report of 

IPCC (2007), Specification with guidance at the ISO14064-1 organisation level for quantification and reporting of 

greenhouse gas emissions and removals, the 2009 China Energy Statistical Yearbook (《2009中國能源統計年鑒》), the 

2019 Emission Reduction Project China Regional Grid Baseline Emission Factor (《2019年度減排項目中國區域電網基準

線排放因子》).

ii To ensure consistent disclosure of statistics in this Report, the base unit for the calculation of emissions intensity of the 

Beijing Office and the Zhongshan Factory is “number of employees”.

Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions refer to emissions directly from sources owned or controlled by the Group, such as 

vehicles.

Scope 2: Indirect greenhouse gas emissions refer to indirect greenhouse gas emissions caused by external purchase of electricity.

Waste Management

The Group’s four operational locations are all offices, waste generated by these offices can be attributable 

to general waste from office, such as office paper, courier bags and packaging boxes. Due to the business 

characteristics of the office, the Group only generates a small amount of non-hazardous waste, and the impact 

on the overall sustainable development of the Group is very slight. Therefore, no relevant data records have 

been disclosed based on the principle of materiality. There were no hazardous waste generated during the 

operation of each office.

The Group is committed to the adoption of waste and resource management strategies. In addition to 

source management measures for achieving waste reduction, such as minimising the use of raw materials 

and development of green production technologies, the Group separates the waste materials into different 

categories for better waste management, in accordance with the national laws such as the “Prevention and 

Control of Environmental Pollution of Solid Waste” and “Administrative Measures for Urban Living Garbage”, 

in order to implement the waste resource recycling “3R” principle (i.e. Reduction, Reuse and Recycling) for 

reduction of waste treatment cost and seek to achieve the ultimate goal of “fully-classified, zero waste” in the 

area of waste management.
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In addition, the Group has serious concern about its external contractors’ environmental management across 

the product life cycle such as procurement, production and disposal after use, to actively reduce the waste 

volume and fulfil its corporate social responsibilities. Therefore, the Zhongshan Factory also encourages external 

contractors to handle hazardous wastes through legal means. For the disposal of non-hazardous waste, the 

Group continues to actively promote green office operation and encourages employees to implement the 3R 

principle, this facilitates environmental protection becomes self-awareness behavior of employees: (1) Waste 

Reduction (Reduce): print on both sides to reduce consumption of paper; (2) Reuse: reuse waste paper, print on 

the other side of the used paper; and (3) Recycle: proper classification and clean recycling.

4.2 Efficient Use of Resources

As a responsible corporation, the Group always insists on the operation philosophy of “priority in conservation, 

governance at source”. The Group has promoted the use of energy-saving, highly-efficient and environmental-

friendly construction equipment, machinery and office supplies recommended by the countries and the 

industries. Thus, we have implemented appropriate measures to enhance the efficiency of resources utilisation, 

and continuously update the latest environmental news to optimise the existing services, so as to realize the 

promise of avoiding all kinds of pollution caused by production and reducing potential environmental risks.

Energy Conservation

In terms of energy use, the Group’s energy consumption mainly comes from the fuel combustion from car 

vehicles and electricity for our offices. In addition to the above-mentioned measures taken, the Group also 

implements different strategies to save electricity and actively reduce damage to the ecological environment. 

Below are some of our efforts in being environmentally sustainable:

Use of power-saving lighting • The Beijing Office and Zhongshan Factory are using LED 

lighting

Regular check-up and maintenance • Regular repair and maintenance works are conducted for the 

office equipment to keep the equipment in low consumption 

and highly efficient condition.

Promoting Energy Conservation • Regularly educate the employees on and promote energy 

saving practices. All employees are taught to turn off 

electronics that are not in-use or before going off work, in 

order to make energy-saving a habit in their work routine.
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The total energy consumptions of the Group in 2021 are as follows. The energy consumption of all types has 

decreased significantly as compared to 2020, which reflecting the effectiveness of the implementation of the 

energy management measures.

2021 2020

Gasoline consumption by mobile sources (kWh) 47,039.55 59,243.45

Consumption intensity (kWh/employee) 423.78 538.58

Natural gas consumption (kWh) 153,100.09 223,210.13

Consumption intensity (kWh/employee) 1,379.28 2,029.18

Power consumption of facility (kWh) 163,545.39 183,440.34

Consumption intensity (kWh/employee) 1,473.38 1,667.64

Note:  Energy data are converted to kWh with reference to lower calorific values.

Water Conservation and Better Efficiency

The Group has not identified any problem with the applicable water source and has no difficulty in water supply 

during its day-to-day operations. Daily water consumption is accessed through the municipal water supply 

system, and is mainly for the purpose of office and domestic use. There is no self-contained underground 

water or water from other natural sources. In order to protect precious water resources, the Group makes every 

effort to reduce the water resources used in business operations. The Group sticked water-saving labels on the 

conspicuous positions in washroom, canteen and restroom to remind staff of saving water. Should water leakage 

or aging of equipment and accessories be found, timely repair or replacement by dedicated personnel would be 

arranged to reduce water consumption.

The Group’s total water consumptions in 2021 are as follows. The water consumption decreased by 

approximately 10% as compared to 2020, which reflecting the effectiveness of the implementation of the water 

management measures.

2021 2020

Water consumption (cubic metre) 1,989.99 2,286.04

Consumption intensity (cubic metre/employee) 17.93 20.78

Reduction of Packaging Material

The Shenzhen Headquarters, Beijing Office and Zhongshan Factory are only for office operations, so their 

business operations in 2021 were not involved in the production of packaging materials for finished products. 

Nevertheless, the Group still advocates avoiding excessive use of packaging materials and encourages external 

contractors to integrate green packaging concepts into the packaging design process during the product 

development stage. This minimised the impacts of the products on the environment throughout their life 

cycles. At the same time, the Group tends to accord priority to the production technologies featuring less 

environmental pollution and less waste generation at the process of material sourcing while actively improves to 

reduce pollution from wastes as well as consumption of energy and resource.
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4.3 Green Operation

In order to fulfill its due corporate social responsibilities, the Group has formulated green office policies and 

management measures, and actively integrated environmental responsibility into its daily operations to reduce 

the impacts on the environment and the consumption of natural resources, thereby promoting the concept of 

environmental protection amongst various aspects of the supply chain.

Environmental Management

A comprehensive environmental management system is the cornerstone for the Group to practice green 

development. In addition to strictly abiding by environmental laws and regulations, the Group is also committed 

to promoting green operations and development. The Group actively encourages close cooperation with 

external contractors to promote the environmental awareness, and requires the external contractors to fully 

formulate and complete assessment of the ISO 9001 Quality Management System and ISO 14001 Environmental 

Management System based on their actual operating conditions. Through effective enforcement and 

implementation, this jointly achieved the Group’s sustainable development goals.

Paperless Office

The Group is also highly concerned about resources consumption in offices and ensures minimal environmental 

impact from its operations. The Group continued to actively promote green office operation and encouraged 

employees to implement the 3R principle, this facilitates environmental protection to become self-awareness 

behavior of employees. (1) Waste Reduction (Reduce): print on both sides to reduce consumption of paper, use 

energy-saving office equipment, and carry out environmentally friendly procurement; (2) Reuse: reuse waste 

paper, print on the other side of the used paper; and (3) Recycle: proper classification and clean recycling. 

In daily operation, the enhanced use of electronic files was advocated and the printed files were replaced by 

computer files. This also includes the use of the CloudHub OA electronic approval system for maximizing the 

paperless office implementation and resources sharing to reduce the use of printed files.

In addition, the Shenzhen Headquarters, Beijing Office and Hong Kong Office would plant small pots in the 

office to help clean the air and make the office green. The Group issues energy conservation notices from time 

to time in the office to raise employees’ concern on environmental protection, and posts slogans in prominent 

places to remind them to save energy, such as turning off the lights and computers in their responsible areas 

before getting off duty.

Promoting Environmental Awareness

The Group always commits itself to environmental protection and education in its supply chain. To ensure that 

employees implement the Group’s environmental protection philosophy in their daily work, all new employees 

will go through the training in environmental protection. In addition, the Group also encourages employees to 

actively participate in designing of various energy conservation and energy consumption reduction programmes, 

with an aim of enhancing all employees’ environmental protection awareness.
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Ecological Conservation

The Group supports environmental protection, including protecting biodiversity, minimizing our carbon footprint, 

as well as building an awareness of climate change. From the day the Group is found, we committed strictly to 

“say no to shark’s fins”. All meals gathering organised by the Group does not include any dishes with shark’s 

fins.

4.4 Climate Change

In the context of the global crisis of climate change, how companies supporting the people’s livelihood and the 

economy being affected by climate change comes to a key question nowadays. Therefore, the Group assesses 

and reviews regularly the risk that climate changes brings to our business. We seek to reduce the physical and 

transition risks climate change might bring, and adopt suitable practices to deal with the potential financial 

risks.

Type of Risk Description of the Risk Risk Response Measures

Physical risks One of our major operational locations, 

the Zhongshan Factory, is more susceptible 

to typhoons.

The Group checks the window condition regularly. 

Before typhoons, the Group will keep the windows 

closed and follow the instructions announced by 

local government, to ensure suitable precautionary 

measures are taken.

Policies and laws E n v i r o n m e n t a l  r e l a t e d  r e g u l a t o r y 

requirements in operations, products and 

services have been tightening, leading to 

increasing operating costs, including costs 

of compliance and product development 

costs.

The Group’s has implemented a number of energy-

saving and emission-reduction measures, as well 

as fully complied with all environmental-related 

laws and regulations in the past. Moving forward, 

the Group will set up in identifying latest laws, 

regulations, relevant policies and standards, update 

and revise internal systems and standards in a timely 

manner, in order to improve the level of energy 

conservation and emission reduction as well as 

reduce the environmental impact while complying 

with regulat ions and maintaining production 

capacity.

Long-term Risks Cer ta in  c l imate  changes  such a s  a 

reduction in annual rainfall precipitation, 

adverse weather conditions and novel 

virus, that could have led to an adverse 

effect on employees’ health and office 

hour mode. This results in a raise in the 

cost of medical provisions for employees 

and further arrangements need to be made 

to adjust working timetables.

In response to the Covid-19 cr is is , we have 

implemented policies to ensure the health and safety 

of our employees. This includes allowing for flexible 

working hours during pandemic. Additionally, we 

also provide our employees with protective gears, 

such as masks, alcoholic disinfectants and Covid-19 

antigen rapid test kit.
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5 GROWING TOGETHER

Our Objectives

• Provide employees with adequate support, strengthen good relations with employees

• Foster an environment for continuous learning and encourage employees to develop their careers in the 

Company

• Respect the labour rights and human rights of all employees, maintain high ethical standards, clearly specify 

human resources management policies, and promote an inclusive culture within the Company

• Promote healthy and safe workplaces, ensure zero fatal accidents in our workplaces

The success of our business depends on the untiring efforts and dedicated service of all employees. The Group 

understands that the recruitment, retention and cultivation of talents can help maintain its market competitiveness. The 

Group has formulated a series of employment policies to ensure that employees are treated in a fair and reasonable 

manner. The Group undertakes to take good care of our employees and encourage suppliers to fulfill their corporate 

social responsibility.

5.1 Our Team

The Group has always been aiming for “An Excellent Employer” and committed to providing our employees 

with a harmonious and safe working environment where each of them will be respected. The Group has also 

arranged training courses and provided career development opportunities to its employees as appropriate so 

that they can pursue excellence at work. Besides, we review and improve relevant policies on a regular basis 

to ensure that we comply with local laws and industry standards. All of our human resources policies are 

formulated in strict compliance with relevant labour laws in Hong Kong and Mainland China, including the 

“Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong” and “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with applicable local laws and regulations on compensation, 

recruitment, promotion, dismissal, working hours, holidays, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, 

benefits and welfare, child labour and forced labour. And there were no major employee or labour disputes that 

disrupted our normal business operations, nor was the Group subject to any punishment for violating applicable 

laws and regulations.
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The following table indicates the number of the Group’s employees and its distribution during the year:

Group wide

Gender

 Male 81

 Female 52

Employee age

 18 – 24 5

 25 – 34 36

 35 – 44 47

 45 – 54 37

 55 – 64 8

 > 65 0

Region

 Mainland China 112

 Hong Kong, the PRC 18

 Elsewhere 3

Employment category

 Full-time 133

 Part-time 0

 Temporary 0

Note:  The calculation was based on the Reporting Guide for Social Key Performance Indicators issued by the Stock Exchange

The Group’s monthly average turnover rate for the Reporting Year was 1.63%. The table below indicates the 

Group’s monthly average turnover rate for each employment category during the year:

Turnover Rate (Monthly Average) Group wide

Gender

 Male 1.75%

 Female 1.44%

Employee age

 18 – 24 3.33%

 25 – 34 1.90%

 35 – 44 0.71%

 45 – 54 2.08%

 55 – 64 2.08%

 > 65 0.00%

Region

 Mainland China 1.34%

 Hong Kong, the PRC 3.24%

 Elsewhere 2.78%

Note:  The calculation was based on the Reporting Guide for Social Key Performance Indicators issued by the Stock Exchange



53 2021 Annual Report

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

5.2 Fair Employment

The Group ensures full respect for the employees and understands the key to developing their value is 

meeting employee’s needs for health, safety, development and work-life balance. Starting from recruitment, 

we continuously standardize and improve our employment measures based on local laws and regulations, and 

create a working environment with equal opportunity, employee diversity and compliance, thereby safeguarding 

the rights and interests of employees. The Group strictly abides by the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of 

China”, “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and “Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong”, 

and treat every employee with respect and fairness.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Inclusion

The Group is committed to creating an inclusive and non-discriminatory workplace, providing equal opportunities 

for all employees regardless of gender, age, nationality, religion, sexual orientation or physical fitness, and giving 

fair consideration to all job applicants. The relevant systems and methods of the Group such as “Management 

Regulations on Prohibiting Discrimination” and “Human Resources Management Procedures” are developed 

according to the “Labour Law of the PRC”, the “Labour Contract Law of the PRC” and the “Employment 

Ordinance of Hong Kong”. We follow the principles of fairness, equality, and openness to employ outstanding 

talents through a variety of methods. Moreover, the Group treats all employees equally and consideration for 

issues such as employment, salary, welfare, bonus, promotion and dismissal are solely based on their education 

background, professional qualifications and competence. We will not discriminate against employees on 

the grounds of race, skin colour, social status, place of birth, nationality, religion, disability, gender, sexual 

orientation, trade union membership, political position or age.

Focusing on employees’ development needs and career planning on a continuous basis, the Group has 

established a performance assessment system and promotion mechanism integrating training, thereby building 

a sound career platform for employees and creating a virtuous cycle of personnel cultivation, use and selection, 

which in turn lays a sound foundation and provides sufficient motivation for the sustainable development of the 

Group and the self-growth of employees.

Protection of rights and interests

The Group continually reforms and improves its employee compensation policy and system. The Group will enter 

into employment contract with employees in accordance with the local laws and regulations to protect their 

legal rights and interests, formulate medical insurance policies and ensure minimum wages in compliance with 

stipulated standards. Employees are entitled to paid holiday, sick leave, work-related injury leave and maternal 

leave, etc. as required by the laws.

The Group has developed a comprehensive annual salary review mechanism. The Group considers the research 

result for salary review in job market in addition to the business performance, employee’s duties and their 

annual performance appraisals for appropriate adjustment for remuneration, to provide employees with fair and 

competitive remuneration packages.
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The Group has formulated relevant employee benefits in accordance with the “Social Insurance Law of the 

People’s Republic of China” and the “Occupational Injury Insurance Regulations” and other standards. The 

Group not only makes contribution to medical insurance for employees and provides them with statutory leave 

and vacation in addition to those required by the law, but also the paternity and maternity leaves which is 

beyond the law. The Beijing Headquarters offers five types of social insurances and one housing fund, namely, 

pension insurance, medical insurance, work injury insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and 

housing provident fund.

In the meanwhile, the Group has also established a rigorous and prudent dismissal process in accordance 

with national laws and regulations. The Group may terminate employment contract with an employee who 

involves in serious dereliction of duty or severe violation of national laws and regulations or the Group’s rules 

and regulations, in that case, the Group will initiate compensation and retirement procedures (including the 

payment of compensation, indemnity and planned retirement arrangements) in accordance with the “Labour 

Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Employees’ 

Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong” as well as other relevant laws and regulations.

Employee communication

The Group understands that cohesion among employees is a key driving force for corporate development, and 

good communication channels with employees serve as the cornerstone of the Group’s operations. Accordingly, 

the Group has set up channels to collect employees’ views, and actively listen to their opinions and suggestions. 

Employees can also express their opinions on the Group through existing opinion box, email, phone, WeChat 

and other channels. We take timely measures in response to matters of high concern to employees to protect 

their interests.

5.3 Management of Occupational Safety and Health

The Group attaches great importance to safety and actively takes effective measures to reduce safety risks. The 

Group has formulated a set of suitable safety management plan which covers hazard identification and risk 

assessment and control, etc., in accordance with the laws and regulations, such as the “Production Safety Law 

of the People’s Republic of China”, “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment of 

Occupational Diseases” and “Fire Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”, so as to reduce and control 

potential occupational safety and health hazards in business operations.

During the Year, the Group had complied with the regulatory requirements for workplace safety in China. The 

Group had not suffered any accident or complaint that had a material adverse effect on our operations, nor was 

the Group subject to any punishment for violating applicable laws and regulations.



55 2021 Annual Report

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Responding to Risks of Epidemic Outbreaks

The Group has been on the “strict internal control and external prevention” strategic direction to protect 

the health and safety of our employees. The Group has strictly implemented the inspection and isolation of 

employees’ who show symptoms and require all the personnel entering the factories and offices to wear 

masks, measure the body temperatures and show health code. Close contact with any infected person must 

be placed in quarantine and get nucleic acid tests. In addition, there are also people responsible for cleaning 

dormitories every day and regularly disinfecting the environment and facilities. The Group has purchased masks 

and distributed to employees who work at the Hong Kong office, arranges flexible working hours and provides 

employees with disinfecting products. Also, we encourage employees to participate in the Universal Testing.

Health Protection

To allow employees to focus on work, in addition to providing various insurance and benefits as well 

as retirement funds in accordance with the laws, the Group also subsidises employees each year to visit 

professional health check-up centres for medical examinations and provides them with medical insurance, that 

safeguards employees’ safety on their work and life.

Safety Management of Workplace

The Group attaches great importance to workplace safety, and includes the internal requirements as follows 

with reference to the “Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Fire Protection Law of the 

People’s Republic of China” and the “Fire Services Ordinance of Hong Kong”:

1. The layout of the workplace should be reasonable, kept clean and tidy;

2. The aisles should be flat and unblocked, lighting should be adequate; and

3. Fire facilities must be installed and fire extinguishers must be put in the workplace.

Security Awareness Training

The Group has formulated appropriate training guidelines, which facilitates the provision of appropriate 

training to employees, including information such as occupational health knowledge and cases, introduction 

of fire evacuation routes, these familiarise employees with escape routes in emergency situations. The Group 

employs a variety of communication channels, such as notice board and corporate social networks, to promote 

occupational safety among its employees. These channels can also be used to issue accident warnings to 

business teams, so as to facilitate our employees to acquire necessary information on health, safety and 

environmental protection in an efficient manner. We collect health and safety information regularly, and display 

such information in intranet or send it to employees via email for their reference, so as to create a safe working 

environment for our employees.

There was no work-related fatality in the past three years and no work injury last year, that demonstrate the 

Group’s achievements in actively promoting occupational health and safety.
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5.4 Nurturing Talent

In a society where technology is developing rapidly, the Group believes that acquisition of new knowledge 

and technology can enable the Group to maintain its competitiveness. Therefore, the Group encourages its 

employees to be lifelong learner to grow together with the Group and foster a continuous learning culture to 

enhance the value of teams and the professionalism of employees, thus helping the Group sustain its success. 

The Group offers comprehensive employee development and training programmes to increase employees’ 

knowledge in operational and safety practices, provides promotion opportunities and fosters employee loyalty, 

thereby consolidating the foundation for the sustainable development of the Group.

Induction Training

In order to speed up the adaptation of new employees, they are provided with induction training from the 

human resources department when joining the Group. The training is mainly to help them understand the 

Company’s development history, corporate culture, business philosophy, rules and regulations, basic business 

knowledge, safety rules, welfare system, and other basics, in order to enhance their understanding of the 

Company, their position and working environment.

Vocational Skills Training

In an effort to build a professional and technical team, the Group actively provides employees with adequate 

career development opportunities, so as to improve their professional knowledge, skills and capabilities. The 

Group encourages and subsidises its employees to attend external courses, such as professional qualification 

trainings, workshops or seminars, in order to strengthen the overall professionalism and individual calibre of 

employees, and help competent employees to pursue excellence and grow together with the Company.

The percentage of full-time employees of the Group trained in the Reporting Year are as follows:

Percentage of different category of employees trained Percentage (%)

Gender

 Male 35%

 Female 65%

Employee Category

 Senior Management 0%

 Middle Management 20%

 Supervisors 30%

 General staff 50%

Note:  The calculation was based on the Reporting Guide for Social Key Performance Indicators issued by the Stock Exchange
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The average training hours completed per full-time employee of the Group in the Reporting Year are as follows:

Average 

training hours 

(hours)

Gender

 Male 0.77

 Female 2.24

Employee Category

 Senior Management 0

 Middle Management 3.33

 Supervisors 3.16

 General staff 0.96

5.5 Labour Standards

In accordance with the “Hong Kong Employment Ordinance” and “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of 

China”, the Group strictly prohibits any forms of forced labour or forced overtime working. During the Year, the 

Group has not identified any cases related to child and forced labor. In the event of non-compliance, the Group 

will report to the law enforcement agency for handling.

Child Labour Prevention

Pursuant to related systems and methods issued including “Management Regulations on Child Labour” and 

“Underage Worker and Human Resources Management Procedures”, the Group strictly prohibits the recruitment 

of child labour. In accordance with the “Regulations of the PRC on Special Protection of Under-age Workers” 

and the “Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong”, as well as the corresponding laws and regulations in various 

overseas regions, the Group would verify the identity certificates of applicants in various stages such as 

employee recruitment, on-the-job approval, and on-duty reporting, so as to ensure the age and nationality the 

applicants provide is correct.

Forced Labour Prevention

During the processes of staff employment, the Group respects the rights of job selection of each employee 

regarding the freedom of employment, resignation, overtime work, and movement, etc. in accordance with the 

“Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the “Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong”. 

The employment contracts of the Group comply with the requirements of local laws and regulations, specify 

the rights and responsibilities of both parties, protect employees’ due rights, prohibit any form of forced labour, 

ensure that all employees work on a voluntary basis, and prohibit the use of any labour or contract labour, 

corporal punishment, imprisonment, or threats of violence.
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6 OPERATION COMMITMENT

Our Objectives

• Comply with the policies and codes established by the Company. Report the case in a transparent way and take 

early corrective measures if necessary.

• Conduct business with integrity, comply with all relevant and applicable laws and regulations within its 

operational frameworks.

• Innovative product design to enhance user experience with improved quality, safety and environmental/health 

benefits.

• Comply with all applicable regulations on data protection and cybersecurity and minimise the risk of business 

disruption from cyberattacks.

• Suppliers are required to comply with all aspects of the Group’s environmental standards, including work 

processes, products or services, child labor, basic human rights, working conditions, compensation, occupational 

health and safety, and business ethics.

• Only cooperate with suppliers and business partners who adhere to the requirements of the Group.

The Group is dedicated to becoming the most trusted and respected enterprise and a moral leader in the industry. 

The Group provides products and services in a fair and responsible manner, and expand our business on the basis 

of compliance with laws and regulations, being people-oriented, integrity and business ethics, and environmental 

protection. We observe the highest quality and safety standards to provide customers with high-quality and reliable 

products and services, and insist on innovation and customization, thus winning the long-term trust of customers to the 

Group. In addition, its suppliers uphold the Group’s sustainability philosophy is also an integral part of the realization of 

our vision.

6.1 Supply Chain Management

A reliable partnership with supplier is an important element for the steady development of the Group’s business. 

Supplier is one of the major stakeholders who contributes to business value recreation, with tight bonding with 

us. The Group always strives to build up strong relationships with its suppliers. In order to promote suppliers’ 

business and cooperation, the Group develops a flexible procurement work process standard to meet the 

different needs of the supply chain.

Appointment of Contractor

The Group has a well-established supplier admission process to ensure a level playing field for all potential 

contractors and provide them with equal opportunities. Before the engagement of suppliers, a series of audits 

would be conducted to assess their quality, environment and safety performance comprehensively. The Group 

will also review and assess the standard of materials provided by our suppliers regularly. Suppliers who fail to 

meet our standards will be removed from our list of recognised suppliers.
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External Contractor Management

The Group attaches great importance to the safety of all external contractors’ operators. For outsourced 

business, the Group requires that its external contractors must strengthen monitoring and management, and 

recommends that they establish relevant safety management practices and appoint dedicated supervisors. 

Through providing safety training and safety inspections periodically, messages of safety issues and potential 

hazards can be communicated properly with external contractors. It also supervises and assists them to enhance 

safety performance for effective implementation of safety management work.

In terms of product assurance, the Zhongshan Factory of the Group will use different agreements to control the 

product quality delivered by each external contractor, such as the most commonly used RoHS Agreement. At the 

same time, the Group requires that external contractors must pass the certification assessment related to ISO 

9001 and ISO 14001, which ensure that their management system and environmental protection policies are up 

to standard and are in line with the Group’s sustainable development goals.

The abovementioned requirements govern the external contractors in different aspects for reducing the supply 

chain risks, with the aim to assure final products not only meeting the requirements of laws and regulations, but 

also satisfying the needs of customers.

Sustainable Supply Chain

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group will join hands with its contractors to mitigate environmental 

and social impacts that induced by business operations. In order to reduce the carbon emissions and energy 

consumption due to the transportation, the Group will encourage its employees to prioritise in selecting local 

suppliers if they are qualified for the Group’s software and hardware conditions. When local suppliers are 

selected, we also adopt a centralised approach to arrange as few deliveries as possible, and optimise delivery 

plans to reduce exhaust emissions during transportation. When it is necessary to acquire or upgrade operating 

equipment, we will make reference to the information on the energy label to select energy-efficient models as 

far as possible in order to achieve better energy management efficiency.

In addition, we incorporate sustainability considerations into our procurement and outsourcing process and 

require suppliers to meet basic standards. For example, all suppliers are required to abide by the sustainability 

principles, and to ensure that their full-time and temporary employees, suppliers and sub-supplier’s confirm and 

comply with the requirements of the relevant policies.
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6.2 Product Responsibility

The Group is highly aware of improving the health and safety performance of products and services is crucial 

to the long-term business development. In countries where the products are being produced by our external 

contractors and sold by us, the Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations and assures the external 

contractors do the same, such as the “Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Special 

Equipment Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the regulations in the regions where the 

customers located. This assures the products of the Group meet the legal requirements of the business areas 

and needs of the customers, and hence the delivery of high- quality products to the customers.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any major product quality problems that caused health and 

safety incidents or led to any fines, product recall orders or other penalties imposed by the Chinese government 

or other regulatory authorities.

Quality Management

The Group strictly monitors product quality. Throughout the process from the input of raw materials to the 

shipment of products, employees would be appointed to the relevant external contractor’s factories to perform 

quality control for assuring the quality standards of the products. The Group also requires external contractors’ 

operators to be cautious during the production process for preventing shipment of sub-standard products. 

Employees of the Group would carry out incoming materials inspection in accordance with “Management 

Regulations on Routine Inspection and Verification Inspection” for assuring all specified parts and components 

provided by external contractors in compliance with international and local standards before mass production. 

Through after- sales service quality management, the Group has won the trust of customers and assures that 

products meet customer expectations.

Quality services

Customer satisfaction is the key to the success of the Group. The Group strives to improve our business 

performance in all aspects to exceed customer expectations. The Group provides free maintenance services for 

13 months to 36 months after the product is sold, and conducts 24-hour service follow-up during the warranty 

period. There was no any product subject to recalls for health and safety reasons and no any complaint about 

products and services during the Year.
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Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group understands that the intellectual property rights of all products and production technologies 

developed by the Group are the intangible assets of the Group, which considered significant to its business 

operation. The Group relies upon relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Patent Law and 

the Trademark Law, as well as R&D agreements entered into between the Group and its employees, to protect 

our intellectual property. According to the “Non-Disclosure Agreement” entered into between the Group and 

the employees, employees are not allowed for plagiarism during and after their employment. They are required 

to maintain confidentiality of the Group’s technology and trade secrets.

Fair business practices

The Group encourages the use of good promotion practices, and forbids any description, claim or explanation 

inconsistent with the facts in advertisements. The Group also formulates its sales and promotion documents in 

accordance with relevant laws and codes of practice to ensure that its promotional materials and advertising 

content are true, fair and reasonable and not misleading, so as to protect the rights and interests of consumers. 

Such obligations of our employees are mandatory and legally binding. We also lay emphasis on product 

promotion, and ensure that all product advertisements and promotional materials are reviewed and free of 

misstatement, so that our customers can make informed purchase decisions.

Customer Data Protection

Given the importance of protecting customer data, the Group strictly manages and keeps confidential 

information and documents related to customer intellectual property, in accordance with the requirements 

of the internally issued “Non-Disclosure Agreement”. Confidential documents are managed and stored by a 

designated department. Without permission, employees are not allowed to copy or save them in private, nor 

take them away from the company’s premises.

During the Year, the Group complied with all applicable local laws and regulations on advertising and labeling of 

products and services and privacy.
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6.3 Moral Integrity and Anti-Corruption

To enhance corporate governance, the Group implements internal control and audit supervision to reduce 

operating risks. The Group has established an internal audit system in accordance with relevant regulations, 

laws and internal rules such as the “Audit Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Fundamental Management 

System under Regulations of the Auditing Department regarding Internal Audit Work” and the “Prevention 

of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong”. Internal audit is an independent consultation, evaluation, control and 

supervision activity carried out within the Group. Through systematic and standardised methods, the Group 

reviews and evaluates within various departments their operating activities and target achievement, the 

establishment and implementation of internal control, the utilisation of resources, etc.. It also provides relevant 

analysis, recommendations and assistance supervising the management personnel to perform their duties in due 

diligence.

The Group engages a third-party auditing firm to conduct audit, such as financial audit. The independent 

agency could effectively audit the internal financial records of the Group for verifying them in compliance with 

the financial requirements of relevant legislations, including authenticity and evidence proving that the Group’s 

operations are true and impartial. In addition, the Group has always been committed to the core values of fair 

trade and operating with integrity. The Group also has a whistle-blowing policy that allows employees and other 

stakeholders to report any suspicious misconduct or illegal activities to the Group in a confidential manner. It will 

ensure that the information of the whistle-blower is kept confidential. If there is any violation of the company’s 

policies, the company will be punished according to the company’s disciplinary system. Any corruption and 

illegal activities will be passed to the judicial authorities for handling in accordance with the law.

During the year, the Group disseminated information on anti-corruption and bribery policies, whistle-blowing 

policies, corporate integrity management, employee ethics training and practical guidelines for listed companies’ 

anti-corruption systems to employees and directors respectively.

The Group values highly on the integrity of our business engagements. We follow strictly the rules and 

regulations in the “Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China” and all ordinances against 

bribery, extortion or blackmailing, fraud and money-laundering. We report no case of any of the above illegal 

business practices during the year.
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7 GIVING BACK TO THE SOCIETY

Our Objectives

• Cooperate with local charities to support the vulnerable groups and those in need

• Provide job and training opportunities for young people

The Group deeply understand that as a corporate citizen, it must fulfil its obligations and make contributions to the 

communities we serve. The Group welcomes any community groups with similar concept of corporate responsibility with 

the Group to keep in touch with us, so that the Group can understand the needs of the community.

7.1 Close Liaison

During the year, the Group did not formulate any policy on charitable donations, but it would actively focus 

on the potential impacts of its operations that may have on local economies, environment, and society, and 

also exert its own influence, resources and technological advantages for driving local employment and instilling 

positive energy to the local communities. During the year, the Group’s charity and environmental protection 

activities were restricted due to the epidemic. In the future, the Group will actively seek opportunities to 

contribute to the community.

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

A Environmental Section

Aspect A.1 Emissions 4.1 Pollution control

KPI A.1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 4.1 Pollution control

KPI A.1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse 

gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity  

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

4.1 Pollution control

KPI A.1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,  

per facility).

4.1 Pollution control

KPI A.1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,  

per facility).

4.1 Pollution control

KPI A.1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to 

achieve them.

4.1 Pollution control

KPI A.1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes 

are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and 

steps taken to achieve them.

4.1 Pollution control
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A Environmental Section

Aspect A.2 Use of Resources 4.2. Proper Use of 

Resources

KPI A.2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type  

(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and 

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

4.2. Proper Use of 

Resources

KPI A.2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of 

production volume, per facility).

4.2. Proper Use of 

Resources

KPI A.2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps 

taken to achieve them.

4.2. Proper Use of 

Resources

KPI A.2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water 

that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps 

taken to achieve them.

4.2. Proper Use of 

Resources

KPI A.2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products  

(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit 

produced.

4.2. Proper Use of 

Resources

Aspect A.3 The Environment and Natural Resources 4.3. Green Operation

KPI A.3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to 

manage them.

No incidents which have a 

significant impact on the 

environment and natural 

resources during the year

Aspect A.4 Climate Change 4.4. Climate Change

KPI A.4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which 

have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and 

the actions taken to manage them.

4.4. Climate Change
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B Social Section

Aspect B.1 Employment 5.2 Fair Employment

KPI B.1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, 

full-or part-time), age group and geographical region.

5.2 Fair Employment

KPI B.1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and 

geographical region.

5.2 Fair Employment

Aspect B.2 Health and Safety 5.3 Occupational Safety 

and Health Management

KPI B.2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each 

of the past three years including the reporting year.

No work-related fatalities 

in the past three years 

including the reporting year

KPI B.2.2 Lost days due to work injury. No working days lost due to 

work-related injuries during 

the reporting period

KPI B.2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures 

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

5.3 Occupational Safety 

and Health Management

Aspect B.3 Development and Training 5.4 Nurturing Talent

KPI B.3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and 

employee category (e.g. senior management, middle 

management).

5.4 Nurturing Talent

KPI B.3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by 

gender and employee category.

5.4 Nurturing Talent

Aspect B.4 Labour Standards 5.5 Labour Standards

KPI B.4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to 

avoid child and forced labour.

5.5 Labour Standards

KPI B.4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 

discovered.

No case of violation during 

the year
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B Social Section

Aspect B.5 Supply Chain Management 6.1 Supply Chain 

Management

KPI B.5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 6.1 Supply Chain 

Management

KPI B.5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 

number of suppliers where the practices are being 

implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.

6.1 Supply Chain 

Management

KPI B.5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 

and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are 

implemented and monitored.

6.1 Supply Chain 

Management

KPI B.5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, 

and how they are implemented and monitored.

6.1 Supply Chain 

Management

Aspect B.6 Product Responsibility 6.2 Product Responsibility

KPI B.6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to 

recalls for safety and health reasons.

No products were recalled 

for safety and health 

reasons during the year

KPI B.6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received 

and how they are dealt with.

No complaints due to 

quality problems during the 

year

KPI B.6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 

intellectual property rights.

6.2 Product Responsibility

KPI B.6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 

procedures.

6.2 Product Responsibility

KPI B.6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 

how they are implemented and monitored.

6.2 Product Responsibility

Aspect B.7 Anti-Corruption 6.3 Moral Integrity and 

Anti-corruption

KPI B.7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 

brought against the issuer or its employees during the 

reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

No corruption lawsuits 

during the year

KPI B.7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

6.3 Moral Integrity and 

Anti-corruption

KPI B.7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors 

and staff.

6.3 Moral Integrity and 

Anti-corruption

Aspect B.8 Community Investment 7.1. Close Liaison

KPI B.8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

7.1. Close Liaison

KPI B.8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 7.1. Close Liaison
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42nd Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong 
香港灣仔港灣道18號中環廣場42樓
Tel 電話: (852) 2909 5555
Fax 傳真: (852) 2810 0032
Email 電郵: info@mazars.hk
Website 網址: www.mazars.hk

中審眾環（香港）會計師事務所有限公司

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

YUXING INFOTECH INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 171, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 

31 December 2021, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) 

and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2021, investment propert ies held 

by the Group were stated at fair value of approximately 

HK$91,793,000.

Signif icant est imation and judgement are required by 

management to determine the fair value of the investment 

properties which is significant to the consolidated financial 

statements, inc luding the determinat ion of valuat ion 

techniques and the selection of financial inputs in the model. 

Therefore, it is considered as key audit matter. Management 

has engaged independent professional valuers whose work 

has been relied on in the estimation of the fair value of the 

investment properties.

Relevant disclosures are made in notes 2(f), 4, 7 and 17 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures in relation to management’s estimation 

of the fair value of investment properties included:

– U n d e r s t a n d i n g ,  e v a l u a t i n g  a n d  v a l i d a t i n g 

management’s key controls over the fair value 

assessment process;

– Eva luat ing the competence, capabi l i t ies and 

objectivity of the valuers;

– Assessing the appropriateness of the work of 

the valuers by making enquiries on the bases of 

valuation and obtaining corroborative evidence on 

the input data; and

– Considering the relevance and reasonableness of key 

assumptions and methods used, and the relevance 

and accuracy of the source data used.
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment in respect of loans receivable

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had loans receivable 

amounting to approximately HK$176,402,000. Loss allowance 

for expected credit losses (“ECL”) amounting to approximately 

HK$59,808,000 has been provided on loans receivable.

Management est imates the l i fet ime or 12-month loss 

allowances for loans receivable based on internal credit rating 

which reflect credit risk characteristics with reference to the 

credit loss experience, ageing of overdue receivables, debtors’ 

repayment history and financial position and an assessment of 

both the current and forecast general economic conditions.

Significant degree of management judgement was involved 

in evaluating the ECL of the Group’s loans receivable as at 

31 December 2021. Management has engaged independent 

professional valuer whose work has been relied on in the 

estimation of the ECL of loans receivable.

Relevant disclosures are made in notes 2(i), 4, 6(a) and 25 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures in relation to management’s impairment 

assessment on loans receivable included:

– Reviewing and testing the Group’s credit control 

policy over grant and extension of loans and 

monitoring of principal and interest repayments 

according to the terms as stipulated in the loan 

agreements;

– Understanding and assessing the appropriateness of 

management’s methodology for identifying internal 

credit rating of loans receivable which reflect the 

credit risk characteristics;

– Eva luat ing the competence, capabi l i t ies and 

objectivity of the professional valuer;

– Eva luat ing va luer ’s  bas i s  and judgement in 

determining ECL on loans receivable, including their 

identification of credit-impaired loans receivable, 

assessment of significant increase in credit risk on 

loans receivable and the basis of estimated loss rates 

applied on each debtor;

– Examining the information used by the professional 

valuer to form such judgements, including testing 

the accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating 

whether the historical loss rates are appropriately 

adjusted based on current conditions and forward-

looking information; and

– Assessing the expected future cash flows, including 

assumptions in respect of the realisable value of 

collaterals.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: (Continued)

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

As at 31 December 2021, the hash-rate capacity for 

cryptocurrencies mining with finite useful lives held by the 

Group were classified as intangible assets with carrying 

amount of approximately HK$87,907,000 (net of accumulated 

amortisation).

For the purpose of performing impairment assessment, the 

recoverable amount of the intangible assets was estimated 

based on the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal or its 

value in use. The recoverable amount of the intangible assets 

was determined by value-in-use calculation which was based 

on future discounted cash flows. Management concluded that 

the intangible assets were not impaired as at 31 December 

2021.

In the impairment assessment, significant judgement and 

estimation by management were involved, including the 

estimated market value and quantity of cryptocurrencies 

generated from cryptocurrencies mining and discount rate 

applied to the future discounted cash flows. These estimation 

and judgement may be affected by unexpected changes 

in future market or economic conditions or discount rates 

applied. 

Relevant disclosures are made in notes 2(h), 4 and 20 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures in relation to management’s impairment 

assessment on intangible assets included:

– U n d e r s t a n d i n g ,  e v a l u a t i n g  a n d  v a l i d a t i n g 

management’s key controls over the impairment 

assessment process;

– Assessing the value-in-use calculation’s assumptions 

and methodologies used by management;

– Considering the relevance and reasonableness of key 

assumptions and methods used, and the relevance 

and accuracy of the source data used, including 

management’s expected future cash flows, discount 

rate and growth rates;

– Reviewing the sensitivity analysis performed by 

management on the key assumptions and testing 

independently those assumptions to which the 

outcome of the impairment assessment is more 

sensitive; and

– Ver i fy ing the mathemat ica l  accuracy of the 

discounted cash flow model used in the value-in-use 

calculation.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the 2021 Annual Report of the Company but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 

fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and 

for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report 

is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other 

purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 

internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 

concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 

in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is:

Eunice Y M Kwok

Practising Certificate number: P04604
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2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 9 171,682 307,378

Cost of sales (137,868) (256,056)

Gross profit 33,814 51,322

Other revenue and net (loss)/income 9 (76,612) 66,463

Distribution and selling expenses (7,597) (9,076)

General and administrative expenses (106,285) (72,056)

Other operating expenses (2,284) (2,901)

Net changes in fair value of investment properties 17 (2,669) (4,408)

Loss allowance on loans receivable 6(a) (59,065) –

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 29 55,300 1,015

(Loss)/Profit from operations 10 (165,398) 30,359

Finance costs 13 (3,612) (3,129)

(Loss)/Profit before tax (169,010) 27,230

Income tax expenses 14 (4,051) (5,808)

(Loss)/Profit for the year (173,061) 21,422

(Loss)/Profit attributable to:

 Owners of the Company (172,495) 21,914

 Non-controlling interests (566) (492)

(173,061) 21,422

HK$ HK$

(Loss)/Earnings per share 16

 – Basic (0.07) 0.01

 – Diluted (0.07) 0.01
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2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/Profit for the year (173,061) 21,422

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:

Items that are reclassified or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

 Exchange differences arising on translation of the PRC subsidiaries 21,002 46,152

 Release of translation reserves upon disposal of subsidiaries (13,012) (1,015)

Total other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) 7,990 45,137

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (165,071) 66,559

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:

 Owners of the Company (164,505) 67,051

 Non-controlling interests (566) (492)

(165,071) 66,559
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investment properties 17 91,793 455,912
Property, plant and equipment 18 798,934 751,668
Right-of-use assets 19 86,302 86,714
Intangible assets 20 87,907 –
Deposits paid 26 89,702 1,506
Prepayment for construction 26 1,104 38,158
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 102,169 365,835

1,257,911 1,699,793

CURRENT ASSETS
Cryptocurrencies 23 20,969 –
Inventories 24 15,466 11,203
Loans receivable 25 176,402 251,026
Trade and other receivables 26 540,320 94,894
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 148,573 255,086
Income tax recoverable 1,442 1,425
Pledged bank deposits 35 8,827 57,974
Cash and bank balances 335,534 122,841

1,247,533 794,449

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 27 337,156 141,847
Dividend payables 31 31
Bank and other loans 28 44,957 139,907
Lease liabilities 19 7,185 5,466

389,329 287,251

NET CURRENT ASSETS 858,204 507,198

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,116,115 2,206,991

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 14 16,772 28,505
Income tax payable 5,487 2,729
Lease liabilities 19 3,639 3,393

25,898 34,627

NET ASSETS 2,090,217 2,172,364

EQUITY
Share capital 31 62,193 51,827
Reserves 32 2,034,081 2,121,852

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,096,274 2,173,679
Non-controlling interests (6,057) (1,315)

TOTAL EQUITY 2,090,217 2,172,364

These consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 171 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 22 March 
2022 and signed on its behalf by:

Li Qiang Cong Yu
Director Director
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2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/Profit before tax (169,010) 27,230

Adjustments for:

 Exchange differences – 5,546

 Interest income (16,050) (17,978)

 Interest expenses 3,612 3,129

 Dividend income (4,788) (7,450)

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10,576 7,818

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,671 5,947

 Net changes in fair value of investment properties 2,669 4,408

 Gain on lease modification (17) –

 Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 15 (3)

 Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair value 

  through profit or loss under non-current assets 63,312 (9,340)

 Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 29 (55,300) (1,015)

 Loss allowance on loans receivable 59,065 –

OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL (98,245) 18,292

 Increase in inventories (4,043) (7,311)

 (Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables (168,634) 5,962

 Decrease in financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 

  profit or loss 124,802 33,335

 Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 173,785 (23,546)

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 27,665 26,732

 Income tax paid (2,757) (1,431)

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 24,908 25,301

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (139,263) (187,549)

 Deposits paid for acquisition of investment properties (4,017) –

 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 288 51

 Increase in prepayment for construction (952) –

 Interest received 8,440 14,095

 Decrease/(Increase) in pledged bank deposits with original maturities 

  over three months (d) 56,160 (56,160)

 Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

  under non-current assets (48,000) –

 Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through 

  profit or loss under non-current assets 231,143 –

 Grant of new loans receivable – (134,569)

 Repayment of loans receivable 26,908 87,429

 Purchase of intangible assets (85,220) –

 Dividend received 4,788 7,450

 Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary 29 166,481 –

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 216,756 (269,253)
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2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 33

 Proceeds from issue of shares 82,924 –

 New bank and other loans raised 74,699 17,314

 Principal elements of lease payments (7,942) (4,615)

 Repayment of bank loans (170,421) (433)

 Interest paid (3,612) (3,129)

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (24,352) 9,137

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 217,312 (234,815)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF REPORTING PERIOD 124,655 354,528

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 2,394 4,942

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF REPORTING PERIOD 344,361 124,655

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents:

 Funds held by securities brokers (a) 579 28,338

 Time deposits (b) 3,071 13,612

 Cash at bank and in hand (b) 331,884 80,891

 Pledged bank deposits with maturity less than three months (c) 8,827 1,814

344,361 124,655

Notes:

(a) At the end of the reporting period, there were funds held by securities brokers of approximately HK$579,000 (2020: approximately 

HK$28,338,000) for securities trading.

(b) At the end of the reporting period, cash at bank earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time 

deposits are made between one to three months (2020: two to three months) depending on the immediate cash requirement of the 

Group and earn interest ranging from 0.30% to 1.35% (2020: 0.60% to 1.55%) per annum.

(c) At the end of the reporting period, bank deposits of approximately HK$8,827,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,814,000) were pledged to 

secure a loan facility which had an original maturity of less than three months and therefore have been classified as cash equivalents in 

the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(d) As at 31 December 2021, pledged bank deposits of HK$Nil (2020: approximately HK$56,160,000) had an original maturity of more than 

three months but within one year when acquired and therefore were not classified as cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of 

cash flows.
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company 

with limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal places of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate 

Information” section of this annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the Company’s principal 

subsidiaries are detailed in note 39. The Company and its subsidiaries are herein collectively referred to as the “Group”.

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 

(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), 

accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of the 

Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure 

provisions of the Rules Governing The listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies 

adopted in the 2020 consolidated financial statements except for the new adoption of the accounting policy 

on intangible assets as detailed in note 2(h) and the adoption of the following new/revised HKFRSs which 

are relevant to the Group and effective from the current year. A summary of the principal accounting policies 

adopted by the Group is set out below.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting when a company replaces the old interest 

rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform (the 

“Reform”). The amendments complement those issued in November 2019 and relate to:

• changes to contractual cash flows – a company will not have to derecognise or adjust the carrying 

amount of financial instruments for changes required by the Reform, but will instead update the 

effective interest rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate;

• hedge accounting – a company will not have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely because it 

makes changes required by the Reform, if the hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria; and

• disclosures – a company will be required to disclose information about new risks arising from the reform 

and how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark rates.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is historical cost, 

except for investment properties and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured at 

fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its 

subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the 

Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 

obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented separately from owners of the Company, in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. The 

non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 

proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair 

value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s 

identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 

and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the Company 

and the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 

for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted 

to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which 

the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 

directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 

interest determined at the date when control is lost; and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including 

goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost.

The amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are 

accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the parent had directly disposed of the related assets 

or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former 

subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date 

when control is lost.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 

rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 

its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 

indicate that there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented within these notes, an investment in 

subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to its 

recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries 

are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress and freehold land, are stated at cost 

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 

comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition 

and location for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the year in which 

they are incurred.

Construction in progress and freehold land are stated at cost, which comprises the cost of acquisition, 

construction and borrowing costs, if applicable, less any identified impairment loss.

The cost of construction in progress will not be depreciated until they are completed and ready for intended use 

and are transferred to a specific category of property, plant and equipment when the construction is completed.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and 

equipment, other than construction in progress and freehold land, over their estimated useful lives as set out 

below from the date on which they are available for use and after taking into account their estimated residual 

values, using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different 

useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Buildings 3% or over the relevant lease term, whichever is shorter

Data centre facilities 10% – 20%

Leasehold improvements 5% – 33% or over the relevant lease term, whichever is shorter

Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 20% – 33%

Plant and machinery 10% – 20%

Motor vehicles 10% – 33%
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 

are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 

(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included 

in profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property measured 

at fair value, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant 

and equipment” up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount 

and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation surplus or deficit. The revaluation surplus 

is recognised in profit or loss to the extent of impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, with the 

remaining surplus recognised in other comprehensive income as property revaluation reserves within equity. 

The revaluation deficit is recognised in other comprehensive income to reduce the property revaluation reserves 

to the extent of the amount previously recognised in property revaluation reserves, with the remaining deficit 

recognised in profit or loss.

The property revaluation reserves are derecognised upon the disposal of investment property.

(f) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or building that are held by owner or lessee, to earn rental income and/or 

for capital appreciation. These include properties held for a currently undetermined future use.

Investment properties are stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Any gain or loss arising from a 

change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss. The fair value of investment property is based on a valuation 

by an independent valuer who holds a recognised professional qualification and has recent experience in the 

location and category of property being valued.

(g) Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development activities, which involve the application 

of research findings to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and 

processes, are capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the Group has 

sufficient resources to complete the development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, 

direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in 

profit or loss as an expense as incurred. When the asset is available for use, the capitalised development costs 

are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period which reflects the pattern in which the related economic 

benefits are recognised.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Intangible assets

Hash-rate capacity

The initial cost of hash-rate capacity is capitalised. Hash-rate capacity with finite useful lives are carried at cost 

less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over 

the contractual useful lives of three years.

(i) Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 

the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s contractual rights to future cash 

flows from the financial asset expire; or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or (b) it neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the 

financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 

the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 

proceeds received. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its 

continuing involvement and an associated liability for the amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant financing component) are initially recognised 

at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables 

are initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); (iii) equity investment measured at 

FVOCI; or (iv) FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group’s business model for managing 

the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not 

reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing 

them, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting 

period following the change in the business model.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows; and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and 

are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment, derecognition or through the 

amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include cash and bank balances, pledged bank deposits, 

trade and other receivables and loans receivable.

2) Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including 

financial assets held for trading and designated upon initial recognition, financial assets resulting from a 

contingent consideration arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial 

assets that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any 

resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which includes any dividend or interest earned on 

financial assets. Dividend or interest income is presented separately from fair value gain or loss.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are (i) acquired principally for the purpose 

of selling in the near future; (ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 

manages together and have a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial recognition; 

or (iii) derivatives that are not financial guarantee contracts or not designated and effective hedging 

instruments.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include listed and unlisted equity securities, 

private investment funds and contingent consideration receivable from disposal of a subsidiary.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation 

specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at 

FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and bank and other loans. All financial liabilities 

except for derivatives are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, 

using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they 

are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured 

at amortised cost to which the impairment requirements apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting 

date, the Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the 

credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a 

financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for 

that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the 

expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that 

are due to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 

financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 

default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the following bases of 

shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(ii) nature of instrument

(iii) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors

(vi) external credit risk ratings

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 

purposes as historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual amounts 

in full if the financial instrument meets any of the following criteria:

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely 

to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the 

Group); or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 

than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a 

more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 

the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with 

the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making 

this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 

supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue 

cost or effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on 

a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 

days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not 

increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at 

the reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 

reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss 

allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision matrix that is based 

on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 

economic environment.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include 

observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 

difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 

consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the 

contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof, based on historical experience of 

recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, 

financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures 

for recovery of amounts due. Any recovery made is recognised in profit or loss.

(j) Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid 

investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrencies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost represents the amortisation of 

the capitalised hash-rate capacity on the straight-line basis over the contractual useful lives of three years and 

is calculated using first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Cryptocurrencies are derecognised when the Group disposes of them through its trading activities or when the 

Group otherwise loses control and, therefore, access to the economic benefits associated with ownership of the 

cryptocurrencies cease.

When cryptocurrencies are sold, the carrying amount of cryptocurrencies is recognised as an expense in the 

period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of cryptocurrencies to net 

realisable value and all losses of cryptocurrencies are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down 

or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of cryptocurrencies is recognised as a reduction in 

the amount of cryptocurrencies recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(l) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase 

and, where applicable, other costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 

and condition, is calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents the 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 

in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable 

value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down or loss occurs. 

The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of 

inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Revenue recognition

Rental income under operating lease is recognised when the properties are let out and on the straight line basis 

over the lease terms.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s rights to receive dividend is established, it is 

probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the 

dividend can be measured reliably.

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective interest method. For financial assets 

measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross 

carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss 

allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The Group is engaged in sale and distribution of information home appliances (“IHA”) and complementary 

products.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and 

identifies as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of 

transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

(a) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources 

that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from other 

promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the context of 

the contract).
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised 

good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of 

that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and 

recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance 

as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that the customer 

controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 

has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point 

in time when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control 

occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right 

to payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sale of IHA and complementary products are recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains 

the control of the promised asset, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to 

customers and the title is passed.

Contract liabilities

Within the context of HKFRS 15, if a customer pays consideration, or an entity has a right to an amount of 

consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the Group 

shall present the contract as a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is 

earlier).
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented 

in the currency of Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 

at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the 

presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate 

at the end of the reporting period;

(b) Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are translated at average exchange rate;

(c) All resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange differences arising 

from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are 

recognised as a separate component of equity;

(d) On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a 

foreign operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign 

operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a 

foreign operation of which the retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for, the cumulative 

amount of the exchange differences relating to the foreign operation that is recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate component of equity is reclassified from equity 

to profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised;

(e) On the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which 

does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative 

amount of the exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is re-attributed to 

the non-controlling interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

(f) On all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not 

result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the cumulative 

amount of exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit 

or loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of information to assess 
whether there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use 
assets may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows 
independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses are recognised as an expense immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment loss is 
recognised as income in profit or loss immediately.

(p) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of 
the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready 
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred.

(q) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it 
is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it 
is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income 
account and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual 
instalments.

(r) Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments 
associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the 
lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate component are considered to be part of the 
total consideration that is allocated to the separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises:

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, 

restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 

terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a 

straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful life of the right-of-use asset as set 

out below:

Buildings 1 to 3 years

Leasehold land Over the lease term

Leasehold properties 3% or over the lease term, whichever is shorter

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the 

right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option 

to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily 

determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 

liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate when there are changes to the lease payments 

arising from a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to 

exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount rate when there is a change in the residual value 

guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments resulting from a change in an 

index or a rate (other than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments resulting from a 

change in floating interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the 

right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further 

reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the 

remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying 

assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 

increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances 

of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease 

modification:

(a) the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price 

as described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 

discount rate over the revised lease term.

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement 

of the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or 

full termination of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of 

the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease liability by 

making a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

98 Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group has applied the practical expedient provided in Amendments to HKFRS 16: COVID-19-Related Rent 

Concessions and does not assess whether eligible rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the 

COVID-19 pandemic are lease modification. The Group accounts for any change in lease payments resulting 

from the rent concession the same way it would account for the change applying HKFRS 16 as if the change 

were not a lease modification.

The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 

pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met:

(a) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same 

as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient consistently to all eligible rent concessions with similar 

characteristics and in similar circumstances.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease or an operating lease at the inception date of 

the lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as a lease separately from non-lease 

components of the contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on 

a relative stand-alone price basis.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease 

receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new lease from the effective date of modification, 

considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease payment for 

the new lease.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses and paid annual leave are accrued in the year in which the associated services are 

rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF”) in Hong Kong are 

recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those 

of the Group in an independently administered fund.

Contributions to the retirement benefit schemes in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), which are 

calculated on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs in accordance with the statutory requirements 

prescribed by the relevant legal authorities, are charged as expense when employees have rendered services 

entitling them to the contributions.

Contributions to the voluntary retirement plans adopted in the United States are calculated based on a 

maximum of 6% of the eligible employees’ salaries, and are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as 

incurred. The assets of the pension fund are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control 

of trustees.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled transactions

The Group operates a share-based compensation plan, the share option scheme, under which the Group 

receives services from employees including directors, and parties other than employees in exchange for the 

grant of rights over shares or shares of the Company (“Share(s)”) as remuneration in form of equity-settled 

transactions. The cost of such transaction with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the 

equity instruments at the grant date by using the Binomial Model, taking into account the terms and conditions 

of the transactions, other than conditions linked to the price of the Shares. For share options granted to parties 

other than employees, the total amount to be expensed is measured at fair value of the goods or services 

received at the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the services, except where the fair 

value cannot be reliably estimated, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments 

granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which 

all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied, and credited to share option reserves under equity for 

grant of share options.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed. Any 

adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for the 

year of review, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserves within equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, an additional expense is recognised for any increase 

in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 

expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for 

the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and 

new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described above.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserves will be 

transferred to share capital (nominal value) and share premium. When the share options are forfeited after 

the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option 

reserves will be transferred to retained profits.

When the share options are lapsed after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount 

previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items that are 

non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 

statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of other asset or liability in a transaction 

other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor 

taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing 

of the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary 

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

(v) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of the parent of the Group.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 

a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are 

also related to the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture 

includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, 

are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Board for the purposes of allocating 

resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 

segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, 

the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products 

or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.

3. FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSS

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new/revised 

HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concession Beyond 30 June 2021 1

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use 2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 2

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 2

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 3

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 3

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction 3

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 3

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 – Comparative 

Information3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 

or Joint Venture 4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
4 The effective date to be determined

The Group is in the process of assessing the possible impact on the future adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs, but are 

not yet in a position to reasonably estimate their impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management in the preparation of 

the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based 

on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period of revision and future 

periods, in case the revision also affects future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Fair value of investment properties

In assessing the fair value of investment properties, the Group obtains the valuation of the investment properties 

provided by the independent professional qualified valuers. As described in note 7, the valuation techniques applied by 

the independent professional qualified valuers for the investment properties have been discussed with the Directors. The 

Directors review the valuations performed by the independent professional qualified valuers and use their estimation 

to determine whether valuation techniques applied are appropriate to the circumstances of the Group. Changes in 

assumptions could affect the reported fair value of investment properties in the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value of private investment funds

In assessing the fair value of private investment funds, the Group obtains the valuation of the private investment 

funds provided by the investment manager. As described in note 7, the valuation techniques applied by the investment 

manager for the private investment funds have been discussed with the Directors. The Directors review the valuations 

performed by the investment manager and use their estimation to determine whether valuation techniques and 

assumptions applied are appropriate to the circumstances of the Group. Changes in assumptions could affect the 

reported fair value of private investment funds in the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value of unlisted equity securities

In assessing the fair value of unlisted equity securities, the Group obtains the valuation of the unlisted equity securities 

provided by the independent professional qualified valuers. As described in note 7, the valuation techniques applied 

by the independent professional qualified valuers for the unlisted equity securities have been discussed with the 

Directors. The Directors review the valuations performed by the independent professional qualified valuers, and use 

their estimation to determine whether valuation techniques applied are appropriate to the circumstances of the Group. 

Changes in assumptions could affect the reported fair value of unlisted equity securities in the consolidated financial 

statements.

Fair value of contingent consideration receivable

The amount of contingent consideration to be received from disposal of a subsidiary is based on the occurrence 

of future events. Accordingly, the estimation of fair value contains uncertainties as it involves judgment about the 

likelihood and timing of achieving a specific milestone as well as the discount rate used. Changes in fair value of the 

contingent consideration receivable result from changes to the assumptions used to estimate the probability of success 

for such milestone, the anticipated timing of achieving the milestone and the discount period and rate to be applied. 

Changes in assumptions could affect the reported fair value of contingent consideration receivable in the consolidated 

financial statements. Further details are set out in notes 7 and 29 (a).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets

The Directors review the useful lives and depreciation/amortisation method of property, plant and equipment, intangible 

assets and right-of-use assets at the end of each reporting period, through careful consideration with regards to 

expected usage, wear-and-tear and potential technical obsolescence to usage of the assets.

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the 

Directors have to assess whether an event has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset 

value has not been in existence. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would be determined 

by reference to value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use is determined using the discounted cash 

flow method.

Deferred tax liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, deferred tax liabilities of approximately HK$16,772,000 (2020: approximately 

HK$28,505,000) were provided for, in relation to the PRC land appreciation tax and corporate income tax (“CIT”) arising 

from revaluation of property, plant and equipment transferred to investment properties and revaluation of investment 

properties. No deferred tax liabilities in relation to the withholding tax on the distribution of retained profits of the PRC 

subsidiaries have been provided for as those profits are not to be remitted out of the PRC in the foreseeable future. 

Further details are set out in note 14.

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2021, no deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses from the PRC subsidiaries of 

approximately HK$217,600,000 (2020: approximately HK$117,500,000) due to unpredictability of future profit streams. 

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient profits or taxable temporary differences 

will be available in the future. In cases there are changes in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future 

taxable profits estimation, a material recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit 

or loss for the period in which such recognition takes place.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for financial assets at amortised cost, including trade and other 

receivables and loans receivable by using various inputs and assumptions including risk of default and expected loss 

rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical information, existing 

market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the expectation is 

different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other receivables and 

loans receivable.

In assessment of ECL for loans receivable, the Group has engaged an independent professional qualified valuer for 

valuation of ECL for loans receivable. The valuation techniques applied by the independent professional qualified valuer 

for ECL for loans receivable have been discussed with the Directors. The Directors review the valuation performed by the 

independent professional qualified valuer and use their estimation to determine whether valuation techniques applied 

are appropriate to the circumstances of the Group. Changes in assumptions could affect the reported carrying amount 

of loans receivable in the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the key assumptions and inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in note 6(a).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities – as lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit in 

the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discounts rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that 

is readily observable as the starting point and then applies judgement and adjusts such observable rate to determine the 

incremental borrowing rate.

Critical judgement made in applying accounting policies

Cryptocurrencies

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group received and held cryptocurrencies from the hash-rate capacity 

for cryptocurrencies mining. In the process of developing and applying an accounting policy for cryptocurrencies, 

management of the Group noted that there is no HKFRSs that specifically applies to the accounting treatment for 

cryptocurrencies held by the Group.

Management has considered the guidance in HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors” (“HKAS 8”) concerning how the Group should develop its accounting policy under such circumstances. In 

accordance with HKAS 8, reference was made to the most recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that 

use a similar conceptual framework to develop accounting standards, other accounting literature and accepted industry 

practice to the extent that these do not conflict with the requirements of the HKFRSs.

Based on literature issued by staff of the International Accounting Standards Board and with reference to HKAS 2 

“Inventories”, which defines an inventory as an asset held for sale in the ordinary course of business, management 

considers that cryptocurrencies held by the Group satisfy the elements of the definition of an inventory and therefore 

has determined that cryptocurrencies should be accounted for in the same manner as inventories are accounted for 

under HKAS 2.
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5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder 

returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound 

capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders 

of the Company (“Shareholders”), issue new Shares, return capital to Shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell 

assets to reduce debt.

Meanwhile, the Group monitors its capital structure using a gearing ratio which is calculated as total debts divided by 

the total equity. For this purpose, the Group defines debt as total debts (which includes bank and other loans, trade 

and other payables, dividend payables, income tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and lease liabilities).

The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was as follows:

2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities:

 Trade and other payables 27 337,156 141,847

 Dividend payables 31 31

 Bank and other loans 28 44,957 139,907

 Lease liabilities 19 7,185 5,466

389,329 287,251

Non-current liabilities:

 Deferred tax liabilities 14 16,772 28,505

 Income tax payable 5,487 2,729

 Lease liabilities 19 3,639 3,393

25,898 34,627

Total debts 415,227 321,878

Total equity 2,090,217 2,172,364

Gearing ratio 19.9% 14.8%

The higher gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2021 was primarily resulted from other payables of 

procurement of hash-rate capacity for cryptocurrencies mining and a performance bond received from a supplier in 

relation to the Group’s purchases of cryptocurrencies mining machines during the year. Neither the Company nor any of 

its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The 
Group is also exposed to price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities and movements in its own equity 
share price.

These risks are mitigated by the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, bank balances, pledged bank 
deposits and loans receivable. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks 
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position, which 
is net of loss allowance, represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk without taking into account the value of 
any collateral held or other credit enhancements.

The Group has limited credit risk with its money deposited in financial institutions and securities brokers, which 
are leading and reputable and are assessed as having low credit risk. The Group has not suffered any significant 
losses arising from the non-performance by these parties in the past and management does not expect this 
position to change in the future.

Trade receivables

In respect of trade receivables, the Group normally grants its customers an average credit period from 30 days 
to 6 months (2020: 30 days to 6 months) . Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring 
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when 
due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining 
to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Debtors with balances that are more than three 
months past due are requested to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, 
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The 
default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but to 
a lesser extent. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating and individual credit 
limit assessment which is mainly based on the Group’s own trading records.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a concentration of credit risk as 58.4% (2020: 47.4%)  and 
92.6% (2020: 98.3%)  of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five 
largest customers respectively.

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of clients and the trade receivables are categorised 
by common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in 
accordance with the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL for trade 
receivables and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific 
to the debtors and the economic environment. The expected loss rate used in the provision matrix is calculated 
for each category based on actual credit loss experience over the past three years and adjusted for current and 
forward-looking factors to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the 
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s estimate on future economic conditions 
over the expected lives of the receivables. There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant 
assumptions made during the year.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables using a provision matrix is 

summarised below:

As at 31 December 2021

Expected 

loss rate

Gross carrying 

amount

Loss 

allowance Credit-impaired

% HK$’000 HK$’000

Not past due – 40,065 – No

Less than 3 months past due – 16,271 – No

3 months to 6 months past due – 8 – No

6 months to 9 months past due – 4,462 – No

Over 9 months past due 100% 15 15 Yes

60,821 15

As at 31 December 2020

Expected loss 

rate

Gross carrying 

amount

Loss 

allowance Credit-impaired

% HK$’000 HK$’000

Not past due – 53,592 – No

Less than 3 months past due – 23,447 – No

6 months to 9 months past due – 603 – No

Over 9 months past due 100% 15 15 Yes

77,657 15

The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recognised loss allowance of approximately HK$15,000 (2020: 

approximately HK$15,000) on the credit-impaired trade receivables. There are no (2020: no) movement in the 

loss allowance for the credit-impaired trade receivables during the year.

Loans receivable and other receivables

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a concentration of credit risk in respect of loans receivable 

and other receivable as 77.2% (2020: 68.4%) of total loans receivable was due from two (2020: two) 

independent third parties while 64.3% (2020: 54.6%) of total other receivables was due from one (2020: one) 

independent third party.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition and whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, management has engaged independent 

professional valuer whose work has been relied on in estimation of the expected credit losses of loans 

receivable. The Group has taken into account the historical actual credit loss experience on the debtors and the 

financial position of the counterparties by reference to, among others, their management or audited accounts, 

legal advice on claims from customers, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors and 

general economic conditions of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in estimating the probability 

of default of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. During the year, the Group 

changed the techniques used in estimating probability of default as well as the loss upon default of loans 

receivable which are more suitable for the circumstances of the Group’s loans receivable with reference to the 

estimation of ECL by independent professional valuer.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Loans receivable and other receivables (Continued)

The gross carrying amounts of loans receivable, by credit risk rating grades, are as follows:

At 31 December 2021

Internal credit rating

Expected 

loss rate ECL

Gross carrying 

amount 

% HK$’000

Performing – 12-month –

Underperforming (not credit-impaired) 4% – 20% Lifetime 114,634

Not performing (credit-impaired) 39% Lifetime 121,576

Write off (credit-impaired) – N/A –

236,210

At 31 December 2020

Internal credit rating

Expected 

loss rate ECL

Gross carrying 

amount

% HK$’000

Performing – 12-month 251,026

Underperforming (not credit-impaired) – Lifetime –

Not performing (credit-impaired) – Lifetime –

Write off (credit-impaired) – N/A –

251,026
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Loans receivable and other receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recognised loss allowance of approximately HK$59,808,000 (2020: HK$Nil) 

on loans receivable. The movement in the loss allowance for loans receivable during the year is summarised 

below:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the reporting period – –

Impairment loss 59,065 –

Exchange realignment 743 –

At end of the reporting period 59,808 –

The movement of the loss allowance on loans receivable, by measurement basis of ECL, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Lifetime ECL

12-month ECL

Not credit-

impaired Credit-impaired Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the reporting period – – – –

Increase in allowance – 12,612 47,196 59,808

At end of the reporting period – 12,612 47,196 59,808

There were no movements in loss allowance on loans receivable during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Group considers that the other receivables have low credit risk based on the borrowers’ strong capacity 

to meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default, except for the 

credit-impaired other receivable from the former chief executive officer, which is considered to have significant 

risk of default. Impairment on other receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the short maturities 

of the exposures, except for the credit-impaired other receivable from the former chief executive officer which is 

measured on lifetime ECL.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recognised loss allowance of approximately HK$8,467,000 (2020: 

approximately HK$8,467,000) on the credit-impaired other receivables. There were no movements in the loss 

allowance for the credit-impaired other receivables during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

In management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 

adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash 

flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group has unutilised bank borrowing facilities of approximately HK$422,082,000 (2020: approximately 

HK$292,998,000) at the end of the reporting period to meet liquidity needs.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the 

Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including 

interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on current rates prevailing at the end 

of the reporting period) and the earliest dates the Group is required to pay.

Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest period that the Group 

is required to repay regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights at the end of 

the reporting period. The maturity analysis for other non-derivative financial liabilities is prepared based on the 

scheduled repayment dates.

2021 2020

Carrying 

amount

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted 

cash flow

Within one 

year or on 

demand

More than 

one year 

but less 

than two 

years

More than 

two years 

but less 

than five 

years

More than 

five years

Carrying 

amount

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted 

cash flow

Within one 

year or on 

demand

More than 

one year 

but less 

than two 

years

More than 

two years 

but less 

than five 

years

More than 

five years

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial 

 liabilities

Trade and other payables 27 313,148 313,148 312,607 317 224 – 121,567 121,567 115,222 378 372 5,595

Dividend payables 31 31 31 – – – 31 31 31 – – –

Bank and other loans 28 44,957 45,335 45,335 – – – 139,907 139,907 139,907 – – –

Lease liabilities 19 10,824 11,232 7,479 3,753 – – 8,859 9,063 5,632 3,431 – –

368,960 369,746 365,452 4,070 224 – 270,364 270,568 260,792 3,809 372 5,595
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts repayable under loan agreements that include a clause that gives lenders the unconditional right 

to call loans at any time are classified under the “within one year or on demand” bracket. In this regard, term 

loans from banks of approximately HK$2,149,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,593,000) (note 28) at the end of 

the reporting period have been so classified even though the Directors do not expect that lenders would exercise 

their rights to demand repayment and thus these borrowings (including the aggregate principal and interest 

cash outflows) would be repaid according to the following schedule as set out in the loan agreements:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Term loans from banks, including interest, 

 with a repayment on demand clause

 Within one year 505 505

 More than one year but less than two years 505 505

 More than two years but less than five years 533 926

 Over five years 848 960

2,391 2,896
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s secured 

interest-bearing borrowings, bank balances and pledged bank deposits. Bank balances and interest-bearing 

borrowings with floating interest rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest 

rate risk respectively. The Group has not entered into significant hedging activities to hedge against the exposure 

to interest rate risk. The Group closely monitors its interest rate exposure and the level of interest-bearing 

borrowings, in consideration of economic atmosphere and the strategies of the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower (but on condition 

that interest rate would not fall below zero) and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss 

would be decreased by approximately HK$2,994,000 or HK$90,000 respectively (2020: net profit would be 

increased by approximately HK$392,000 or HK$848,000 respectively).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at 

the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative 

financial instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis points increase or decrease represents 

management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the end of next 

annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020.

(d) Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposure. Such exposure arises from trading and investing transactions 

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of an operating unit to which they relate. The 

Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk principally arises from changes in exchange rate of United States 

dollars (“USD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”) against HKD. The management considers that the Group has limited 

exposure to foreign currency risk of USD against HKD since the relevant exchange rate has remained relatively 

stable.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk since the Group’s certain financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss and bank balances were denominated in RMB. The Group has not entered into significant hedging 

activities to hedge against the exposure to foreign exchange risk because the main operations of the subsidiaries 

of the Group are conducted in their functional currency. The Group monitors currency risk exposure of RMB and 

will consider hedging significant exposure should the need arise.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from 

recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to 

which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in HKD, translated using 

the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.

Exposure to foreign currency

2021 2020

RMB RMB

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 48,047 60,426

Cash and bank balances 4,367 1,786

Net exposure 52,414 62,212

At the end of the reporting period, if RMB had been 2% (2020: 7%) strengthened/weakened against HKD while 

all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss would be decreased/increased by approximately 

HK$1,048,000 (2020: net profit would be increased/decreased by approximately HK$4,355,000).

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred 

at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to each of the Group’s exposure to currency risk for 

all financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain 

constant. The stated changes in foreign currency represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible 

changes in foreign exchange rates over the period until the end of next annual reporting period.

(e) Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from investments in equity securities classified as financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss (note 21). For the Group’s equity securities investments and money market funds 

that are publicly traded, the fair value is determined with reference to quoted market prices. The Group’s private 

investment funds are held for long-term strategic purpose. Their performance is assessed at least annually 

based on the information available to the Group, together with an assessment of their relevance to the Group’s 

long-term strategic plans.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Price risk (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

At the end of the reporting period, if the quoted market price of equity securities had been 12% (2020: 4%) 

higher/lower while all other variables held constant, the Group’s net loss would be decreased/increased by 

approximately HK$3,041,000 (2020: net profit would be increased/decreased by approximately HK$21,294,000) 

due to change in the fair value of equity securities which were stated at FVPL.

At the end of the reporting period, if the quoted market price of cryptocurrencies and equity securities invested 

by private investment funds had been 10% (2020: 10%) higher/lower while all other variables held constant, 

the Group’s net loss would be decreased/increased by approximately HK$5,018,000 (2020: net profit would be 

increased/decreased by approximately HK$1,471,000).

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the stock market 

index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied 

to the exposure to price risk in existence at that date. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s 

investments would change in accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant stock market index 

or other relevant risk variables and that all other variables remain constant. The stated changes represent 

management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk 

variables. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In the opinion of the Directors, the carrying amounts of financial assets approximate their fair values.

The following presents the assets measured at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in these consolidated 

financial statements on a recurring basis at 31 December 2021 across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined 

in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, with the fair value measurement categorised in its entirety based on the lowest 

level input that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

• Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

Group can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, 

either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis

2021

Carrying 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties 17 91,793 – 91,793 –

Financial assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss 21 250,742 25,342 51,110 174,290

2020

Carrying 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties 17 455,912 – 93,227 362,685

Financial assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss 21 620,921 532,351 24,946 63,624

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out 

of Level 3 fair value measurements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a private investment fund was transferred out from Level 3 to Level 2 fair 

value measurements as unobservable inputs were no longer applied in valuation of the private investment fund.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of Level 3 as of the end of the reporting period or the date of 

the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer, if applicable.

Valuation techniques and inputs in Level 2 fair value measurement

(a) Investment properties

The investment properties situated in the PRC of approximately HK$91,793,000 (2020: approximately 

HK$93,227,000) were revalued by Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent professional qualified valuer, on the 

market value basis using direct comparison approach.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs in Level 2 fair value measurement (Continued)

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Private investment funds

The fair value of a private investment fund, mainly invested in cryptocurrencies, is valued based on the net asset 

value of each fund unit quoted by the investment manager with reference to quoted prices of the underlying 

investments (i.e. cryptocurrencies) on trading platforms using direct comparison approach.

The fair value of another private investment fund, which invested in listed equity securities in the United 

States, is valued based on quoted market price of the listed equity securities held by the fund at the end of the 

reporting period.

Movements in Level 3 fair value measurements

The details of the movements of the recurring fair value measurements categorised as Level 3 are shown as follows:

Investment 

properties

Financial assets 

at fair value 

through profit 

or loss

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 339,210 80,195

Exchange realignment 24,037 –

Net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss (562) 640

Transferred to Level 2 – (17,211)

As at 31 December 2020 and as at 1 January 2021 362,685 63,624

Purchase – 48,000

Recognised upon disposal of a subsidiary – 115,394

Exchange realignment 5,022 –

Net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss 1,440 (52,728)

Disposal upon disposal of a subsidiary (369,147) –

As at 31 December 2021 – 174,290
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs in Level 3 fair value measurement

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Unlisted equity securities

The fair value of the unlisted equity securities without an active market classified in Level 3 was valued by 

Fairdex Valuation Advisory Limited (2020: Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited), an independent professional 

qualified valuer, using direct comparison approach with unobservable inputs. The significant unobservable input 

used in the fair value measurement is the enterprise-value-to-revenue ratio of 10.523 (2020: price-to-earnings 

ratio of 6.02).

As at 31 December 2021, if the expected enterprise-value-to-revenue ratio (2020: price-to-earnings ratio) had 

been 10% (2020: 10%) higher/lower while all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss would 

be decreased/increased by approximately HK$15,727,000 respectively (2020: net profit would be increased/

decreased by approximately HK$3,863,000 respectively).

The fair value of another unlisted equity securities without an active market classified in Level 3 was valued by 

Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (2020: N/A), an independent professional qualified valuer, using income approach 

with unobservable inputs. The significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement is the discount 

rate for calculating the present value of future earnings of 17.64% (2020: N/A).

As at 31 December 2021, if the expected discount rate had been 10% (2020: N/A) higher/lower while all other 

variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss would be increased by approximately HK$18,580,000 or 

decreased by approximately HK$25,207,000 respectively (2020: N/A ).

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Contingent consideration receivable

The fair value of contingent consideration receivable classified as Level 3 is derived from the estimated 

cash consideration to be received by the Group from disposal of a subsidiary (Note 29(a)) estimated by the 

management of the Group with reference to the up-to-date progress of the relevant reconstruction registration 

with unobservable inputs. The significant unobservable input used in fair value measurement is the weighted 

distribution of the possible outcomes of 50% (2020: N/A ).

As at 31 December 2021, if the expected weighted distribution of the possible outcomes has been 10% higher/

lower (2020: N/A ) while other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss would be decreased/increased 

by approximately HK$14,424,000 respectively (2020: N/A ).
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the current major operating businesses of the Group are IHA, internet data centre (“IDC”), 

investing and leasing.

The IHA business is principally engaged in sale and distribution of IHA and complementary products (including set-top 

boxes and raw materials). Revenue from the IHA business, which is stated net of value added tax where applicable, is 

recognised at a point in time at which the customers obtain the control of goods, which generally coincides with the 

time when goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

The IDC business comprises the development, construction, operation, mergers, acquisitions and leasing out of 

properties used as IDC and facilities used in IDC. Revenue from the IDC business, including rental income from leasing 

of properties used as IDC and facilities used in IDC and service income from provision of IDC facilities for customers’ 

use, are recognised when the properties and facilities are let out and on a straight-line basis over the lease term, and as 

time lapsed or ratably over the term of the agreement respectively.

The investing segment comprises trading of securities and investing in financial instruments and digital assets.

The leasing segment comprises leasing out of properties.

Other operations segment of the Group mainly comprises trading of miscellaneous materials and mining machines.

For the purpose of assessing the performance of the operating segments and allocating resources between segments, 

the executive Directors assess segment profit or loss before tax without allocation of interest income from bank 

deposits, finance costs, legal and professional fees and other corporate administrative costs and the basis of preparing 

such information is consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements.

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than head office bank balances and other unallocated financial 

and corporate assets which are managed on a group basis. All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than 

unallocated head office and corporate liabilities which are managed on a group basis.

Inter-segment sales transactions are charged at prevailing market rates. The accounting policies of the reporting 

segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies as described in note 2.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Business segments

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other revenue and net (loss)/income, net changes in fair value of investment 

properties, segment results and segment assets and liabilities by business segments is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

IHA IDC Investing Leasing

Other 

operations Elimination Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE

 Sale of goods 140,246 – – – – – 140,246

 Lease of properties used as IDC 

  and facilities used in IDC – 31,436 – – – – 31,436

OTHER REVENUE AND NET 

 (LOSS)/INCOME (6,477) (43,224) (53,027) 9,712 4 (88) (93,100)

NET CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF 

 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – 1,440 – (4,109) – – (2,669)

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A

 SUBSIDIARY – 55,300 – – – – 55,300

Segment revenue 133,769 44,952 (53,027) 5,603 4 (88) 131,213

RESULTS

Segment results (33,435) 11,381 (71,069) 275 (783) – (93,631)

Unallocated corporate income 16,164

Interest income from bank deposits 324

Loss allowance on loans receivable (59,065)

Other unallocated corporate expenses (29,190)

(165,398)

Finance costs (3,612)

Loss before tax (169,010)

Income tax expenses (4,051)

Loss for the year (173,061)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Business segments (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021

IHA IDC Investing Leasing

Other 

operations Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 99,613 1,025,221 506,338 109,474 250,955 – 1,991,601

Unallocated corporate assets 513,843 513,843

Consolidated total assets 2,505,444

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 74,009 37,876 97,471 20,301 135,133 – 364,790

Unallocated corporate liabilities 50,437 50,437

Consolidated total liabilities 415,227

OTHER INFORMATION

Capital expenditures

 – Property, plant and equipment 92 53,047 381 1,474 – 90 55,084

 – Right-of-use assets 398 – – – – 3,773 4,171

Depreciation

 – Property, plant and equipment 219 6,530 50 615 – 257 7,671

 – Right-of-use assets 1,714 – 577 372 – 7,913 10,576

Amortisation of intangible assets – – 20,969 – – – 20,969

 – Allocated to cost 

   of cryptocurrencies – – (20,969) – – – (20,969)

Write-down of inventories, net 595 – – – – – 595

Foreign exchange losses, net 7,446 – – – – 513 7,959

Operating lease charges on premises 49 – 59 4 – 326 438

Net fair value (gains)/losses on 

 financial assets at fair value 

 through profit or loss (327) 43,224 57,035 – – – 99,932
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Business segments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

IHA IDC Investing Leasing

Other 

operations Elimination Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE

 Sale of goods 271,390 – – – – – 271,390

 Lease of properties used as IDC 

  and facilities used in IDC – 35,988 – – – – 35,988

OTHER REVENUE AND 

 NET (LOSS)/INCOME (802) 232 39,041 8,493 – (83) 46,881

NET CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF 

 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – (562) – (3,846) – – (4,408)

GAIN ON DISPOSAL 

 OF A SUBSIDIARY – – – – 1,015 – 1,015

Segment revenue 270,588 35,658 39,041 4,647 1,015 (83) 350,866

RESULTS

Segment results (9,642) 14,009 25,641 (500) 1,050 – 30,558

Unallocated corporate income 18,298

Interest income from bank deposits 1,284

Other unallocated corporate expenses (19,781)

30,359

Finance costs (3,129)

Profit before tax 27,230

Income tax expenses (5,808)

Profit for the year 21,422
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Business segments (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020

IHA IDC Investing Leasing

Other 

operations Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 120,121 1,159,423 711,151 111,933 373 – 2,103,001

Unallocated corporate assets 391,241 391,241

Consolidated total assets 2,494,242

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 82,763 70,806 129,031 21,089 – – 303,689

Unallocated corporate liabilities 18,189 18,189

Consolidated total liabilities 321,878

OTHER INFORMATION

Capital expenditures

 – Property, plant and equipment 93 206,568 – – – 39 206,700

 – Right-of-use assets 2,273 – – – – 7,607 9,880

Depreciation

 – Property, plant and equipment 482 4,520 – 689 – 256 5,947

 – Right-of-use assets 1,588 – 710 348 – 5,172 7,818

Write-down of inventories, net 551 – – – – – 551

Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net 2,040 – – – – (146) 1,894

Operating lease charges on premises 92 – 67 4 – 333 496

Net fair value gains on financial

 assets at fair value through

 profit or loss (376) – (31,591) – – – (31,967)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group operates in the following principal geographical areas: the PRC, Hong Kong, Australia, the United States and 

other overseas markets in both 2021 and 2020.

The following tables set out information about the geographical location of (a) the Group’s revenue and non-current 

assets other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and (b) other revenue and net (loss)/income other 

than unallocated corporate income and interest income from bank deposits. The geographical location of customers 

is based on the location at which the services were provided or the goods were delivered. The geographical location 

of the non-current assets is based on the physical location of the assets while the geographical location of intangible 

assets is based on the location of the company holding the assets. The geographical location of other revenue and net 

(loss)/income is based on the location at which other revenue and net (loss)/income is generated.

(a) Revenue and non-current assets

Revenue Non-current assets

2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

The PRC 71,756 118,336 117,912 473,644

Hong Kong 37,807 30,168 300,253 132,567

Australia 45,268 125,476 – –

The United States – – 737,577 727,747

Other overseas markets 16,851 33,398 – –

171,682 307,378 1,155,742 1,333,958
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

(b) Other revenue and net (loss)/income

For the year ended 31 December 2021
 

IHA IDC Investing Leasing

Other 

operations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

The PRC (1,062) (43,224) 1,377 9,552 4 (33,353)

Hong Kong (5,415) – (54,404) 72 – (59,747)
      

(6,477) (43,224) (53,027) 9,624 4 (93,100)
      

For the year ended 31 December 2020
 

IHA IDC Investing Leasing

Other 

operations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

The PRC (802) – 4,506 8,338 – 12,042

Hong Kong – – 34,535 72 – 34,607

The United States – 232 – – – 232

(802) 232 39,041 8,410 – 46,881

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers individually contributing 10% or over of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A 51,232 89,499

Customer B 45,268 125,476

Customer C 19,436 –*

Customer D 17,433 –*

133,369 214,975

* These customers individually contributed less than 10% of the total revenue.
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9. REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND NET (LOSS)/INCOME

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Sale of goods (Note) 140,246 271,390

Rental income from IDC properties and facilities (note 8) 31,436 35,988

171,682 307,378

Other revenue

Dividend income from listed securities 4,788 7,450

Rental income from investment properties 9,109 7,723

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method:

 Interest income from bank deposits 324 1,284

 Interest income from loans receivable 15,726 16,694

29,947 33,151

Other net (loss)/income

Foreign exchange losses, net (7,959) (1,894)

Net fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at fair value through 

 profit or loss (99,932) 31,967

(Loss)/Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (15) 3

Government subsidies – 1,696

Sundry income 1,347 1,540

(106,559) 33,312

(76,612) 66,463

Note:

The revenue from contracts with customers for sale of goods within HKFRS 15 is based on fixed price and recognised at a point in time.

The amount of revenue recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021 that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of 

the year is approximately HK$5,288,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,549,000).
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10. (LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

(Loss)/Profit from operations has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration 1,600 1,550

Amortisation of intangible assets 20,969 –

 – Allocated to cost of cryptocurrencies (20,969) –

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment* 7,671 5,947

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10,576 7,818

Cost of inventories 120,690 227,207

Gain on lease modifications (17) –

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 15 (3)

Write-down of inventories, net 595 551

Research and development costs 2,559 327

Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that 

 generating rental income from:

 – Leasing of IDC properties (included in cost of sales) 1,251 1,312

 – Leasing of other investment properties 

  (included in other operating expenses) 1,456 1,360

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 29) (55,300) (1,015)

Staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments (note 11)):

 Salaries and allowances# 57,401 50,241

 Retirement benefits scheme contributions# 4,659 829

 Severance payment 1,700 16

Total staff costs 63,760 51,086

* Depreciation of property, plant and equipment included depreciation of IDC facilities of approximately HK$6,512,000 (2020: 

approximately HK$4,500,000) recognised as cost of sales for the year.

# Staff costs included salaries and allowances and retirement benefits scheme contributions for research and development staff 

of approximately HK$16,699,000 and HK$2,117,000 respectively (2020: approximately HK$13,295,000 and HK$109,000 

respectively) recognised as general and administrative expenses for the year.
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2020: seven) Directors were as follows:

Qualifying services

Other services in connection with the 

management of the affairs

Name of Director Note

Directors’ 

fee

Salaries, 

allowances 

and other 

benefits in 

kind

Discretionary 

bonuses

Retirement 

benefits 

scheme 

contributions

Share 

option 

benefit Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Qiang – 1,300 – 65 – 1,365

Mr. Cong Yu (a), (b) – 1,670 1,000 59 – 2,729

Mr. Gao Fei (b) – 1,300 – 65 – 1,365

Mr. Shi Guangrong – 941 – 46 – 987

Mr. Zhu Jiang – 718 – 22 – 740

Mr. Chen Biao (a) – 826 500 – – 1,326

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Shen Yan 120 – – – – 120

Ms. Dong Hairong 120 – – – – 120

Ms. Huo Qiwei 120 – – – – 120

Total for 2021 360 6,755 1,500 257 – 8,872

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Qiang – 1,300 550 65 – 1,915

Mr. Gao Fei (b) – 1,300 650 65 – 2,015

Mr. Shi Guangrong – 930 550 43 – 1,523

Mr. Zhu Jiang – 699 550 21 – 1,270

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Shen Yan 120 – 100 – – 220

Ms. Dong Hairong 120 – 100 – – 220

Ms. Huo Qiwei 120 – 100 – – 220

Total for 2020 360 4,229 2,600 194 – 7,383

Notes:

(a) Mr. Cong Yu and Mr. Chen Biao were appointed as executive Directors on 21 January 2021.

(b) Mr. Gao Fei resigned and Mr. Cong Yu was appointed on 22 March 2021 as the chief executive officer of the Company. Their 

emoluments disclosed above included their services rendered as the chief executive officer of the Company.
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11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no emolument was paid by the Group to any Director as an 

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived 

any emolument during both years.

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the Directors that were entered into or subsisted during 

the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Directors are of the opinion that no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the 

Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a Director or a connected entity of the Director 

had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the reporting period or at any time during 

the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

During the year, four (2020: four) Directors are included in the five highest paid individuals of the Group. Details of 

Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 11 above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2020: one) highest paid 

individual, who is an employee of the Group, are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind 1,942 1,337

Discretionary bonus – 1,000

Retirement benefits scheme contributions 85 56

2,027 2,393

The emoluments of the above one (2020: one) highest paid individual fell within the following bands:

2021 2020

Number of 

individuals

Number of 

individuals

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 1 1

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no emolument was paid by the Group to the above highest paid 

individual as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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13. FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowing costs for bank and other loans 3,295 2,935
Imputed interest expenses on lease liabilities 317 194

3,612 3,129

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSES
The taxation charged to profit or loss represents:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
 PRC corporate income tax
  Current year 2,756 38
 Overseas withholding tax
  Current year 2,758 2,357

5,514 2,395

Deferred taxation
 Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,463) (1,641)
 Benefit of tax losses utilised – 5,054

(1,463) 3,413

Charge for the year 4,051 5,808

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group either did 
not generate any assessable profit from Hong Kong or its estimated assessable profits for the year were wholly absorbed 
by unrelieved tax losses brought forward from previous years.

The income tax provision in respect of operations in the PRC is calculated at the CIT rate of 25% on the estimated 
assessable profits for 2021 and 2020 based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof. 
Certain subsidiaries of the Company have been designated as “Small-Scale and Low-Profit Enterprises” which are 
charged at the effective preferential CIT rates of 2.5% or 10% (2020: 5% or 10%) respectively on condition that the 
annual taxable income was no more than RMB1.0 million or between RMB1.0 million to RMB3.0 million for 2021 and 
2020.

The operation of the Group in the United States is subject to the United States Federal and State Income Tax. For the 
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the United States Federal and State Income Tax has not been provided as the 
Group did not generate any assessable profit in the United States.

Under the United States domestic tax laws, a foreign person is subject to 30% income tax on the gross amount of 
certain United States-source (non-business) income. As such, withholding tax is provided at 30% for the interest income 
derived from the loans to a wholly-owned subsidiary in the United States by the Company for the years ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020.

The Group has investment properties situated in the PRC which are stated at fair value. Deferred taxes are recognised 
on changes in fair value of investment properties in the PRC taking into account the PRC land appreciation tax and CIT 
payable upon sales of those investment properties.
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Reconciliation of tax expenses

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/Profit before tax (169,010) 27,230

Tax at a weighted average rate of 18.29% (2020: 18.83%) 

 applicable to the jurisdictions concerned (30,914) 5,128

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 45,095 7,988

Tax effect of non-taxable income (39,944) (14,333)

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (236) (3,737)

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses and temporary differences 29,019 10,410

Tax effect of reversal/provision of deferred taxation (1,463) (1,641)

Withholding tax for offshore interest income 2,758 2,357

Others (264) (364)

Tax expenses for the year 4,051 5,808

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

The movements for the year in the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the reporting period – 5,018 (28,505) (28,409)

Exchange realignment – 36 (634) (1,737)

Recognised in profit or loss – (5,054) 1,463 1,641

Release upon disposal of a subsidiary – – 10,904 –
  

At end of the reporting period – – (16,772) (28,505)
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities (Continued)

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period represent the following:

Assets Liabilities

2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revaluation of property, plant and 

 equipment upon transfer to 

 investment properties – – (22,913) (21,672)

Revaluation of investment properties 6,141 – – (6,833)

Depreciation allowances – – (3,161) (2,984)

Tax losses 3,161 2,984 – –

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 9,302 2,984 (26,074) (31,489)

Offsetting (9,302) (2,984) 9,302 2,984

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) – – (16,772) (28,505)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all deferred tax asset arising from the unused tax losses of this PRC subsidiary has 

been fully utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deductible temporary differences 509 1,322

Tax losses 680,555 518,524

681,064 519,846

At 31 December 2021, the Group had unrecognised deferred tax assets of approximately HK$115,898,000 (2020: 

approximately HK$92,653,000) in respect of the tax losses and other temporary differences. As it is not probable that 

future taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the unused tax losses of 

the Group can be utilised, deferred tax assets have not been recognised. The deductible temporary differences do not 

expire under the current tax legislation.
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from (Continued)

The expiry of unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tax losses without expiry date 462,936 401,067

Tax losses expiring on 31 December 2026 88,917 –

Tax losses expiring on 31 December 2025 36,263 24,281

Tax losses expiring on 31 December 2024 16,552 16,080

Tax losses expiring on 31 December 2023 38,834 45,263

Tax losses expiring on 31 December 2022 37,053 28,459

Tax losses expiring on 31 December 2021 – 3,374

680,555 518,524

The profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards would be subject to withholding tax if they are 

distributed. In the opinion of the Directors, all undistributed profits are expected to be retained in the PRC subsidiaries 

and not to be remitted out of the PRC in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, no provision for deferred tax has been 

made. As at 31 December 2021, retained profits earned by PRC subsidiaries amounted to approximately HK$Nil (2020: 

approximately HK$12,774,000).

15. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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16. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per Share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 

following data:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss)/Profit attributable to owners of the Company (172,495) 21,914

2021 2020

’000 ’000

Issued ordinary Shares at 1 January 2,073,089 2,073,089

Issue of new Shares 400,985 –

Weighted average number of ordinary Shares for 

 basic (loss)/earnings per Share 2,474,074 2,073,089

Weighted average number of ordinary Shares for 

 diluted (loss)/earnings per Share 2,474,074 2,073,089

HK$ HK$

(Loss)/Earnings per Share:

 – Basic (0.07) 0.01

 – Diluted (Note) (0.07) 0.01

Note:

Diluted (loss)/earnings per Share was the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per Share for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 

because the potential new ordinary Shares to be issued on exercise of the outstanding share options under the Company’s share option 

scheme have an anti-dilutive effect on the basic (loss)/earnings per Share for the years.
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

At fair value

At beginning of the reporting period 455,912 430,614

Exchange realignment 7,697 29,706

Net changes in fair value (2,669) (4,408)

Disposal upon disposal of a subsidiary (369,147) –

At end of the reporting period 91,793 455,912

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of the investment properties held under medium-term leases and 

situated in the PRC were approximately HK$91,793,000 (2020: approximately HK$455,912,000).

The valuation techniques of investment properties are disclosed in note 7.

Commitments under operating leases – as lessor

The Group leases certain of its properties to third parties under operating leases, which have an initial non-cancellable 

lease term of one to ten years (2020: one to ten years). The leases do not include any purchase, termination and 

extension options.

These properties are exposed to residual value risk. The lease contracts, as a result, impose a restriction that, unless 

approval is obtained from the Group as lessor, the properties can only be used by the lessees. The lessees are also 

required to keep the properties in a good state of repair and return the properties in their original condition at the end 

of the leases.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received from the leasing of investment properties:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Year 1 3,965 34,778

Year 2 2,913 36,218

Year 3 1,148 35,846

Year 4 560 34,345

Year 5 147 33,815

After year 5 122 39,076

Undiscounted lease payments to be received 8,855 214,078



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

138 Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Construction 

in progress

Data 

centre 

facilities

Freehold 

land

Buildings 

held for 

own use

Leasehold 

improvements

Office 

equipment, 

furniture and 

fixtures

Plant and 

machinery

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Reconciliation of carrying amounts 

 – year ended 31 December 2020

At beginning of the reporting period 428,407 – 74,880 38,220 7,215 919 690 280 550,611

Additions 146,525 60,000 – – – 175 – – 206,700

Disposals – – – – – (1) (47) – (48)

Depreciation – (4,500) – – (645) (418) (310) (74) (5,947)

Exchange realignment – – – – 289 23 26 14 352

At end of the reporting period 574,932 55,500 74,880 38,220 6,859 698 359 220 751,668

Reconciliation of carrying amounts 

 – year ended 31 December 2021

At beginning of the reporting period 574,932 55,500 74,880 38,220 6,859 698 359 220 751,668

Additions 46,855 6,146 – – 1,474 598 11 – 55,084

Disposals – – – – (292) (4) (7) – (303)

Depreciation – (6,512) – – (681) (251) (177) (50) (7,671)

Exchange realignment – – – – 130 12 8 6 156

At end of the reporting period 621,787 55,134 74,880 38,220 7,490 1,053 194 176 798,934

As at 31 December 2020

Cost 574,932 60,000 74,880 38,220 24,647 6,316 4,179 4,152 787,326

Accumulated depreciation and 

 impairment losses – (4,500) – – (17,788) (5,618) (3,820) (3,932) (35,658)

574,932 55,500 74,880 38,220 6,859 698 359 220 751,668

As at 31 December 2021

Cost 621,787 66,146 74,880 38,220 20,929 6,803 1,421 4,170 834,356

Accumulated depreciation and 

 impairment losses – (11,012) – – (13,439) (5,750) (1,227) (3,994) (35,422)

621,787 55,134 74,880 38,220 7,490 1,053 194 176 798,934
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Buildings held for own use represented buildings under development for the Group’s IDC in the United States which 

was not ready for use at the end of the reporting period and no depreciation was recognised for the years ended 31 

December 2021 and 2020.

Construction in progress represented the construction of the Group’s IDC in the United States which was not 

completed at the end of the reporting period. On 3 February 2022, the Group obtained the certificate of occupancy 

(the “Certificate”) from the United States authority in respect of the construction of Phase I of the IDC. The Certificate 

authorises the use of and occupancy of the IDC which has been inspected for compliance authority requirements for the 

occupancy. Construction of Phase II of the IDC in the United States was not commenced as of 31 December 2021. 

Commitments under operating lease – as lessor

The Group leases certain of its IDC facilities to a third party under operating lease, which has a non-cancellable lease 

term of five years. The lease does not include any purchase, termination and extension options.

These IDC facilities are exposed to residual value risk. The lease contract, as a result, imposes a restriction that, unless 

approval is obtained from the Group as lessor, the IDC facilities can only be used by the lessee. The lessee is also 

required to keep the IDC facilities in a good state of repair and return the IDC facilities in their original condition at the 

end of the lease.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received from the leasing of IDC facilities:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Year 1 15,000 12,000

Year 2 19,000 15,000

Year 3 20,000 19,000

Year 4 5,000 20,000

Year 5 – 5,000

Undiscounted lease payments to be received 59,000 71,000
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

The movements of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities within HKFRS 16 during the years ended 31 December 2021 

and 2020 are set out below:

Right-of-use assets

Leasehold 

land

Leasehold 

properties Buildings Total

Lease 

liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 9,817 70,910 3,312 84,039 (3,404)

Additions – – 9,880 9,880 (9,880)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (348) (3,003) (4,467) (7,818) –

Imputed interest expenses on lease liabilities – – – – (194)

Lease payments – – – – 4,809

Exchange realignment 613 – – 613 (190)

At 31 December 2020 and 

 at 1 January 2021 10,082 67,907 8,725 86,714 (8,859)

Additions – – 4,171 4,171 (4,171)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (372) (3,003) (7,201) (10,576) –

Imputed interest expenses on lease liabilities – – – – (317)

Lease payments – – – – 8,259

Lease modification – – 5,694 5,694 (5,677)

Exchange realignment 290 – 9 299 (59)

At 31 December 2021 10,000 64,904 11,398 86,302 (10,824)

At 31 December 2020

Current portion – – – – (5,466)

Non-current portion 10,082 67,907 8,725 86,714 (3,393)

10,082 67,907 8,725 86,714 (8,859)

At 31 December 2021

Current portion – – – – (7,185)

Non-current portion 10,000 64,904 11,398 86,302 (3,639)

10,000 64,904 11,398 86,302 (10,824)
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group as lessee

The leasehold land of approximately HK$10,000,000 (2020: approximately HK$10,082,000) represents upfront payment 
for medium-term leasehold land situated in the PRC, which is amortised over the lease period of 45 years. At the end of 
the reporting period, the remaining lease term of the land was 27 years (2020: 28 years).

The interests in leasehold properties, which comprise leasehold lands and the buildings thereon (including the 
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land), in Hong Kong of approximately HK$64,904,000 (2020: 
approximately HK$67,907,000) are held by the Group as the registered owner. Those property interests were acquired 
from the previous registered owners by making lump sum payments at the upfront. Except for the variable amounts 
to be charged by the government subsequently that are reviewed regularly with reference to a few factors such as 
the rateable values, there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land lease. At the end of the 
reporting period, the remaining lease term of the land were 26 to 27 years (2020: 27 to 28 years).

The leasehold properties were held for own use and classified as finance lease which were depreciated over the shorter 
of the lease term and the estimated useful life.

The Group leases various office premises and staff quarters for its daily operations with fixed lease payment terms. 
Lease terms range from one to four years (2020: one to three years).

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless approval is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use asset can only 
be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying assets. The Group is also 
required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and return the properties in their original condition at the 
end of the leases.

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease payments:
 Short-term leases 438 496

Total cash outflow for leases 8,697 5,305

During the year ended 31 December 2021, lease expenses charged to profit or loss amounted to approximately 
HK$438,000 (2020: approximately HK$496,000).

Commitments under operating leases – as lessee

At 31 December 2021, the Group was committed to approximately HK$96,000 (2020: approximately HK$120,000) for 
short-term leases.
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired intangible assets which represented the hash-

rate capacity for cryptocurrencies mining which enabling the Group to mine the Ethereum (being a mainstream 

cryptocurrency based on market value) for a contractual term of three years. The hash-rate capacity is initially measured 

at cost and amortised over three years using the straight-line method.

Hash-rate 

capacity

HK$’000

Reconciliation of carrying amount

 – year ended 31 December 2021

At beginning of the reporting period –

Additions 108,876

Amortisation (20,969)

At end of the reporting period 87,907

As at 31 December 2021

Cost 108,876

Accumulated amortisation (20,969)

87,907
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (a) 16,193 385,875

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong (a) 9,149 146,476

Private investment funds (b) 51,110 24,946

Unlisted equity securities outside Hong Kong (c) 102,169 63,624

Contingent consideration receivable from disposal of 

 a subsidiary 26(b) 72,121 –

250,742 620,921

Current portion 148,573 255,086

Non-current portion 102,169 365,835

250,742 620,921

Notes:

(a) The fair value of listed equity securities is based on quoted market prices in active markets at the end of the reporting period.

(b) Included in the private investment funds were two private investment funds, one of which invested in cryptocurrencies and 

unlisted equity investment with carrying amount of approximately HK$44,084,000 (2020: approximately HK$17,211,000) and 

another one invested in listed equity securities in the United States with carrying amount of approximately HK$7,026,000 (2020: 

HK$Nil).

As at 31 December 2020, there was other private investment fund invested in a trusted fund in the PRC with carrying amount 

of approximately RMB6,510,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,735,000), which was redeemed during the year.

The valuation techniques and inputs applied for fair value measurement have been disclosed in note 7.

(c) The investments in unlisted equity securities of companies (2020: a company)  incorporated in the Cayman Islands are not held 

for trading. The valuation techniques and inputs applied for fair value measurement have been disclosed in note 7.
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22. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

The Group’s ten largest investments, including individual investments with value exceeding 5% of the Group’s total 

assets, as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 with brief description of the investee companies as follows:

As at 31 December 2021

Stock 

code Name of investee company Note

Number of 

shares held

Effective 

shareholding 

interest

Acquisition 

cost

Fair 

value

Accumulated 

unrealised 

holding gain/

(loss) arising 

on revaluation 

from the date 

of acquisition to 

31 December 

2021

Net gain/(loss) 

for the 

year ended 

31 December 

2021

Dividend 

received 

for the 

year ended 

31 December 

2021

Classification of 

financial assets

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities

0641 CHTC Fong’s International 

 Company Limited

1,176,000 0.11% 2,629 464 (2,164) (12) – FVPL

0707 Asia Television Holdings Limited 2,106,000 0.02% 558 44 (514) (78) – FVPL

1439 Mobile Internet (China) 

 Holdings Limited

3,215,000 0.23% 6,604 129 (6,475) (68) – FVPL

8137 Honbridge Holdings Limited 43,212,000 0.44% 58,395 15,556 (42,839) (4,321) – FVPL

LU Lufax Holding Ltd (American 

 depositary shares)

90,000 0.05% 9,427 3,951 (5,477) (5,959) – FVPL

CNG China Nonferrous Gold Ltd 7,070,134 1.85% 21,707 5,198 (16,509) (1,513) – FVPL

Private investment funds

Altive Master Fund SPC 

 (“Altive Fund”)

(i) N/A N/A 20,008 7,026 (12,982) (12,982) – FVPL

iSun Global Restructuring-led 

 Partnership Fund I LP 

 (“iSun Fund“)

(ii) N/A N/A 66,500 44,084 (22,416) 26,873 – FVPL

Unlisted equity securities

APAL Holdings Limited 

 (“APAL”)

(iii) 100,000,000 9.47% 78,000 54,122 (23,878) (9,502) – FVPL

Profound View Group 

 (“Profound”)

(iv) 918 8.41% 48,000 48,047 47 47 – FVPL

The above investments represent in aggregate 100% in value of the Group’s investments.
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22. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020

Stock 

code Name of investee company Note

Number of 

shares held

Effective 

shareholding 

interest

Acquisition 

cost

Fair 

value

Accumulated 

unrealised 

holding gain/

(loss) arising 

on revaluation 

from the date 

of acquisition to 

31 December 

2020

Net gain/(loss) 

for the 

year ended 

31 December 

2020

Dividend 

received 

for the 

year ended 

31 December 

2020

Classification of 

financial assets

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities

2318 Ping An Insurance (Group) 

 Company of China, Ltd. 

 (H shares)

3,000,000 0.04% 120,766 285,000 164,234 8,700 6,261 FVPL

6060 ZhongAn Online P & C 

 Insurance Co., Ltd. (H shares)

1,552,700 0.11% 43,718 56,208 12,490 12,577 – FVPL

601238 Guangzhou Automobile Group 

 Co., Ltd. (A shares)

2,626,773 0.04% 49,162 41,441 (7,721) (2,326) 473 FVPL

002199 Zhejiang East Crystal Electronic 

 Co., Ltd.

3,332,000 1.37% 69,008 27,556 (41,452) (8,580) – FVPL

8137 Honbridge Holdings Limited 46,774,000 0.47% 63,208 21,516 (41,692) (1,871) – FVPL

002075 Jiangsu Shagang Co., Ltd. 1,500,000 0.07% 18,231 19,571 1,340 8,940 177 FVPL

2238 Guangzhou Automobile Group 

 Co., Ltd. (H shares)

1,285,200 0.04% 16,142 11,078 (5,064) (1,388) 228 FVPL

LU Lufax Holding Ltd 

 (American depositary shares)

90,000 0.05% 9,427 9,909 482 482 – FVPL

Private investment fund

iSun Fund (ii) N/A N/A 66,500 17,211 (49,289) 6,213 – FVPL

Unlisted equity securities

APAL (iii) 100,000,000 9.47% 78,000 63,624 (14,376) (5,573) – FVPL

The above investments represented in aggregate over 89.1% in value of the Group’s investments. Apart from the ten 

largest investments listed above, the Group also held various other individual investments with value representing below 

1% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2020.
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22. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Altive Fund is a Cayman Islands exempted limited company, with the principal objective of primarily target investments in listed 

equity securities in the United States. As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of the fund is approximately HK$7,026,000 (2020: 

HK$Nil) by reference to the quoted market price of the listed equity securities held by Altive Fund at the end of the reporting 

period.

(ii) iSun Fund is a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership, with the principal objective of primarily target investments in public 

or private companies or digital assets (such as cryptocurrencies) in the data centre, fintech or high tech (software and hardware) 

sectors. The partnership is managed by the general partner, iSun GP I Limited, which holds the property of the partnership on 

behalf of the partnership. The partnership shall continue in existence for five years unless dissolution of the partnership. The 

objective of the partnership is to produce attractive returns on the capital from the partnership while managing investment 

risk. As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of the partnership is approximately HK$44,084,000 (2020: approximately 

HK$17,211,000) by reference to the quoted prices of the underlying investments and the valuation on the unlisted equity 

securities from the investment manager using discounted cash flows model. Details of the iSun Fund were disclosed in the 

Company’s announcements dated 25 July 2017 and 9 February 2018.

(iii) APAL is an exempt company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. APAL and its subsidiaries are principally 

engaged in the business of global aircraft leasing, aircraft trading, securitised aircraft leasing financial products, aircraft parts 

trading, maintenance of aircraft, dismantling aircraft and other related consulting services. As at 31 December 2021, the fair 

value of the entire unlisted equity securities is approximately HK$571,530,000 (2020: approximately HK$671,872,000) by 

reference to the valuation provided by an independent professional qualified valuer using direct comparison approach with 

unobservable inputs.

(iv) Profound is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. Profound and its subsidiaries are principally 

engaged in the business of biotechnology and new drug research and development. As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of 

the entire unlisted equity securities is approximately RMB595,900,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$705,207,000) (2020: 

HK$Nil) by reference to the valuation provided by an independent professional qualified valuer using discounted cash flow 

method. Details of the subscription of Profound were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 1 December 2021.

23. CRYPTOCURRENCIES

The amounts represented the cryptocurrencies held by the Group as at the end of the reporting period.

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Mainstream:

Ethereum 20,969 –

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the cryptocurrencies held by the Group was generated from the hash-rate capacity under the 

intangible assets (note 20). As at 31 December 2021, cryptocurrencies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The Group 

estimated the net realisable value of the cryptocurrencies with reference to their market prices in the relevant cryptocurrencies markets 

less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. No write-down of cryptocurrencies was recognised for the year ended 31 December 

2021.
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24. INVENTORIES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 10,420 4,623

Finished goods 5,046 6,580

15,466 11,203

25. LOANS RECEIVABLE

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans receivable from third parties 236,210 251,026

Less: Loss allowance (59,808) –

176,402 251,026

At the end of the reporting period, loans receivable comprise:

(i) A RMB90,000,000 loan to an independent third party borrower. At 31 December 2020, the loan was interest-

bearing at 8% per annum, repayable in December 2021 and secured by a corporate guarantee provided by 

an independent third party and a personal guarantee provided by a shareholder of the borrower. During the 

year, the loan was extended to be repayable in September 2022 and further secured by a corporate guarantee 

provided by another independent third party (the “Third Guarantor”) and the collateral of the share charges of 

a company incorporated in the PRC which is 2.4987% owned by the Third Guarantor (the “Loan Extension”). 

The Loan Extension was subject to certain conditions to be fulfilled by the borrower (the “Conditions”), details 

of which are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 16 December 2021. Subsequent to the end of 

the reporting period, neither of the terms under the Conditions was completed and the Loan Extension became 

ineffective. On 10 February 2022, the Group issued a demand letter to the borrower and the guarantors 

demanding repayment of the all the outstanding loans principal and accrued interests.

At the end of the reporting period, the principal of RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$110,079,000) (2020: RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$106,939,000)) and accrued interest 

receivable of approximately HK$11,497,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,495,000) were recognised as loans 

receivable under current assets. Loss allowance of approximately HK$47,196,000 (2020: HK$Nil)  in respect of 

this credit impaired loan receivable has been recognised at the end of the reporting period. Details of the loan 

were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 19 December 2019, 18 September 2020, 17 December 

2020, 16 December 2021 and 11 February 2022 respectively.
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25. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

(ii) A HK$41,000,000 loan to an independent third party borrower which is secured by a corporate guarantee 

provided by a substantial shareholder of the Company. As at 31 December 2020, the loan was interest-bearing 

at 8% per annum and repayable in December 2021. During the year, accrued interest of HK$3,280,000 was 

repaid and the principal of HK$41,000,000 was extended to be repayable in September 2022. Pursuant to 

the extension of the loan agreement, the loan is further secured by accounts receivable of the borrower of 

approximately HK$18,732,000 as collateral, with other terms remain unchanged.

At the end of the reporting period, the principal of HK$41,000,000 (2020: HK$41,000,000) was recognised as 

loans receivable under current assets. Loss allowance of approximately HK$1,577,000 (2020: HK$Nil)  in respect 

of this loan receivable has been recognised at the end of the reporting period. Details of the loan were disclosed 

in the Company’s announcements dated 9 December 2019, 12 December 2019, 29 June 2020, 31 December 

2020 and 31 December 2021 respectively.

(iii) A HK$60,000,000 loan to an independent third party borrower. As at 31 December 2020, the loan was secured 

by corporate guarantees provided by two independent third parties, interest-bearing at 5% per annum and 

repayable in 18 months from the drawdown date (i.e. 2 April 2020). During the year, accrued interest of 

approximately HK$4,496,000 was repaid and the principal of HK$60,000,000 was extended to be repayable in 

October 2022. Pursuant to the extension of the loan agreement, the loan principal of HK$60,000,000 is secured 

by a corporate guarantee provided by another independent third party (the “New Guarantor”), as well as the 

collateral of 5,000 pieces of brand-new computer supporting products held by the New Guarantor. Other terms 

of the loan remain unchanged.

At the end of the reporting period, the principal of HK$60,000,000 (2020: HK$60,000,000) and accrued 

interest receivable of approximately HK$756,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,252,000) were recognised as loans 

receivable under current assets. Loss allowance of approximately HK$8,483,000 (2020: HK$Nil)  in respect of this 

loan receivable has been recognised at the end of the reporting period. Details of the loan were disclosed in the 

Company’s announcements dated 18 March 2020, 17 June 2020 and 30 September 2021 respectively.

(iv) A RMB12,000,000 loan to an independent third party borrower which is unsecured and interest-bearing at 

5% per annum. Principal of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,376,000) and accrued interest 

receivable of approximately HK$30,000 were repaid in January 2021 in accordance with the terms of the loan 

agreement. The remaining principal of RMB10,000,000 originally repayable in December 2021 is extended to be 

repayable in September 2022 with other terms remain unchanged.

At the end of the reporting period, the principal of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$12,231,000) (2020: RMB12,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,259,000)) and accrued interest 

receivable of approximately HK$647,000 (2020: approximately HK$53,000) were recognised as loans receivable 

under current assets. Loss allowance of approximately HK$2,552,000 (2020: HK$Nil)  in respect of this loan 

receivable has been recognised at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2020, loans receivable also included the remaining principal of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$23,764,000) and accrued interest receivable of approximately RMB222,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$264,000) of a loan granted to an independent third party borrower which was unsecured, interest-

bearing at 5% per annum and fully settled at maturity in January 2021.
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT FOR CONSTRUCTION

2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 60,821 77,657

Less: Loss allowance (15) (15)

(a) 60,806 77,642

Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary (b) 151,504 –

Earnest money paid for acquisition of intangible assets (c) 73,385 –

Prepayment for acquisition of machines (d) 84,179 –

Deposit paid for acquisition of investment property (e) 4,017 –

Other receivables, net of loss allowance 2,182 7,035

Prepayments and deposits (f) 253,949 11,723

Prepayment for construction (g) 1,104 38,158

631,126 134,558

Current portion 540,320 94,894

Non-Current portion 90,806 39,664

631,126 134,558

Notes:

(a) The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss allowance) by invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

0-30 days 21,238 15,096

31-60 days 16,921 16,376

61-90 days 6,329 17,873

Over 90 days 16,318 28,297

60,806 77,642



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

150 Yuxing InfoTech Investment Holdings Limited

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT FOR CONSTRUCTION 
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary comprised cash consideration of approximately US$19,424,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$151,504,000) and the fair value of contingent consideration of approximately HK$72,121,000 recognised as 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 21) receivable from an independent third party in respect of the disposal 

of the entire equity interest of Shanghai Indeed Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Indeed“), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 

of the Company. The cash consideration was payable within 5 business days after all inter-company balances in Shanghai Indeed 

and the Group being settled which was completed before 31 December 2021 and was fully settled in January 2022. Details of 

the disposal are disclosed in note 29.

(c) Earnest money of RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$73,385,000) was paid for the procurement of hash-rate 

capacity which was recognised as intangible assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021. The earnest money will be refunded 

to the Group upon settlement of the remaining outstanding payables for the procurement of hash-rate capacity (Note 27(c)(i)). 

Details of the procurement of hash-rate capacity are disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 14 May 2021, 31 May 

2021 and 2 June 2021 respectively.

(d) On 14 September 2021, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Rich Universe International Limited and Inno 

Century Limited, an independent third party, entered into a sales and purchase agreement for the purchase of cryptocurrency 

mining machines at a consideration of approximately HK$84,179,000. The machines will be held for own use and recognised 

as property, plant and equipment. As at 31 December 2021, consideration of approximately HK$84,179,000 was paid to Inno 

Century Limited and recognised as prepayment under non-current assets. Details of the acquisition of machines are disclosed in 

the Company’s announcement dated 14 September 2021.

(e) On 31 December 2021, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Tibetan Crane (Shenzhen) Investment Company 

Limited* (黑頸鶴(深圳)投資有限公司) and Chengdu Hong Sheng Property Technology Company Limited* (成都洪盛產城科技

有限公司), an independent third party, entered into a provisional agreement to acquire a property located in the PRC at a 

consideration of approximately RMB32,845,000. The property will be held to earn rental income or sell for a profit if considered 

appropriate. As at 31 December 2021, approximately RMB3,285,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,017,000) was paid to 

Chengdu Hong Sheng Property Technology Company Limited and recognised as prepayment under non-current assets. 

(f) As at 31 December 2021, a total sum of approximately RMB194,082,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$237,380,000) (2020: 

HK$Nil)  were paid to Zhongda Bocheng Energy Technology (Shenzhen) Limited* (中達博誠能源科技（深圳）有限公司) (“Zhongda 

Bocheng”), an independent third party as trading deposits for the purchase of cryptocurrency mining machines which will be 

held for trading purpose. On the other hand, RMB110,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$134,540,000) (2020: HK$Nil)  

were received from Zhongda Bocheng as a performance bond, which is not available to set-off against the trading deposits 

aforesaid and recognised as other payables (note 27 (c)(ii)).

(g) In relation to the construction of the Group’s IDC in the United States, the Group has entered into a holding escrow agreement 

with a bank in the United States and the construction company pursuant to which the Group agrees to maintain an amount of 

US$20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$156,000,000) or the amount due to the construction company, whichever is 

lower, in the escrow account.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group maintained approximately US$142,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,104,000) (2020: 

US$4,892,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$38,158,000)) in the escrow account.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (a) 31,053 47,240

Contract liabilities (b) 18,026 5,827

Other payables (c) 267,704 22,999

Accruals 20,373 65,781

337,156 141,847

Notes:

(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

0-30 days 16,603 12,450

31-60 days 3,187 2,294

61-90 days 10,136 18,969

Over 90 days 1,127 13,527

31,053 47,240

The payment terms with suppliers are generally 30 to 60 days (2020: 30 to 60 days) .

(b) The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract liabilities 

from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 5,827 3,739

Exchange realignment 19 41

Recognised as revenue (5,288) (2,549)

Receipt of advances or recognition of receivables 17,507 4,596

Released as other net income (39) –

As at 31 December 18,026 5,827

As at 31 December 2021, the contract liabilities that are expected to be settled after more than 12 months are HK$Nil (2020: HK$Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was negotiation of larger prepayments from the Group’s customers, thereby 

increasing the amount arising from the receipt of advances or recognition of receivables.

Unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations

All the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at 31 December 2021 (2020: all) are part of 

contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less. Given that the Group applies the practical expedient in 

paragraph 121(a) of HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these performance obligations is not disclosed.
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

(c) Included in other payables are the following balances:

(i) Outstanding payable of RMB82,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$97,041,000) (2020: HK$Nil) for the 

procurement of hash-rate capacity, which was recognised as intangible assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021. 

The outstanding payable, which is repayable within one year, is not available to set-off against the earnest money of 

RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$73,385,000) paid for the procurement of hash-rate capacity (note 26 

(c)).

(ii) A performance bond, which is repayable within one year, received from Zhongda Bocheng in relation to the purchase 

of cryptocurrency mining machines amounted to RMB110,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$134,540,000) 

(2020: HK$Nil) (note 26 (f)).

28. BANK AND OTHER LOANS

2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Current and secured

Bank loans with repayment on demand clause (a) 12,231 137,314

Term loans from banks with repayment on demand clause (a) 2,149 2,593

Current and unsecured

Other loan (b) 30,577 –

44,957 139,907

Analysis of the amounts due based 

 on scheduled payment dates set out in the loan 

 agreements (ignoring the effect of any repayment 

 on demand clause) is as follows:

On demand or within one year 43,264 137,758

After one but within two years 467 455

After two but within five years 459 835

After five years 767 859

44,957 139,907

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2021, the bank loans carried variable interest rates ranging from 2.45% to 4.50% (2020: 1.30% to 4.90%) 

per annum. The bank loans are secured by the assets of the Group as set out in note 35.

(b) Other loan represented a short-term loan from a related party, Amrtan Ocean Traditional Chinese Medicine Co. Ltd.* (甘露

海中醫有限公司) (“Amrtan Ocean”) with principal of RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$30,577,000) (2020: 

HK$Nil) which was unsecured, interest-bearing at 5% per annum and repayable on 31 March 2022. An Executive Director and a 

substantial shareholder of the Company, Mr. Cong Yu, is one of the directors and beneficial owner of Amrtan Ocean.
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29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Disposal of Shanghai Indeed

On 28 April 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with Empress Investments Pte. Ltd. (“Empress 

Investments”), an independent third party, to dispose of 100% of the equity interest of Shanghai Indeed, an 

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at an aggregate cash consideration of US$68,000,000 (subject 

to adjustments). The disposal was completed on 3 September 2021. Details are disclosed in the Company’s 

announcement dated 28 April 2021 and the circular dated 26 May 2021.

The assets and liabilities of Shanghai Indeed as at the date of disposal were as follows:

2021

HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:

 Investment properties 369,147

 Prepayment for construction 38,093

 Other receivables 235

 Cash and bank balances 125,244

 Other payables (5,480)

 Deferred tax liabilities (10,904)

516,335

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:

 Cash consideration received or receivable 443,229

 Contingent consideration receivable (note) 115,394

 Total consideration 558,623

 Net assets disposed of (516,335)

 Cumulative exchange gain in respect of the net assets of the subsidiary reclassified 

  from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of subsidiary 13,012

Gain on disposal 55,300
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29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) Disposal of Shanghai Indeed (Continued)

Analysis of net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash equivalents in respect of disposal of businesses during the year 

ended 31 December 2021:

2021

HK$’000

Cash consideration received 291,725

Cash and cash equivalents disposed (125,244)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents 166,481

Note:

The contingent consideration receivable represents 27.1951% of the consideration of US$68,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$530,400,000) after adjusting for the likelihood of the registration of and obtaining the relevant certificates 
for the reconstruction project of the land and property held by Shanghai Indeed and the obtaining of the renewed real property 
certificate from the relevant land authority in the PRC (the “Reconstruction Registration”) within 6 months after the date of 
the agreement. The contingent consideration will be transferred to the Group by Empress Investments within five business days 
after the receipt of written notice that the Reconstruction Registration is completed and the receipt of the relevant property 
certificates. If the Reconstruction Registration cannot be obtained before six months or eighteen months after the date of the 
agreement, Empress Investments will no longer be required to make the payment of the contingent consideration receivable.

The fair value of contingent consideration receivable is derived from the estimated cash consideration to be received by the 
Group, taken into account the weighted distribution of the possible outcomes (i.e. the likelihood of obtaining the Reconstruction 
Registration within six months after the date of the agreement) of 80%, estimated by the management of the Group with 
reference to the up-to-date progress of the Reconstruction Registration at date of disposal. Accordingly, the fair value of the 
contingent consideration receivable is estimated to be approximately HK$115,394,000, representing 80% of the contingent 
consideration at date of disposal.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, because of the delay in registration, the time requirement of the Reconstruction 
Registration was automatically extended to eighteen months after the date of the agreement. As at 31 December 2021, the 
Reconstruction Registration was not completed.

(b) Disposal of Shenzhen Shi Qian Hai Yi Zhang Wo Internet Technology Company Limited

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of the entire equity interests in a subsidiary in 

the PRC, Shenzhen Shi Qian Hai Yi Zhang Wo Internet Technology Company Limited* (深圳市前海易掌沃網絡科

技有限公司) through deregistration which was completed in June 2020.

2020

HK$’000

Net assets disposed of –

Reclassification adjustment from equity to profit or loss upon disposal:

 Translation reserves (1,015)

Gain on disposal 1,015

Consideration received or receivable –
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30. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN A SUBSIDIARY THAT DO NOT RESULT IN 
A LOSS OF CONTROL

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net consideration received – –

Disposal of interests in a subsidiary without loss of control 4,176 –

Difference recognised in equity 4,176 –

Disposal of interest in a subsidiary without loss of control

On 26 July 2021, the Group disposed of 10% equity interest out of the 100% interest held in China Hunter Limited 

at a consideration of US$10 (equivalent to approximately HK$78) to an independent third party of the Group. The 

carrying amount of the non-controlling interests in China Hunter Limited on the date of disposal was net liabilities 

of approximately HK$4,176,000. This resulted in a decrease in non-controlling interests and an increase in equity 

attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$4,176,000.

31. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of Shares Amount

2021 2020 2021 2020

’000 ’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

At beginning and end of the reporting period

 Ordinary Shares of HK$0.025 each 8,000,000 8,000,000 200,000 200,000

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning of the reporting period

 Ordinary Shares of HK$0.025 each 2,073,089 2,073,089 51,827 51,827

Issue of new Shares (Note 32(a)) 414,616 – 10,366 –

At end of the reporting period

 Ordinary Shares of HK$0.025 each 2,487,705 2,073,089 62,193 51,827
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32. RESERVES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Issue of new Shares

Pursuant to subscription agreements dated 30 December 2020, two subscribers which are existing shareholders of the Company 

subscribed 414,616,000 new Shares at a price of HK$0.20 per Share (“Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on 12 

January 2021 and the total proceeds of the Subscription amounted to approximately HK$82,924,000, of which approximately 

HK$10,366,000 was credited to share capital and the balance of approximately HK$72,558,000 was credited to the share 

premium account. These Shares rank pari passu with the existing Shares in all respects.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by Section 46(2) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(ii) Statutory reserves

Statutory reserves comprise statutory surplus reserves fund of the subsidiaries in the PRC and form part of shareholders’ 

fund. According to the articles of association of certain subsidiaries, the subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of 

the profit after tax to the statutory surplus reserves fund until the fund balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. 

The transfer to the funds must be made before distributing dividends to Shareholders.

(iii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries which were 

acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of Shares issued by the Company for each acquisition at the time of 

the Group reorganisation.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution. 

However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share 

capital and share premium account.

(iv) Share option reserves

The share option reserves comprise the fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share options 

granted to eligible participants of the Group recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for 

share-based payments.
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32. RESERVES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(v) Property revaluation reserves

The property revaluation reserves comprise the net changes in fair value arising on the revaluation of properties held 

for own use upon transfer to investment properties.

(vi) Translation reserves

The translation reserves comprise all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign operations.

(vii) Other reserves

The other reserves have been set up and dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for the changes 

in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control.

33. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities are as follows:

Bank and 

other loans

Lease 

liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 123,025 3,404

Additions – 9,880

Net cash flows 13,946 (4,809)

Exchange differences 1 190

Interest accrued 2,935 194

As at 31 December 2020 and as at 1 January 2021 139,907 8,859

Additions – 4,171

Lease modification – 5,677

Net cash flows (99,017) (8,259)

Exchange differences 772 59

Interest accrued 3,295 317

As at 31 December 2021 44,957 10,824
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Interests in subsidiaries 1,774,697 1,481,499

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 285,000

1,774,697 1,766,499

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, deposits paid and other receivables 396 466

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,950 9,909

Pledged bank deposits 28 54,624

Cash and bank balances 164,189 1,215

168,563 66,214

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables 5,885 4,502

Dividend payables 31 31

Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,419,728 1,280,674

1,425,644 1,285,207

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (1,257,081) (1,218,993)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 517,616 547,506

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Income tax payable 5,487 2,729

NET ASSETS 512,129 544,777

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 62,193 51,827

Reserves (a) 449,936 492,950

TOTAL EQUITY 512,129 544,777

This statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 22 March 2022 and signed 

on its behalf by:

Li Qiang Cong Yu

Director Director
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserves

Share 

premium

Contributed 

surplus

Share option 

reserves

Retained 

profits/

(Accumulated 

losses) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 32(b)(i)) (note 32(b)(iii)) (note 32(b)(iv))

As at 1 January 2020 207,499 380,621 60,582 (172,665) 476,037

Profit for the year – – – 16,913 16,913

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 16,913 16,913

Transactions with owners:

Contributions and distributions

 Share options lapsed – – (50,159) 50,159 –

Total transactions with owners – – (50,159) 50,159 –

As at 31 December 2020 and as at 1 January 2021 207,499 380,621 10,423 (105,593) 492,950

Loss for the year – – – (115,572) (115,572)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (115,572) (115,572)

Transactions with owners:

Contributions and distributions

 Issue of new Shares (note 32(a)) 72,558 – – – 72,558

 Share options lapsed – – (1,475) 1,475 –

Total transactions with owners 72,558 – (1,475) 1,475 72,558

As at 31 December 2021 280,057 380,621 8,948 (219,690) 449,936



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

161 2021 Annual Report

35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had pledged the following assets to secure the loan facilities:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Investment properties 70,682 71,780

(b) Leasehold improvements 77 93

(c) Right-of-use assets 70,695 73,746

(d) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,950 294,909

(e) Bank deposits 8,827 57,974

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed 

by the Shareholders at the special general meeting (“SGM”) on 14 January 2015 (the “Option Adoption Date”). The 

Share Option Scheme is valid for ten years from the Option Adoption Date and shall expire at the close of business on 

the day immediately preceding the 10 anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier by Shareholders in general meeting.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant share options to the selected eligible 

participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the growth and development of 

the Group.

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person belonging to any of the following categories of 

participants (the “Eligible Participants”) to take up share options to subscribe for the Shares:

Category A Eligible Participants

(a) any Director or proposed Director (whether executive or non-executive, including any independent non-executive 

director), employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part time) of any member of the Group or any 

substantial Shareholder or any company controlled by a substantial Shareholder; or

(b) any individual for the time being seconded to work for any member of the Group or any substantial Shareholder 

or any company controlled by a substantial Shareholder.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Category B Eligible Participants

Any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological support or any advisory, consultancy, 

professional or other services to any member of the Group and shall include any company controlled by one or more 

persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.

Options granted to the Eligible Participants are subject to vesting conditions. Options granted to an eligible participant 

who has joined the Group for more than three years are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 40%, 30% and 30% 

each per annum starting from the date of grant and will become fully vested on the third anniversary of the grant. 

Options granted to an eligible participant who has joined the Group for less than three years are subject to a vesting 

scale in tranches of 10%, 20%, 35% and 35% each per annum from the second to the fifth year after the grant and 

will become fully vested on the fifth anniversary of the grant.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all share options to be granted under the Share 

Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total 

issued share capital of the Company on the Option Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate”) unless the Company 

obtains an approval from the Shareholders to renew the 10% limit on the basis that the maximum number of Shares 

in respect of which share options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme together with any share options 

outstanding and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes shall not 

exceed 30% of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to time. At the SGM which was held on the 

Option Adoption Date, the Scheme Mandate was approved by the Shareholders and the total number of Shares that 

may be allotted and issued under the Share Option Scheme would be 179,211,680 Shares, representing 10% of the 

total number of Shares in issue as at the Option Adoption Date and 7.20% of the total number of Shares in issue as at 

the date of this report.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the share options granted under the Share 

Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company to any eligible participant (including cancelled, 

exercised and outstanding share options), in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the 

number of Shares in issue, without prior approval from the Shareholders. Any grant of a share option to a Director, chief 

executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder (or any of their respective associates) must be approved by the 

Independent Non-Executive Directors. Where any grant of share options to a substantial Shareholder or an Independent 

Non-Executive Director (or any of their respective associates) will result in the total number of Shares issued and to 

be issued upon the exercise of the share options already granted and to be granted to such person under the Share 

Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (including share options exercised, cancelled and 

outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant: (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of 

the Shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at each date of grant, in 

excess of HK$5,000,000, such further grant of share options is required to be approved by the Shareholders in general 

meeting.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Category B Eligible Participants (Continued)

An offer for the grant of share options must be accepted within 30 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was 

made. The amount payable by the grantee of a share option to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant 

of a share option is HK$1.0. A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme 

at any time during a period commencing on such date on or after the date on which the share option is granted as 

the Board may determine in granting the share options and expiring at the close of business on such date as the Board 

may determine in granting the share options but in any event shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant (which 

is the date of offer of grant if the offer for the grant of the share options is accepted). The exercise price of the share 

option is to be determined by the Board provided always that it shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price 

of the Shares on the date of offer of grant; and (ii) the average closing price of the Shares for the five business days 

immediately preceding the date of offer of grant, provided that the option price per Share shall in no event be less than 

the nominal amount of the Shares.

On 16 January 2015, the Company offered to grant 186 eligible participants to subscribe for a total of 107,527,008 

ordinary Shares of HK$0.025 each in the capital of the Company at an exercise price HK$2.2 per Share (the “2015 

Share Options”). The 2015 Share Options are exercisable up to five years from the date of grant. On 8 June 2016, 

the Company removed vesting period of all existing 2015 Share Options which were outstanding and unvested under 

the Share Option Scheme pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed by the Shareholders at a SGM and such 2015 

Share Options were therefore immediately vested with the consent of relevant 2015 Share Options holders. As a 

result, non-cash share-based compensation expenses in respect of all outstanding and unvested 2015 Share Options 

at the date of approval of removal of vesting period of the 2015 Share Options of approximately HK$7,564,000 was 

recognised as expense by the Group with the same amount credited to share option reserves under equity for the year 

ended 31 December 2016. For details of the amendment of the terms of the 2015 Share Options, please refer to the 

Company’s announcement dated 18 May 2016 and the circular dated 23 May 2016.

On 30 August 2019, the Company offered to grant 11 eligible participants to subscribe for a total of 100,000,000 

ordinary Shares of HK$0.025 each in the capital of the Company at an exercise price HK$0.33 per Share (the “2019 

Share Options”). The 2019 Share Options are exercisable up to three years from the date of grant. As there is no 

vesting condition for the 2019 Share Options, they were vested immediately at the date of grant. As a result, non-cash 

share-based compensation expenses in respect of all the 2019 Share Options of approximately HK$10,481,000 was 

recognised as expense by the Group with the same amount credited to share option reserves under equity for the 

year ended 31 December 2019. For details of the terms of the 2019 Share Options, please refer to the Company’s 

announcement dated 30 August 2019.

No share options were exercised and granted during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(a) Movements in share options outstanding:

Number of share options 

outstanding

2021 2020

At beginning of the reporting period 99,000,000 167,575,008

Lapsed during the year (14,000,000) (68,575,008)

At end of the reporting period 85,000,000 99,000,000

(b) Terms of vested and unexercised share options at the end of the reporting period:

Date of grant Exercisable period

Exercise price 

per Share

Number of share options

2021 2020

HK$

30.08.2019 30.08.2019-29.08.2022 0.33 85,000,000 99,000,000

85,000,000 99,000,000
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(c) Details of share options granted

Details of the movements of the 2015 and 2019 Share Options granted to subscribe for the Shares are as 

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Number of Shares issuable under the share options

Name of grantees

Date of 

grant

Exercise 

price 

per Share Exercisable period

Outstanding 

as at 

1 January 

2021

Granted 

during 

the year

Exercised 

during 

the year

Lapsed 

during 

the year

Outstanding 

as at

 31 December 

2021

HK$

2019 Share Options

Directors

Mr. Li Qiang 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

Mr. Gao Fei 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

Mr. Shi Guangrong 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 13,000,000 – – – 13,000,000

Mr. Zhu Jiang 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 13,000,000 – – – 13,000,000

Ms. Shen Yan 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

Ms. Dong Hairong 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

Continuous contract employees 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 47,000,000 – – (14,000,000) 33,000,000

Other eligible participants 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 19,000,000 – – – 19,000,000

99,000,000 – – (14,000,000) 85,000,000

Weighted average 

 exercise price (HK$) 0.33 – – 0.33 0.33
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(c) Details of share options granted (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Number of Shares issuable under the share options
 

Name of grantees

Date of 

grant

Exercise 

price 

per Share Exercisable period*

Outstanding 

as at 

1 January 

2020

Granted 

during 

the year

Exercised 

during 

the year

Lapsed 

during 

the year

Outstanding 

as at 

31 December 

2020

HK$

2015 Share Options

Directors

Mr. Shi Guangrong 16.01.2015 2.20 16.01.2015 – 15.01.2020 6,500,000 – – (6,500,000) –

Mr. Zhu Jiang 16.01.2015 2.20 16.01.2015 – 15.01.2020 7,000,000 – – (7,000,000) –

Ms. Shen Yan 16.01.2015 2.20 16.01.2015 – 15.01.2020 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000) –

Continuous contract employees 16.01.2015 2.20 16.01.2015 – 15.01.2020 38,570,776 – – (38,570,776)

Suppliers of goods or services 16.01.2015 2.20 16.01.2015 – 15.01.2020 920,000 – – (920,000) –

Other eligible participants 16.01.2015 2.20 16.01.2015 – 15.01.2020 13,584,232 – – (13,584,232) –

67,575,008 – – (67,575,008) –

2019 Share Options

Directors

Mr. Li Qiang 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

Mr. Gao Fei 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

Mr. Shi Guangrong 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 13,000,000 – – – 13,000,000

Mr. Zhu Jiang 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 13,000,000 – – – 13,000,000

Ms. Shen Yan 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

Ms. Dong Hairong 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

Continuous contract employees 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 47,000,000 – – – 47,000,000

Other eligible participants 30.08.2019 0.33 30.08.2019 – 29.08.2022 20,000,000 – – (1,000,000) 19,000,000

100,000,000 – – (1,000,000) 99,000,000

167,575,008 – – (68,575,008) 99,000,000

Weighted average exercise 

 price (HK$) 1.08 – – 2.17 0.33
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(c) Details of share options granted (Continued)

* The 2015 Share Options granted to the Directors, Chief Executive Officer, continuous contract employees, suppliers of 

goods or services and other eligible participants are subject to vesting conditions. However, the vesting period of all 

existing 2015 Share Options granted to the Directors, Chief Executive Officer, continuous contract employees, suppliers 

of goods or services and other eligible participants which were outstanding and unvested had been removed with the 

approval of the Shareholders at the SGM held on 8 June 2016.

Notes:

(i) The closing price of the Shares was HK$0.315 as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the trading day immediately before 

the date of grant of the 2019 Share Options.

(ii) 14,000,000 (2020: 68,575,008) share options were lapsed according to the terms of the Share Option Scheme during 

the year under review.

(iii) All the 2015 Share Options outstanding were lapsed on 16 January 2020.

(d) The non-cash share-based payment in respect of the 2019 Share Options for the year ended 31 December 2021 

was HK$Nil (2020: HK$Nil). The cost of share options granted is estimated on the date of the grant using the 

Binomial Model with the following parameters:

Date of grant 30 August 2019 16 January 2015

Number of Shares issuable under options granted 100,000,000 107,527,008

Exercise price HK$0.33 HK$2.20

Fair value at the date of grant HK$0.06 – HK$0.11 HK$0.72 – HK$0.75

Risk-free interest rate based on the yields of

 (a) the 5-year Exchange Fund Notes N/A 0.88%

 (b) the 6-month and 3-year Exchange Fund Notes 1.47% – 2.13% N/A

Expected volatility# 54% – 77% 46%

Expected dividend yield 0% 2.27%

Expected life 0.5 year to 3 years 3 years to 5 years

# The expected volatility of the underlying stock is assumed to be constant during the life of the share options. It was 

estimated with reference to the historical volatility in similar life of the share options.
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37. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF for all eligible employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF are held separately from 
those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs of 
each eligible employee to the MPF, subject to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month. Since 1 July 2017, the 
Group has made voluntary contributions to the MPF for executive Directors and senior management up to 5% of their 
relevant monthly income.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme 
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of their payroll 
costs to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The principal obligation of the Group with respect to the 
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified contributions. At the end of the reporting period, there was no 
forfeited contribution available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

The Group has made voluntary contributions to the 401(K) retirement plan for all eligible employees in the United States 
since 1 August 2020. The group contributes up to 6% of the relevant monthly income of each eligible employee to the 
plan. The assets of the pension fund are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately HK$4,659,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
approximately HK$829,000) represents contributions paid and payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the 
current year.

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Significant related party transactions

During the year, the Group had the following transactions with related parties: 

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Amrtan Ocean, a company which the Executive 
 Director and substantial shareholder of the Company, 
 Mr. Cong Yu, is one of its directors and beneficial owner
 – Loan advanced to the Group 30,577 –
 – Interest expenses 1,596 –
Mr. Zhu Weisha, a substantial shareholder of the Company
 – Consultancy fee expenses 2,464 –

(b) Key management compensation

The emoluments of the Directors and other members of key management during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries 8,684 6,150
Discretionary bonus 1,500 3,550
Housing and other allowances – 177
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 368 255

10,552 10,132
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/

kind of legal entity

Principal activities/

place of operation

Particulars of 

issued and 

paid-up capital

Interest 

held

Direct subsidiaries:

Billion State Limited British Virgin Islands (“BVI”)/

 limited liability company

Trustee/Hong Kong (“HK”) 100 ordinary shares 

 of US$1 each

100%

Cloud Rich Holdings Limited BVI/limited liability company Investment holding/HK 100 ordinary shares 

 of US$1 each

100%

Yuxing Group (International) Limited BVI/limited liability company Investment holding/the PRC and HK 2,000 ordinary shares 

 of US$1 each

100%

Wealthy Well Limited Cayman Islands/

 limited liability company

Investment/HK 100 ordinary shares 

 of US$1 each

100%

HyBroad Vision Holdings Limited HK/limited liability company Investment holding/HK 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100%

Noble Rich Investment Limited HK/limited liability company Investment holding/HK 100 ordinary shares 

 of HK$1 each

100%

Rich Universe International Limited HK/limited liability company Investment/HK 100 ordinary shares 

 of HK$1 each

100%

Full Profit Enterprises Limited BVI/limited liability 

 company

Investment/HK 100 ordinary shares of 

 US$1 each

100%

Grand Choice Developments Limited BVI/limited liability 

 company

Investment/HK 1 ordinary share of 

 US$1

100%

Indirect subsidiaries:

Harmony Wealthy 

 Investments Limited

BVI/limited liability 

 company

Investment/HK 1 ordinary share of 

 US$1

100%

Up Spacious Global 

 Investments Limited

BVI/limited liability 

 company

Trading of securities/HK 3 ordinary shares of 

 US$1 each

100%

Yield Lasting Investments Limited BVI/limited liability 

 company

Property holding/HK 1 ordinary share of 

 US$1

100%

Cloud Digit Investment LP BVI/limited partnership Investment/HK HK$60,000,000 100%
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Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation/

kind of legal entity

Principal activities/

place of operation

Particulars of 

issued and 

paid-up capital

Interest 

held

Indirect subsidiaries: (Continued)

RiCloud Corp. The United States/limited 
 liability company

IDC/the United States 100 common stock of 
 US$0.01

100%

Cloud Digital Co., Limited HK/limited liability company IDC/HK 100 ordinary shares of 
 HK$1 each

100%

HyBroad Vision (HK) 
 Technology Company 
 Limited

HK/limited liability 
 company

Trading and distribution of 
 IHA and electronic components/HK

10,000,000 
 ordinary shares of 
 HK$1 each

100%

Yuxing Technology 
 Company Limited

HK/limited liability 
 company

Trading and distribution of 
 IHA and electronic components 
 and investment holding/HK

2 ordinary shares of 
 HK$1 each

100%

Yuxin Asset Management 
 Company Limited

HK/limited liability 
 company

Asset management/HK 5,000,000 ordinary 
 shares of HK$1 each

51%

Beijing E’rich Investment 
 Management Co., Ltd*

The PRC/domestic wholly 
 owned enterprise

Investment consultancy/the PRC RMB8,000,000 100%

Beijing Yuxing Software 
 Company Limited*

The PRC/foreign wholly 
 owned enterprise

Research and development 
 (“R&D”) and software 
 design/the PRC

HK$15,000,000 100%

Guangdong HyBroad 
 Vision Electronics 
 Technology Company 
 Limited*

The PRC/domestic equity 
 joint venture

Manufacturing, distribution 
 and sales of IHA and R&D and 
 software design/the PRC

RMB90,000,000 100%

Zhongshan Hybroad 
 Vision Trading
 Company Limited*

The PRC/domestic wholly 
 owned enterprise

Trading and distribution of IHA 
 and electronic components/
 the PRC

RMB5,000,000 100%

Sheng Bang Qiang Dian Electronics 
 (Zhongshan) Company Limited*

The PRC/foreign wholly 
 owned enterprise

Property holding/the PRC RMB123,000,000 100%

Tibetan Crane (Shenzhen) 
 Investment Company Limited*

The PRC/domestic wholly 
 owned enterprise

Investment consultancy/the PRC RMB74,400,000 100%

Beijing 5th Forces Technology Ltd* The PRC/domestic wholly 
 owned enterprise

Technology development 
 and software design/the PRC

RMB3,043,680 100%

The above table contains only the particulars of subsidiaries of the Company which principally affected the results, 

assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive length.

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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40. CAPITAL COMMITMENT

On 31 December 2021, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Tibetan Crane (Shenzhen) Investment Company Limited* 

(黑頸鶴(深圳)投資有限公司) and Chengdu Hong Sheng Property Technology Company Limited* (成都洪盛產城科技有

限公司), an independent third party, entered into a provisional agreement to acquire a property located in the PRC 

at a consideration of approximately RMB32,845,000. Details of the agreement are disclosed in note 26(e). As at 31 

December 2021, approximately RMB3,285,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,017,000) was paid to Chengdu 

Hong Sheng Property Technology Company Limited and recognised as prepayment under non-current assets. As at 31 

December 2021, the Group had remaining capital commitment in respect of the aforesaid acquisition of approximately 

RMB29,561,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$36,156,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any capital commitments.

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Default of supplemental loan agreement

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had outstanding principal of RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$110,079,000) (2020: RMB90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$106,939,000))  and accrued interest 

receivable of approximately HK$11,497,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,495,000) from Beijing Aihuan Times Technology 

Limited* (北京愛換時代科技股份有限公司) (the “Borrower”), which were recognised as loans receivable under current 

assets. Details of the loan are disclosed in note 25(i). During the year, the Group entered into a supplemental loan 

agreement with the Borrower (the “Third Supplemental Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the loan to the Borrower 

was extended to be repayable in September 2022 and further secured by a corporate guarantee provided by the Third 

Guarantor and the collateral of the share charges of a company incorporated in the PRC which is 2.4987% owned by 

the Third Guarantor. Neither of the Conditions were completed by the Borrower. As such, the Third Supplemental Loan 

Agreement remains ineffective and the Borrower shall immediately repay the outstanding remaining loan and interest 

accrued thereon in a total of RMB99,100,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$119,821,000). 

On 10 February 2022, a demand letter was issued to the Borrower to demand for full repayment of the aforesaid 

outstanding balance. On 16 February 2022, the Borrower proposed a new repayment schedule of the outstanding loans 

and accrued interest thereon. As at the date of this report, no consent to the repayment schedule was reached by both 

parties. Details of the default event are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 11 February 2022.
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Location Usage Tenure

Attributable 

interest of 

the Group

Investment properties

Yuxing Industrial Park, 

 Yanjiang Road East, 

 Torch Development Zone, 

 Zhongshan, the PRC

An industrial complex for rental 

 and/or capital appreciation

Medium-term 100%

Land and Building

6580 Via Del Oro, San Jose, 

 California, the United States

Internet data centre Freehold interest 100%
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